International Geosciences Programme (IGCP) Project 503 Ordovician Palaeogeography and Palaeoclimate

554.7 0 69

ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI

N.V. Sennikov, E.A. Yolkin, Z.E. Petrunina, L.A. Gladkikh, O.T. Obut, N.G. Izokh, T.P. Kipriyanova N.V. Sennikov, E.A. Yolkin, Z.E. Petrunina, L.A. Gladkikh, O.T. Obut, N.G. Izokh, T.P. Kipriyanova

ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI

Edyted by N.V. Sennikov and A.V. Kanygin





Novosibirsk Publishing House of SB RAS 2008 УДК 551.7/8 ББК 26.33 С31

Sennikov N.V. Ordovician-Silurian Biostratigraphy and Paleogeography of the Gorny Altay /N.V. Sennikov, E.A. Yolkin, Z.E. Petrunina, L.A. Gladkikh, O.T. Obut, N.G. Izokh, T.P. Kipriyanova; Eds N.V. Sennikov, A.V. Kanygin; [Translated by T.N. Perepelova, O.T. Obut]; Trofimuk Institute of Petroleum Geology and Geophysics SB RAS. – Novosibirsk : Publishing House SB RAS. – 2008. – 156 p.

Сенников Н.В. Биостратиграфия и палеогеография ордовика и силура Горного Алтая / Н.В. Сенников, Е.А. Ёлкин, З.Е. Петрунина, Л.А. Гладких, О.Т. Обут, Н.Г. Изох, Т.П. Киприянова; Ред. Н.В. Сенников, А.В. Каныгин; [Перевод Т.Н. Перепеловой, О.Т. Обут]; Институт нефтегазовой геологии и геофизики им. А.А. Трофимука СО РАН. – Новосибирск: Издательство СО РАН. – 2008. – 156 с.

Organization



Doctor of Sciences in geology A.V. Dronov, Doctor of Sciences in biology S.V. Rozhnov

> © Коллектив авторов, 2008 © ИНГГ СО РАН, 2008

ISBN 978-5-7692-1003-7



This book is an expanded guidebook for a field excursion to the Ordovician-Silurian sections of the Gorny Altai being shown to participants in the International Symposium "Development of Early Paleozoic Biodiversity: Role of Biotic and Abiotic Factors, and Event Correlation", Moscow, 2008. The Symposium is another event in IGCP 503 "Ordovician Palaeogeography and Palaeoclimate" (2004-08) which follows the International Symposium "Palaeogeography and Global Correlation of Ordovician Events" held as part of the same project in 2006 in Novosibirsk, and the accompanying field excursion to the Cambrian-Ordovician section along the Kulyumbe River on the Siberian Platform organized by the Russian team (Palaeogeography..., 2006; Kanygin et al., 2006).

The present guidebook concerns Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphy, paleogeography, lithology, and facies in reference sections in the Gorny Altai, described bed-by-bed.

These data were previously published in part, mainly scattered through various books and papers. This book is a synthesis of present-day knowledge with revisions of the paleontology and age implications. Updating has become possible due to discoveries of graptolite and conodont assemblages of zonal significance; these are presented within the framework of modifications of the International Stratigraphic Chart brought about by introduction of new stages and new boundary definitions of stages, series, and systems. The book is based on abundant biostratigraphic and geological data accumulated over the past 25 years about Ordovician and Silurian deposition in the Gorny Altai. Publication of these data is a necessary step toward broad public discussion of new ideas, a prerequisite for updating the Gorny Altai Ordovician-Silurian stratigraphic charts. Such a discussion is urgent in the context of preparing a new Paleozoic stratigraphic chart of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	5
1. ORDOVICIAN AND SILURIAN STRATIGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI	6
1.1. Ordovician and Silurian regional stratigraphic units	7
1.1.1. Ordovician regional stratigraphic units	8
1.1.2. Silurian regional stratigraphic units	13
1.2. Local Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphic units of the Gorny Altai	15
1.2.1. Ordovician strata	15
1.2.1.1. Oceanic deposition	15
1.2.1.2. Shelf deposition	16
1.2.2. Silurian strata	20
2 PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE WESTERN ALTAI-SAYAN FOLDED AREA (ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN	
ALTAI-SALAIR BASIN)	21
2.1. Sedimentary typies and biota of the Altai-Salair Ordovician-Silurian basin	21
2.2. Key events in the evolution of the Western Altai-Salair Ordovician-Silurian basin (paleogeography	
and biota)	23
2.3. Paleogeographic reconstruction of the Ordovician-Silurian Altai-Salair basin	27
3. ORDOVICIAN AND SILURIAN REFERENCE SECTIONS IN THE GORNY ALTAI	33
3.1. Western Gorny Altai	33
3.1.1. Area of Ust'-Chagyrka Village	33
3.1.2. Area of Maralikha Village	47
3.1.3. Area of Bugryshikha Village	53
3.1.4. Area of Krasnoshchekovo Village	61
3.1.5. Area of Chineta Village	65
3.1.6. Area of Tigerek Village	79
3.2. Northwestern Gorny Altai	83
3.2.1. Area of Ust'-Muta Village	83
3.2.2. Area of Cherny Anui VIillage	99.
3.3. Central Gorny Altai	108
3.3.1. Area of Inya Village	108
3.3.2. Area of Bely Bom Village	127
3.3.3. Area of Bolshoi Yaloman Village	129
3.4. Northern Gorny Altai	133
3.4.1. Area of Kamlak Village	133
3.5. Northestern Gorny Altai	139
3.5.1. Area of Verkh-Biysk Village	139
3.5.2. Area of Tuloi Village	141
CONCLUSIONS	148
REFERENCES	149

INTRODUCTION

Ordovician and Silurian strata are widespread in four major tectonic units of Siberia: in the Altai-Sayan Folded Area, upon the Siberian Craton, in the Taimyr Peninsula, and in the basement of the West Siberian Plate.

The Gorny Altai highland lies in the western Altai-Sayan Folded Area (ASFA), a collage of terranes within the Central Asian orogen. The ASFA comprises several large geologic structures composed of Paleozoic (including Ordovician-Silurian) formations of differing origins. Additional to the Gorny Altai are the Rudny Altai, Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau, Kuznetsk Basin and Gornaya Shoriya in the west, and the Northern and Southern Minusa, West Sayan, and Tuva in the east (Fig. 1). The present tectonic framework of the ASFA (Dobretsov, 2003) has resulted from successive accretion of orogens of different ages to the Siberian craton.

The Ordovician and Silurian sedimentary patterns of the Gorny Altai (Figs 2, 3) consist mainly of rhythmic alternation of terrigenous and carbonate rocks with rare volcanic intercalations. The terrigenous sections occasionally contain limestone lenses. Biohermal carbonates are frequent, mostly as algal buildups. Various facies occur dispersed through the paleobasin; thicknesses vary greatly.

The Gorny Altai territory is completely covered by 1:200 000 geological surveys and much of it by 1:50 000 surveys undertaken during the past 60 to 65 years. Most of the surveys were fulfilled by people from the West Siberian Geological Surveys (currently the Zapsibgeolsyomka Prospecting Company). Large-scale (1:25 000, 1:10 000, 1:5 000) geological surveys for the reference localities of the Ordovician-Silurian rocks in the Gorny Atlai were carried out as special stratigraphic investigations by V.D. Ermikov,

L.A. Gladkikh, T.V. Khlebnikova, A.V. Krivchikov, S.A. Kuznetsov, A.N. Mamlin, Z.E. Petrunina, S.S. Podryadchikov, A.A. Puzyrev, N.V. Sennikov, S.P. Shokalsky, E.A. Yolkin, L.L. Zeyfert, V.A. Zybin.

Paleontological and stratigraphical data, analyzed in this monograph were collected during field studies over many years by A.A. Alekseenko, L.S. Bazarova, E.I. Bogashchenko, E.V. Bukolova, E.V. Buyanova, V.D. Ermikov, M.F. Gabova, L.A. Gladkikh, V.I. Ivlicheva, K. Iwata, N.G. Izokh, E.A. Kalinin, T.V. Khlebnikova, A.V. Krivchikov, N.P. Kulkov, M. Kunst, M.I. Mamlina, P. Mannik, O.T. Obut, E.E. Perfilev, Z.E. Petrunina, V.G. Russkikh, N.L. Rybkina, V.R. Savitsky, L.G. Severgina, N.V. Sennikov, E.A. Sharudo, P. Shtorch, Y. Sugai, L. Teller, G.N. Vorotilina, E.V. Yakovleva, E.A. Yolkin, and V.A. Zheltonogova.

Faunal remains included in the present monograph were identified as follows: trilobites – Z.E. Petrunina, E.A. Yolkin; graptolites – N.V. Sennikov, A.M. Obut, V.G. Russkikh, E.V. Bukolova; conodonts – T.A. Moskalenko, A.M. Vorozhbitov, N.G. Izokh, O.T. Obut, P. Mannik; ostracods – L.S. Bazarova, brachiopods – L.G. Severgina, N.P. Kulkov, Ya.M. Gutak,

Fig. 1. Russia with location of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area (ASFA) including Rudny Altai, Gorny Altai, Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau, Kuznetsk basin, Minusa, West Sayan, and Tuva.



ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI



Fig. 2. Sketch map of locations of the Altai-Salair Ordovician deposits with main structural-tectonic elements.



Fig. 3. Sketch map of locations of the Altai-Salair Silurian deposits with main structural-tectonic elements.

V.R. Savitsky; stromatoporoids – V.G. Khromykh; tabulate corals – L.V. Galenko; rugose corals – V.A. Zheltonogova; bryozoans – K.N. Volkova; crinoids – G.A. Stukalina, Yu.A. Dubatolova; gastropods – V.I. Bjalyi; radiolarians – O.T. Obut, K. Iwata; chitinozoans – A.M. Obut, N.M. Zaslavskaya, O.T. Obut.

Photographs illustrated sections and outcrops have been taken by N.V. Sennikov, P. Mannik, O.T. Obut and V.D. Ermikov.

1. ORDOVICIAN AND SILURIAN STRATIGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI

The Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphic charts of the Gorny Altai have been compiled through the past six decades by joint efforts of prospecting, academic, and educational institutions, namely, All-Russian Geological Institute (VSEGEI, St. Petersburg), Siberian Research Institute of Geology, Geophysics & Mineral Resources (SNIIGGiMS, Novosibirsk), Institute of Geology & Geophysics (currently Trofimuk Institute of Petroleum Geology and Geophysics, Novosibirsk), Zapsibgeologiya (Novokuznetsk), Zapsibgeolsyomka (Elan' Village), Tomsk and Novosibirsk State Universities, Tomsk Technological Institute (currently Tomsk Technological University), Kuzbass Pedagogical Institute (currently Kuzbass Pedagogical Academy, Novokuznetsk), and others.

Among researchers who played important role in the investigation of the Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai should be noted the following persons (in the alphabetic order): A.F. Abushik, O.N. Andreeva, B.N. Averyanov, D.P. Avrov, N.M. Bartseva, L.S. Bazarova, N.L. Bublichenko, V.D. Chekhovich, S.V. Cherepnina, Yu.A. Dubatolova, P.S. Dzubo, V.D. Ermikov, V.V. Fedyanov, L.V. Galenko, A.B. Gintsinger, L.A. Gladkikh, R.T. Gratsianova, Ya. M. Gutak, G.D. Isaev, A.B. Ivanovsky, N.G. Izokh, V.K. Khalfina, T.V. Khlebnikova, V.G. Khromykh, A.N. Kononov, V.I. Krasnov, A.V. Krivchikov, V.A. Krivchikov, A.V. Krivobodrova, N.P. Kulkov, V.A. Kuznetsov, E.S. Levitsky, V.N. Lyakhnitsky, A.N. Mamlin, E.A. Modzolevskaya, T.A. Moskalenko, V.P. Nekhoroshev, A.A. Nikonov, A.M. Obut, O.T. Obut, Yu.S. Perfilev, Z.E. Petrunina, S.S. Podryadchikov, E.N. Polenova, M.S. Potapova, A.A. Puzyrev, O.A. Rodina, S.A. Rodygin, M.F. Romanenko, A.V. Rozova, V.G. Russkikh, N.I. Savina, V.P. Savirsky, L.G. Severgina, V.M. Sennikov, N.V. Sennikov, G.A. Stukalina, V.I. Tikhonov, N.A. Usov, M.K. Vinkman, E.V. Vladimirovskaya, V.V. Volkov, K.N. Volkova, A.M. Vorozhbitov, I.A. Vyltsan, A.M. Yaroshinskaya. E.A. Yolkin, N.M. Zaslavskaya, L.L. Zeifert, V.A. Zheltonogova.

1.1. Ordovician and Silurian regional stratigraphic units

According to the usual practice in Russia, regional correlation follows chronostratigraphic subdivision into regional stages (called *horizons* in the Russian stratigraphic code). Regional stages comprise regionally spread coeval formations (or their parts) and correspond to stages of regional geological history, and especially to stages in the evolution of marine faunal groups. Regional stages are discussed and approved collectively for further use at special Russian Stratigraphic Workshops held every ten to fifteen years, or sometimes every five or seven years. The succession of regional stages, together with the respective subdivision of the International Stratigraphic Chart (Scale), make basis for correlation of local units (formations and groups) as part of regional charts and for inter-regional correlations.

There are three main steps in synthesis of stratigraphic and biostratigraphic data: (1) subdivision of local sections, (2) correlation of the sections (intra- and partly inter-regional correlations of composite sections from nearby regions), (3) age assignment (correlation among sections from geographically dispersed regions and global correlation, including correlation with the units in the International Stratigraphic Chart). The three objectives are performed with reference to different Ordovician-Silurian faunal groups.

The greatest part of local Ordovician and Silurian sections in the Gorny Altai are correlated mainly according to trilobites and brachiopods. These two groups of benthic organisms occur in diverse complexes of terrigenous, terrigenous-carbonate and purely carbonate compositions and, for this reason, are used in subdivision of local sections and in intra-regional correlation. Trilobites and brachiopods are also of broad use in correlation among sections from the nearby areas of Gorny Altai, Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau, Siberian Platform, Taimyr, Kazakhstan, and Urals.

Other communities besides trilobites and brachiopods used in subdivision of local sections are abundant tabulate and rugose corals, ostracods, fishes, bryozoans, crinoids, nautiloids, gastropods, radiolarians, and chitinozoans. In some cases they may be useful for intra- or, more rarely, inter-regional correlations.

Besides the local subdivision, the succession of trilobite and brachiopod assemblages is the key to Gorny Altai regional Ordovician-Silurian stages, and these, in turn, most often serve as ties in correlation among sections from proximal regions.

Succession of trilobite and graptolie assemblages is regarded as the base for the Altai Ordovician-Silurian regional stages (horizons) as well as a reliable key for the intra-regional correlation. Inter-regional correlation is usually fulfilled on the bases of regional stages (horizons).

Global correlation and dating of the deposits with respect to the International Stratigraphic Chart are made proceeding from pelagic faunas of graptolites and conodonts. Although these faunal groups are less abundant in the Ordovician-Silurian sections of the Gorny Altai than others.

The current Paleozoic stratigraphic charts for Central Siberia were approved at the USSR Workshops on Ordovician-Silurian Stratigraphy of 1956, 1964 and 1979 in Novosibirsk which were three milestones in the history of stratigraphic studies in the Gorny Altai and in the Altai-Sayan Folded Area as a whole. The workshops concerned with unification of regional stratigraphic charts as an outcome of years-long work; the charts were then considered by the USSR Interdepartmental Stratigraphic Committee and ratified to become official guidelines for further use in geological surveys.

The stratigraphic charts approved at the First Siberian Stratigraphic Workshop of 1956 came out as a separate publication in 1959 (Decisions..., 1959). Those approved at the Second Siberian Stratigraphic Workshop (two sessions in May 1964 and in February 1965) were published only as drafts in 1964 (Documents..., 1964; Correlation..., 1964) and then as a summary in the general Paleozoic chart (Stratigraphy..., 1967).

The work on the charts of 1959 and 1964 was run parallel with synthesizing the available data in a series of books *The Stratigraphy of the USSR*. The volume on the Silurian System came out in 1965 and included the Gorny Altai stratigraphic chart discussed at the Workshop of 1956 with respective later updating. Yet, the volume on the Ordovician System has never been published.

Until today, the Ordovician and Silurian charts for the Gorny Altai (and the whole western Altai-Sayan Folded Area), which were approved at the Stratigraphic Workshop of 1979 in Novosibirsk, ratified by the USSR Interdepartmental Stratigraphic Committee in 1982, and published in 1983 (Decisions..., 1983), have been in official use by geological surveys. The standard stratigraphic chart of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area (including Gorny Altai) comprises the regional stages (horizons) of Dobry, Tayanza, Lebed', Kostinsky, Bugryshikha, Savel'ev, Toga, Chakyr, Dietken, and Orlov in the Ordovician and the Chineta, Polaty, Chagyrka, and Kuimov, and also the Pridoli stage, in the Silurian (Decisions..., 1983).

Several workshops in 2005–2006 aimed at developing new Paleozoic stratigraphic charts of Siberia. Authors of present monograph, are charged with Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphy of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area. In the text

	IS	s		υĸ	Western part of ASFA
SYSTEM	SERIES	STAGE	"SUB- STAGE"	SERIES	STAGE
		HIRNANTIAN	Hi ₂ Hi,	SHGILL	TEKHTEN'
	PER	ATIAN	Ka₄ Ka₁ Ka₂	A	
7	ЧD	¥	Ka,	Ŋ	KHANKHARA
<		BIAN	Sa₂	RADO	
- 0		SAND	Sa,	CA	BUGRYSHIKHA
>		IILIAN	Da,	WIRN	Beertreniter
	ш	NR NR	Da ₂	ILLA	KOSTINSKY
	Ъ D	DAR	Da,		
		Z	Dp ₃		
	Σ	INGI/	Dp₂	υ	
		DAF	Dp,	REN	LEBED'
		z	FI ₃	₹	
		AI0	FI,		
	N E R	Ē	FI,		
	0	ģ	Tr ₃	oc	
		CIAN	Tr₂	EMAD	TAYANZA
		E	Tr,	R L	

Fig. 4. Alignment of regional stratigraphic chart for the Ordovician of the western part of the ASFA with the International Stratigraphic Scale.



Fig. 5. Alignment of regional and local stratigraphic charts for the Silurian of the Gorny Altai with the International Stratigraphic Scale.

below the provisional new Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphic charts of the Gorny Altai prepared for further consideration and approval are used.

In figures 4 and 5 the Ordovician and Silurian regional stages of the Gorny Altai are correlated to the units of the International Stratigraphic Chart (Scale) on the basis of the respective graptolite, conodont and chitinozoans zones (Figs 6, 7, 8, 9).

1.1.1. Ordovician regional stratigraphic units

Tayanza Regional Stage (Horizon) was defined by Z.E. Petrunina (Decisions..., 1983). It is aligned with whole Tremadocian Stage (Tr₁, Tr₂, Tr₃). It should be noted that the base of the horizon requires specification.

The Tayanza Horizon is subdivided into two subhorizons. Basic fauna for the both subhorizons are trilobites, for the Lower Tayanza Subhorizon - Apatokephalus bijanus Petrun., A. kamlakensis Petrun., Koldinioidia anossica Petrun., Kaltykelina altaica Petrun., Glaphurus kamlakianus Petrun., and for the Upper Tayanza Subhorizon – Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet., Kaltykelina gracilis Petrun., Apatokephalus ex gr. serratus (Sars), Conophris pusillina Polet., Rhadinopleura (Sibiriopleura) tajansensis Petrun., Glaphurus cf. coronatus Z. Max. Brachiopods Apheoorthis

	ISS				UK				
STEM	RIES	NGE	Time Slices	Time Slice Base	RIES	Γ	Gorn	y Alt	ai, 2008
SΥ	SEI	STP	(13)	A. ascensus zone (g)	SEF	L		Zon	е
		Z	Hi₂	End of HICE			pe	erscu	lptus
		NTI/		Normalographus		s	upernus	_	ornatus
-		HIRNA	Hi₁	extraordinarius zone (g)	SHGIL	F			linearis
1	с	-	Ka₄	Dicellograptus complanatus zone (g)	◄	q	uadrimu-		
	Ш Ц		Ka ₃	Amorphogn. ordovicicus zone (c)			onatus	uan Dan	0
	ЧР	ΥΥ Υ	Ka	Diplocanthograptus		L	_	C.	caudatus
		z		GSSP - Black Knob Ridge LISA	g	lm	ultidens.		vilsoni
A		DBIA	Sa₂	Climacograptus bicornis zone (g)	3AD(w	ilsoni	antio	peltifer, quus lineatus
- 0		SANI	Sa,	Nemagraptus gracilis zone (g)	CAF		gracil	s, se	rratulus
-		7		GSSP - Fågelsång, Sweeden	z		ter	etius	culus
>		ILIAI	Da₃	Pygodus serra zone (c)	N N		jakovl	evi,co	pelatus
0		M			TA		d	entat	US
	Ш	ARF		Didymograptus artus zone (g) Undulograptus			aust	rode	ntatus
2				austrodentatus zone (g)		Γ	0 5	sinoc	lentatus.
0	Σ	IAN		Uncograptus zone (g)			pun (ardi	ograptus
		UNG N		victoriae maximus zone (g)	0	L	<u>اتً</u> ca	duce	us imitatus
		DAF	Dp1	Baltoniodus triangularis zone (c)	Ž	L	g	ibber	ulus
÷		-	Fl₃	Didymograptus protobifidus zone (g)	ARI		angustifo t	olius proga	elongatus, eri
		A	Fl ₂	Oepikodus evae zone (c)			densus		densus
	æ	FLO	FI,	Tetragraptus approximatus zone (g)		F	app	roxin	balticus natus
	3		Tr	GSSP - Diabasbrottet, Sweden		E			
	LO		113	Poltoduo	ğ		osloens	is,hy	perboreus
		CIAR	Tr ₂	deltifer zone (c)	EMAI	F	tene	llus,	kiaeri
		TRI	Tr ₁	lapetognathus fluctivagus zone (c)	TRE	L			

Fig. 6. Time Slice Base International Stratigraphic Ordovician Scale and graptolite zones for the Gorny Altai (modified from Sennikov, 1996, with new additional data).

lineocosta Walcot, *Nanorthis schoriensis* Severg., *Notorthis algainensis* Severg., *Punctolira kondomiensis* Severg. are common for the whole horizon.

Conodonts of the transitional association characteristic for *Cordylodus lindströmi* and *Iapetognathus fluctivagus* zones are known from the Lower Tayanza Subhorizon, whereas the Upper Tayanza Subhorizon is characterized by graptolites of the *osloensis – ramosus* zone.

Lebed' Regional Stage (Horizon) was proposed by N.V. Sennikov (Decisions..., 1983). It is aligned with Floian (Fl₁, Fl₂, Fl₃), Dapingian (Dp₁, Dp₂, Dp₃) and with lower half of Lower Darriwilian (Da₁).

The Lebed' Horizon is subdivided into two subhorizons. The Lower Lebed' Subhorizon is dominated by trilobites Taidonurus asiaticus Petrun., Tersella strobilata Petrun., T. altaica Petrun., Pytine sibirica Petrun., Lapidoperia ?



Fig. 7. Ordovician conodont zones for the Gorny Altai (modified from Izokh et al., 2003).

ishpensis Petrun., Hypermecaspis lebediensis Petrun., Conophris tagasensis Petrun., Seleneceme improvisa Petrun., brachiopods Nanorthis gloriosus Severg., Diparelasma minuta Severg., Rhyselasma pusilla Severg., Akelina akelina Severg., and the Upper Lebed' Subhorizon – by brachiopods Archaeorthis sibirica Severg., Tritoechia orliniensis Severg., Orthis kozhuchiensis Severg., Hesperonomia ilovata Severg., H. paratylyensis Severg., Nanorthis multicostata Ulr. et Coop.

Basic fauna are graptolites of the *approximatus*, *densus*, *angustifolius elongatus*, *gibberulus* and *austrodentatushirundo* zones.

Kostinsky Regional Stage (Horizon) was defined by E.S. Levitsky (Levitsky, 1963; Severgina, 1973; Sennikov et al., 1982; Decisions..., 1983). It is aligned with the upper half of the Lower Darriwilian (Da₁) and Middle Darriwilian (Da₂).

The Kostinsky Horizon is characterized by trilobite fauna Megalaspides sibirica Petrun., Eorobergia compacta Petrun., Kolymella cf. plana (Tchug.), Eccoptochile tchagyrica Petrun., Ceraurinella cf. frequens Tchug., and brachiopods Idiostrophia costata Cooper, Chaganella sp., Hesperonomia tylyensis Severg., Hesperonomiella kuznetskiana Severg., Beloviella salairica Severg., Trondorthis sibirica Severg., Tr. talovskiensis Severg.

	ISS		UK	Chitinozoan zones		
SYSTEM	SERIES	STAGE	SERIES	Baltoscandia (Webby et al., 2004)	G	orny Altai Biozone
		VANTIAN	ורר	scabra/taugourdeaui	Comi	onochitina cracantha
	E R	AN HIRN	ASHG	gamachiana rugata		enochitina
		KATI		reticulifera angusta	da De	albyensis, smochitina
C I A N		SANDBIAN	CARADOC	Ancryochitina sp 1 <u>multiplex</u> cervicornis dalbyensis curvata stentor rhenana	le	ecantiella
	μE	ARRIWILIAN	LLANVIRN	striata clavaherculi sebyensis regnelli	onochitina I arvicolla	Cyathochitina callix
~		à		cucumis	Ŭ ä	
0	MIE	DAPINGIAN	RENIG	primitivo		
	/ER	FLOIAN	AF	primiova	Conoc	hitina raymondi
	ΓOW	TREMADO- CIAN	TREMADOC	destombesi		

Fig. 8. Ordovician chitinozoan biozones for the Gorny Altai (modified from Sennikov, Obut, 2003).

Graptolites of the *dentatus-kirgisicus* zone are known from the Kostinsky Horizon. Regional *dentatus-kirgisicus* zone is treated as analogue of the *artus* zone of the British zonal scale and the *dentatus* zone of the North-American zonal scale of the International Stratigraphic Scale, that coincides with lower 4b (= Da_2) and transitional 4a/4b (Da_1/Da_2) of the middle part of the Darriwilian Stage (Webby et al., 2004).

Conodonts of the *E. pseudoplanus* zone aligned with upper subzone of the *variabilis* zone from the North-Atlantic zonal scale of the International Stratigraphic Scale (ISS), that coincides with the upper part of $4a (= Da_1)$ and lower one third of $4b (= Da_2)$ of the middle part of the Darriwilian Stage (Viira et al., 2001; Webby et al., 2004) are recovered from this horison.

Bugryshikha Regional Stage (Horizon) was proposed by (Levitsky, 1963; Severgina, 1965, 1968, 1972, 1973; Gintsinger, V. Sennikov, 1967; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983). This horizon is aligned with upper Darriwilian (Da₃), lower Sandbian (Sa₁) and lower half of upper Sandbian (Sa₂).

The Bugryshikha Horizon is subdivided into three subhorizons. The Lower Bugryshikha Subhorizon is characterized by trilobite fauna *Eorobergia integra* Petrun., *Vogdesia? tuloica* Petrun., *Remopleuridiella altaiensis* Petrun.,

IS	S	West Wales [Loydell, 1992]		G	orny Altai
Series	Stage	Zone			Zone
		insectus	inse	ectus	;
1		grandis			grandis
		spiralis		-11-	granus
Ľ.,	E	crenulata	spir	ans	griestononsis
>	chia	griestonensis			gnestonensis
	Tely	crispus		cris	spus
_		turriculatus	snn	tur	riculatus
Û		quorichi	exig	gue	erichi, linnaei
>		guencin			tuvaensis
o		halli	hall	i	
σ		sedgwicki	sec	lgwid	ki
⊆	onian	convolutus	con max	volu kicul	tus, cometa, us
σ	Aero	argenteus			
-		magnus	gre tria	garii ngul	us, atus
		triangulatus		-	
	5	cyphus	сур	hus,	sandersoni
	lania	acinaces	ext	enua	tus, sibiricus,
	ppnu	atavus	ang	justu	S
	Ŗ	acuminatus	аси	imina	atus, ascensus

Fig. 9. Silurian graptolite zones for the Gorny Altai (modified from Sennikov, 1996).

Levirobergia oirotica Petrun., and brachiopods Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Idiostrophia tuloviensis Severg. The Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon is characterized by trilobites Pliomerellus latus Petrun., Raymondaspis altaicus Petrun., Robergiella margofera Petrun., Cnemidopyge tuloica Petrun., Atractopyge sibirica Petrun., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun., and brachiopods Glyptorthis primus Severg., Parastrophina bilobata Cooper, Beloviella bugryshichiensis Severg. Severg., Christiania aff. subquadrata Cooper, Glyptomena karasuensis Severg.

The lower half of the Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon is dominated by trilobites *Homotelus angustus* Petrun., Lonchodomas (Foliopyge) levis Petrun., Ampyxella (Belaxella) infermicostata Petrun., Nileus tengriensis Web., Telephinamobergi (Hadd.), and the upper half of the Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon – by trilobites Cybelurus planifrons Weber, Raymondella bugryshichiensis Petrun. On a whole brachiopods Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Leptellina tennessensis Cooper, Hesperorthis markovae Rozman are distributed in the Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon.

Graptolites of the *jakovlevi-coelatus, teretiusculus, gracilis-serratulus, multidens* (subzone of *antiquus lineatus- peltifer* and lower part of subzone *wilsoni*) zones are typical for the Bugryshikha Horizon.

Khankhara Regional Stage (Horizon) is newly proposed in present monograph. It could be aligned with upper half of upper Sandbian (Sa₂) and lower Katian (Ka₁).

The Khankhara Horizon is subdivided into three subhorizons. Trilobites Chasmopsellaunica Petrun., Bronteopsis gregaria Raum., Jaboganellus gornoaltaicus Petrun., Otarionelliana koksoriana Korol., Eorobergia lebediensis Petrun., and brachiopods Onniella chancharica Severg., Plectocamara uscuchiensis Severg., Fascifera buraensis Severg., Bimuria bugryshichiensis Severg., Multicostella (Chaulistomella) inaequistriata Cooper, Eoanostrophia lebediensis (Severg.) are typical for the Lower Khankhara Subhorizon.

Trilobites Ceraurinus icarus (Bill.), Calyptaulax bellatulus Petrun., Paracybeloides loveni (Linrs.), and brachiopods Boreadorthis togaensis Severg., Multicostella (Chaulistomella) amzassensis Severg., Strophomena lebediensis Severg., Rostricellula ainsliei amzassica Severg., Togaella grandis Severg. are typical for the Middle Khankhara Subhorizon.

Trilobites Holotrachellus punctillosus Torng., Illaenus oviformis Warb., Il. cf. septentrigonalis Tchug., Amphilichas sniatkovi Weber, Brontocephalina nuda (Ang.), Isocolus sjogreni Ang., Chasmops salairicus Petrun., Eucrinuroides bobroviensis Petrun., and brachiopods Eospirigerina sublevis Severg., Austinella lebediensis Severg., Salopina uxunaica (Severg.), Glyptorthis praepulchra Severg., Gl. balclatchiensis (Dav.), Hesperorthis lebediensis Severg., Dulankarella magna Ruk., Salairella salairica (Severg.) are typical for the Upper Khankhara Subhorizon.

The following graptolite zones are distinguished for the Khankhara Horizon: upper part of *multidens-wilsoni*, *bicornis*, *clingani-caudatus* and *linearis*.

Tekhten' Regional Stage (Horizon) was proposed by N.V. Sennikov, Z.E. Petrunina and L.A. Gladkikh (Sennikov et al., 2001a). It is aligned with middle (Ka., Ka.) and upper (Ka.) Katian, as well as with lower Hirnantian (Hi.).

The Tekhten' Horizon is subdivided into three subhorizons. The Lower Tekhten' Subhorizon is characterized by brachiopods *Eospirigerina orloviensis* (Severg.), *Oxoplecia platystrophoides* Cooper, *Salairella inensis* Severg., *Catazyga anuensis* Severg., *Eridorthis subinexpecta digna* Severg., *Schizophorella fallax* Salter.

Trilobites Stenoblepharum warburgae (Prib.) and brachiopods Giraldibella vulgaris (Severg.), Thebesia thebesensis Amsden, Diambonia septata (Cooper) are typical for the Middle Tekhten' Subhorizon. The Upper Tekhten' Subhorizon is characterized by trilobites Mucronaspis mucronata (Brongniart) and brachiopods Dalmanella testudinaria (Dalm.), Alispira praegracilis Severg., Streptis altosinuata (Holt.), Hirnantia aff. noixella Amsden, Brevilamnulella gromotuchaensis Severg.

Tekhten' Horizon is characterised by graptolites of the *linearis, supernus, ornatus, persculptus* zones and by conodonts of *ordovicicus* zone.

Listvyanka Regional stage (Horizon) is newly proposed in present monograph. It is aligned with uppermost upper Hirnantian (Hi_{2}).

Graptolites of the *persculptus* zone are common for the Listvyanka Horizon. Along with graptolites chitinozoans *Conochitina microcantha* Eisenack have been recovered. Lack of other fauna at this stratigraphic level on the Gorny Altai.

1.1.2. Silurian regional stratigraphic units

Vtorye Utyosy Regional Stage (Horizon) is newly proposed in present monograph. It is aligned with Rhuddanian and lower part of Aeronian.

Trilobites *Stenopareia glochin* How., *St. acymata* How., *Calymene ubquitosus* How., *Warburgella altaica* Yolk., *W. calvata* Yolk. are typical for the Vtorye Utyosy Horizon.

Found graptolites belong to acuminatus-ascensus, angustus-sibiricus, triangulatus-gregarius and convolutuscometa zones.

Syrovaty Regional Stage (Horizon) is newly proposed in present monograph. It is aligned with upper part of Aeronian and lower part of Telychian.

Characteristic fauna are brachiopods Aegiria grayi (Dav.), Eoplectodonta cf. penkillensis (Reed), Protatrypa thorslundi Bouc. et John., Dalmanella cf. neocrassa Nikif., Eospirifer tuvaensis Tchern.

Graptolites of the *sedgwicki*, *halli*, *guerichi* (including lower subzone *tuvaensis*), *turriculatus* and lower part of *griestonensis* zone have been recovered.

Polaty Regional Stage (Horizon) was defined by a group of authors (Decisions..., 1983). It is aligned with upper part of Telychian.

Trilobites Warburgella kolobovae Yolk., W. insperata Yolk., Podowrinella straitonensis Lamont. and brachiopods Pentameroides exactus Kulk., Parastrophinella altaica Kulk., Pentamerus kamyschenskiensis Kulk., Nalivkinia grunewaldtiaeformis (Peetz), Tuvaella rackovskii Tchern., Stegerhynchus angaciensis Tchern., Atrypa ex gr. orbicularis (Sow.) are typical for the Polaty Horizon.

Graptolites of griestonensis zone and conodonts of the celloni zone are known.

Chesnokovka Regional Stage (Horizon) is newly proposed in present monograph. It is assigned to uppermost Telychian and Sheinwoodian. Precise alignment of the Chesnokovka Horizon upper boundary with the Sheinwoodian upper boundary requires further investigation.

Chesnokovka Horizon is dominated by trilobites Warburgella obscura Yolk., Bumastus barriensis Murch., Sphaerexochus ex gr. mirus Beyr. and brachiopods Resserella canalis (Sow.), Eoplectodonta minuta (Kulk.), Ferganella borealis (Schloth.), Eospirifer radiatus (Sow.), Spirigerina brownsportensis (Amsden).

	shelf	ai	CHEBOR FM.		GUR'YANOVKA	FM.	KARASU FM.			TULOY FM.		ISHPA FM.
	Inner s	AIt		KHTA FM.	KHARA M.						IK EW.	KAMLA
				BULUK	KHAN						.MA AY	'AIAÐA
genesis	Outer shelf	Salair					ZAICHIKHA FM.			IZYRAK FM.		CHUPINO FM.
Shelf	Slope Carbonate facies platform	Altai	RIGENOUS- RIGENOUS		KHANKHARA FM.	MA AHNIHSVASII B			VOSKRESENKA	-w.		
	arc	Salair		VEBER FM.			KARASTUN FM.			ILOVATYI FM.	KRASNOE EL'TSOV- FM.	TOLSTOCHIKHA FM.
	Volcanic	Kuznetsky Alatau	6		TOGA FM.			BUKHTA FM.	VASIL'EVKA FM.	ALZASS FM.	TAIMEN' ER. FM.	KITAT FM.
Oceasnic //	genesis	Altai								WARCHETAFM.		
	BGE	LS	-NANAIH NAIT	NA	ШАЯ	-dnaz Naia	I BIMI-	AAG AAIJ	DAPIN- DAPIN-	NAIOJĘ	NAIDO	ОАМЭЯТ
	AGE	LS	NGILLIAN	ISA	OCIAN	CARAD	NAMEN			ARENIG		DAMART
	SIR	12		d: N		1	<u>с</u>			K D	0	

Fig. 10. Intra-regional stratigraphic chart for the Ordovician of the Gorny Altai.

ORDOVICIAN PALAEOGEOGRAPHY AND PALAEOCLIMATE

Graptolites of the *spiralis-grandis* and *insectus-centrifugus* zones have been found from the Chesnokovka Horizon. From the upper part of the horizon transitional forms of graptolites *Monograptus priodon* (Bronn) – *Monograptus flemingi* Salter have been collected in Salair. The latter taxa (*Mon. flemingi* Salter) is characteristic for the uppermost Sheinwoodian graptolite zone – *rigidus*, as well as for the lowermost Homerian *lundgreni* zone.

Chagyrka Regional Stage (Horizon) was defined by V.A. Zheltonogova, V.A. Zinchenko, G.S. Kharin (Vladimirskaya, Zheltonogova, 1967; Startigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983). It is aligned with Homerian. Proper position of the Chagyrka Horizon lower boundary in relation to Sheinwoodian / Homerian boundary requires additional investigation.

Chagyrka Horizon is dominated by trilobites Warburgella obscura Yolk., W. verecunda Yolk., Bumastus barriensis Murch., Sphaerexochus mirus Beyr., Cheirurus beyrichi Barr. and brachiopods Trimerella acuminata Bill., Resserella canalis (Sow.), Harpidium insigne Kirk., Cymbidium perpolitus Kulk., Gypidula optima Kulk., Cliftonia colibri (Barr.), Eoplectodonta minuta (Kulk.), Ferganella borealis (Schloth.), Ancillotoechia subminerva Kulk., Atrypella linguata (Buch.), At. minuta Kulk., Eospirifer radiatus (Barr.), Cyrtia exporrecta (Whal.), Antirhynchonella exista (Kulk.).

Kuimov Regional Stage (Horizon) was proposed by N.P. Kulkov and A.B. Ivanovsky (Ivanovsky, Kulkov, 1974; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991). It is aligned with Gorstian and Ludfordian. Proper position of the Kuimov Horizon lower boundary with the Gorstian lower boundary requires additional investigation.

Trilobites Warburgella obscura Yolk., W. verecunda Yolk., W. stokesii (Murch.), and brachiopods Conchidium biloculare (His.), Atrypella operosa Kulk., Harpidium insigne Kirk, Morinorhynchus williamsi (Kulk.), Ferganella borealis (Schloth.), Howellella elegans (M.-Wood), H. complicata Kulk., Didymothyris didyma (Dalm.), Tannuspirifer posterus Kulk. are common for the Kuimov Formation.

The discovered conodonts (Kuimov Formation, Pautikha section) point to O. snajdri conodont zone, upper part of Ludfordian.

Cherny Anui Regional Stage (Horizon) was distinguished by N.P. Kulkov (Stratigraphic..., 1991). It is aligned with whole Pridolian Stage. Precise alignment of the Cherny Anui lower boundary with lower boundary of Pridolian, and the upper part of this straton with upper Silurian boundary requires further additional investigations, that should be on search of conodonts.

The Cherny Anui Horizon is subdivided into two subhorisons. For the Lower Cherny Anui Subhorizon brachiopods Atrypella operosa Kulk., Lamelliconchidium tschergense Kulk., Ferganella borealis (Schloth.), Howellella elegans (M.-Wood), H. complicata Kulk., Didymothyris didyma (Dalm.), Tannuspirifer posterus Kulk. are typical.

Trilobites Warburgella waigatschensis (Tschern. et Yak.), and brachiopods Anastrophia praemagnifica Kulk., Alaskaspira aff. dunbari Kirk et Amsd., Didymothyris didyma (Dalm.), Howellella cf. elegans (M.-Wood), Machaeraria nymphaeformis (Nikif.), Pseudocamarotoechia nuculaeformis Kulk., Atrypella columbella (Barr.), Tannuspirifer kolpakensis Kulk. are characteristic for the Upper Cherny Anui Subhorizon.

Figures 10 and 5 present intra-regional correlation charts of local Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphic units of the Gorny Altai based mainly on synthetic trilobite and brachiopod data.

1.2. Local Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphic units of the Gorny Altai

1.2.1. Ordovician strata

Ordovician strata in the Gorny Altai occur in two genetically different types of sections that record oceanic and shelf deposition.

1.2.1.1. Oceanic deposition

Oceanic Ordovician sections are known in the western and northwestern Gorny Altai and consist of the following units.

Zasur'ya Group

The Zasur'ya stratigraphic unit was first distinguished as a formation by O.P. Goryainova in 1956 (unpublished evidence). V.I. Tikhonov (1956) in his publication referred to Goryainova's definition but applied the name Zasur'ya to the lower subformation of a variegated formation in the western Gorny Altai. The Zasur'ya unit has no stratotype section and its typical locality is in the area northwest of Krasnoshchekovo Village on the right bank of the Charysh

River, in the catchments of the Zasur'ya, Molchanikha, and Berezovy brooks. Sennikov et al. (2001b, 2003) suggested to distinguish the Zasur'ya unit as a group divided into three formations.

According to the present knowledge, the lithology of the Zasur'ya Group consists of clayey-siliceous schists, jade, chert, mudstone, siltstone, sandstone, tuffaceous sandstone, tuff breccia, and gabbro, gabbro-diabase and diabase dikes, and mafic volcanics. According to the chemistry of basalts, the group was deposited in an ocean (Iwata et al., 1997; Buslov et al., 1999, 2000; Sennikov et al., 2003). Variolite pillow lavas, aphyre or less often plagioclase-pyroxene and pyroxene-plagioclase porphyry basalts and scarce andesites are of low-K oceanic tholeiite affinity and can be classified as mid-ocean ridge (MORB) or ocean-island (OIB) basalts. Basalts are quite rare in the sections of the Zasur'ya Group and are 1 to 10 m thick or thicker layers.

Conodont assemblages in the Zasur'ya Group are localized at two intervals of (i) Late Cambrian (Aksai Stage - Early Batyrbai Substage) and (ii) Early Ordovician (Late Tremadocian Substage – Floian Stage). No transitional Batyrbai-Tremadocian conodont zones in the group have been found so far. All conodonts were extracted by acid dissolution from chert, siliceous mudstone, and other siliceous rocks. The absence of conodont findings from the Cambrian-Ordovician boundary strata in the Zasur'ya Group is implicit evidence that a large part of the sections lack siliceous rocks. This hypothesis is supported by the stacking pattern of the Zasur'ya sections along the Talitsa River where the group shows distinct division into three units, with a purely terrigenous middle unit (the Talitsa Formation) characterized by absence of siliceous sediments.

Listvenny Formation

The Listvenny Formation, 200 to 300 m thick, is the lowermost unit in the Zasur'ya Group (Sennikov et al., 2001b, 2003). Its stratotype section occurs in the Listvenny Brook -Talitsa River divide in the western Gorny Altai. The Listvenny Formation contains, in all its sections, red or more rarely gray siliceous rocks, often with volcanic intercalations, among red and gray terrigenous members. The formation yielded conodonts, radiolarians, and siliceous sponge spicules. The conodont age of the Listvenny Formation is defined at five stratigraphic intervals corresponding to the conodont zones: (1) Aksai age, *W. matsushitai* zone, (2) Aksai age, *M. erectus* zone, (3) earliest Batyrbai age, *P. muelleri* zone, (4) Batyrbai age, *E. notchpeakensis* zone, (5) middle Batyrbai age, *C. minutus* zone. Relationships of the Listvenny Formation with the underlying rocks remain unknown. The formation is conformably overlain by the Talitsa Formation.

Talitsa Formation

The 400-450 m thick Talitsa Formation, the middle unit of the Zasur'ya Group, consists of gray (or less often variegated) terrigenous rocks. Its stratotype is located in the middle reaches of the Talitsa River (right tributary of the Charysh River) in the western Gorny Altai (Sennikov et al, 2001b, 2003). The recovered faunal groups include radiolarians and siliceous sponge spicules. The Talitsa Formation conformably oversteps the Listvenny Formation and is conformably (?) overlain by the Marcheta Formation.

Marcheta Formation

The Marcheta Formation, the upper unit of the Zasur'ya Group, varying in thickness from 600 to 950 m, is composed of alternating red and gray terrigenous and siliceous rocks. The stratotype of the formation was distinguished as two composite sections along the Marcheta River, the left tributary of the Muta River in the northwestern Gorny Altai (Sennikov et al., 2001b, 2003). No reliably proven basalts have been found so far in the paleontologically constrained sections of the Marcheta Formation. The Marcheta rocks include scarce layers of tuff and tuffaceous sandstone. The formation contains conodonts, radiolarians, and siliceous sponge spicules. The conodont age of the Marcheta Formation of the Zasur'ya Group is defined at three stratigraphic intervals corresponding to the conodont zones: (1) Tremadocian-Floian boundary strata, *P. proteus* zone, (2) upper part of the Floian, *P. elegans* zone, and (3) Middle Floian, *O. evae* zone. The Marcheta Formation conformably (?) overlies the Talitsa Formation. The relationship of the formation with the overlying strata remains uncertain.

1.2.1.2. Shelf deposition

Ordovician shelf deposition in the Gorny Altai is known in the western, northwestern, central, northern, northeastern, and eastern parts of the area. There are three main local Ordovician successions that were deposited in different environments of a single basin. **Succession 1** includes the Voskresenka, Bugryshikha, Khankhara, and Tekhten' formations, and the basal layers of the lower Vtorye Utyosy Formation found in the western, northwestern, and central Gorny Altai. The deposition occurred far offshore on a relatively deep outer shelf and on a shallow-marine carbonate platform along the shelf edge at the foot of the continental slope.

Voskresenka Formation

The Voskresenka Formation occupies the western and central parts of the Gorny Altai (Sennikov et al., 1979, 1982; Ermikov et al., 1979; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991, Yolkin et al., 2001). Its stratotype section, about 300 m thick, has been documented in the western Gorny Altai at the Barany - Voskresenka brooks divide (left tributaries of the Charysh River) near Ust'-Chagyrka Village. The Voskresenka Formation, 285 to 900 m thick, consists of sandstone, siltstone, mudstone, less often conglomerate and limestone. The rocks contain trilobites, brachiopods, crinoids, gastropods, graptolites, and conodonts. Graptolites include zonal assemblages of the *approximatus, densus, gibberulus, austrodentatus-hirundo*, and *dentatus-kirgisicus* zones (Petrunina et al., 1984; Sennikov, 1996). The *E. pseudoplanus* conodont zone in the upper part of the Voskresenka Formation (Kostinsky Beds) correlates with the upper subzone of the *variabilis* zone in the North Atlantic standard of the ISS: upper part 4a (=Da₁) and lower one third 4b (=Da₂) of the lower and middle Darriwilian (Webby et al., 2004). The formation unconformably overlain different Cambrian units and is conformably overlaid by the Bugryshikha Formation. The Voskresenka Formation is aligned with the Floian, Dapingian, and lower and middle Darriwilian.

Bugryshikha Formation

The Bugryshikha Formation varies in thickness from 140 m to 1600 m and occurs in the Charysh-Inya and Anui-Chuya areas of the Gorny Altai near Bugryshikha Village. The formation was first distinguished as an unnamed unit by A.A. Nikonov (Nikonov, 1931; Usov, 1936; Stratigraphic..., 1956, 1975; Perfiliev, 1959; Sennikov et al., 1959; Decisions..., 1959, 1983; Petrunina, Severgina, 1962; Yolkin et al., 2001); V.A. Kuznetsov (1948) coined the name Bugryshikha Formation. The stratotype of the formation is a composite section near Bugryshikha Village along the Bolshaya and Malaya Uskuchevka rivers, the right tributaries of the Belaya River. The lower part of the formation crops out along the Bugryshikha River (the Belaya left tributary) where it is exposed overlying unconformably variegated terrigenous rocks of the Suetka Formation of the Gorny Altai Group. The Bugryshikha Formation is composed of sandstone, siltstone, or more rarely mudstone and conglomerate. The Bugryshikha strata bear trilobites, brachiopods, and graptolites. The section spans the graptolite zones: *jakovlevi-coelatus, teretiusculus, gracilis-serratulus,* and *multidens (antiquus lineatus-peltifer* and lower *wilsoni* subzones). The Bugryshikha Formation conformably overlain the Voskresenka Formation and underlain the Khankhara Formation. It corresponds to upper half of the Darriwilian and the Sandbian.

Khankhara Formation

The Khankhara Formation, with a variable thickness of 60 to 800 m, is found in the western, northwestern, northern and central Gorny Altai. It was distinguished in 1929 by A.A. Nikonov (Usov, 1936; Stratigraphic..., 1956; 1975; Tikhonov, 1956; Sennikov et al., 1959; Decisions..., 1959, 1983; Yolkin et al., 2001). Its stratotype section has been designated on the left bank of the lower Malaya Khankhara River near Chineta Village, and a section on the right bank of the Malaya Uskuchevka River near Bugryshikha Village is its hypostratotype. The Khankhara Formation consists of sandstone, calcareous-argillaceous siltstone, and mudstone with limestone and marl interbeds. The base of the formation is a prominent lithological marker being composed of gray sandy and clayey limestone or often oolitic limestone occasionally grading into limestone conglomerate. The fauna found in the Khankhara section includes tabulate corals, gastropods, crinoids, trilobites, brachiopods, and graptolites.

The graptolite zonation includes the upper *multidens-wilsoni* and *bicornis, clingani-caudatus* and *linearis* zones.

The formation rests conformably upon the Middle Ordovician Bugryshikha Formation and is gradually overlain by the uppermost Ordovician Tekhten' Formation. The Khankhara Formation correlates with the upper Sandbian and the lower half of the Katian.

Tekhten' Formation

The Tekhten' Formation, from 115 m to 700 m thick, occurs in the western, northwestern, and central Gorny Altai. It was distinguished (Sennikov et al., 2001; Yolkin et al., 2001) in Upper Ordovician strata which make up a single complex of carbonate-terrigenous rocks standing out against the strata above and below. The carbonates are most often of reef origin. Terrigenous rocks are found on the periphery of reefal carbonates, where they replace the flanks of the

ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN	BIOSTRATIGRAPHY	AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY	OF THE GORNY ALTAI



latter along the strike, as well as inside the carbonate bodies. Reef frameworks are present in different strata but most often are found in the lower and upper parts of the section. Limestones locally predominate throughout the formation thickness (invalid Orlov Formation) or are restricted mainly to the lower layers (invalid Chakyr Formation) while the upper section consists of terrigenous sediments with thin limestone layers (invalid Diekten Formation). In many sections the carbonate-terrigenous proportions are intermediate between the two extremes. The stratotype section of the Tekhten' Formation is located on the right bank of the Tekhten' River (right tributary of the Muta River). The formation is composed of limestone with algal bioherms alternating with calcareous siltstone, sandstone, or less often mudstone. The Tekhten' strata contain tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, gastropods, crinoids, graptolites, conodonts, scolecodonts, radiolarians, siliceous sponge spicules, and chitinozoans. The graptolite assemblages correspond to the *supernus* zone with the *supernus* and *ornatus* subzones. The Tekhten' Formation conformably overlain the Khankhara Formation and underlain the Vtorye Utyosy Formation. It is aligned with the upper half of the Katian and with the Hirnantian.

Vtorye Utyosy Formation

For the brief description of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation see 1.2.2. *Silurian* below, because the greatest part of the formation, except for the basal layers marked by the *persculptus* graptolite zone, belongs to the lower Silurian.

Succession 2 of shelf facies includes the Kamlak, Khankhara, and Bulukhta formations found in the northern Gorny Altai. They were deposited at the outer-to-inner shelf transition. Some sections of the local stratigraphic units in succession 2 formed in estuaries of large rivers that most likely flew from mountains.

Kamlak Formation

The Kamlak Formation is found in the northern Gorny Altai and reaches a thickness of 2000 m. It was distinguished as a separate stratigraphic unit (Ermikov et al., 1979; Decisions..., 1983; Petrunina et al., 1984; Petrunina, 1990; Stratigraphic ..., 1991; Yolkin et al., 2001). The composite stratotype section of the formation occurs on the left bank of the Maly Kamlak River and along the Tokoshkin Brook, its left tributary. The Kamlak Formation consists of interbedded sandstone, siltstone, limestone, conglomerate, gravelstone, and mudstone and contains trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, and conodonts. The conodont age is defined by the *Cordylodus lindströmi - Iapetognathus fluctivagus* zone and graptolites correspond to the *osloensis – ramosus* zone. The formation shows fault contacts with the strata above and below. The Kamlak Formation is divided into three subformations. The Lower Kamlak Subformation (about 120 m thick) is aligned with the upper most Cambrian, the Middle Kamlak Subformation (~440 m) with the lower half of the Tremadocian, and the Upper Kamlak Subformation (up to 1400 m) with the upper half of the Tremadocian.

Khankhara Formation

For data on the Khankhara Formation see above (Succession 1).

Bulukhta Formation

The Bulukhta Formation, about 500 m thick, is known on the northeastern periphery of the Anui-Chuya area of the Gorny Altai (Bulukhta and Sarasa rivers). A.B. Gintsinger (Gintsinger, 1958, 1964; Vinkman, Gintsinger, 1967; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983; Sennikov et al., 1995) distinguished it as a separate stratigraphic unit. The formation's stratotype section occurs in the middle reaches of the Bulukhta River (left tributary of the Ulus-Cherga River). It is composed of sandstone, siltstone, mudstone, limestone, and conglomerate and contains tabulate and rugose corals and brachiopods. The formation conformably overlain the Khankhara Formation and is unconformably (?) overlaid by the Vtorye Utyosy Formation. The Bulukhta Formation is aligned with the second half of the Katian.

Succession 3 of Ordovician shelf facies comprises the Ishpa, Tuloi, Karasa, Gur'yanovka, and Chebor formations which occur in the northeastern and eastern Gorny Altai and were deposited on a relatively shallow inner shelf proximal to the shore.

Ishpa Formation

The Ishpa Formation in the northeastern Gorny Altai (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991) reaches a thickness of 1000 m. Its stratotype section is located along the Ishpa River (left tributary of the Biya River) near Verkh-Biysk Village (Petrunina et al., 1984). The basal member of the formation is conglomerate of pebbles and cobbles of sedimentary, volcanic, and intrusive rocks. The Ishpa Formation is generally composed of mudstone, siltstone, and sandstone, with limestone and conglomerate interbeds. The faunas include algae, trilobites, brachiopods, and graptolites. Graptolite assemblages correspond to the *tenellus – kiaeri* zone. The formation unconformably overlain the Middle-Late Cambrian Tandoshka Formation and underlain the Tuloi Formation with unconformity. Its lower section is aligned with the Upper Cambrian, the middle part - with the Lower Tremadocian, and the upper section - with the Upper Tremadocian.

Tuloi Formation

The Tuloi Formation, up to 2600 m thick, occurs in the northeastern Gorny Altai. It was originally distinguished (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Decisions ..., 1983; Petrunina et al., 1984; Stratigraphic..., 1991) as the lower unit of the Stretinka Formation (Group). The formation is represented by its stratotype section on the right bank of the Biya River 2.4 km downstream of the Tuloi inflow and then on the right bank of the lower Tuloi River. The formation consists of interbedded mudstone, siltstone, silty sandstone, and sandstone. Its basal member is composed of coarse conglomerate and sandstone with floating lenses of intrusive, volcanic, and terrigenous pebbles. The Tuloi strata contain trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, and chitinozoans. According to graptolite zonation, the formation spans the *appoximatus, densus, angustifolius elongatus, gibberulus* and *hirundo* zones. The formation conformably oversteps the Tremadocian Ishpa Formation and is conformably overlaid by the Middle Ordovician Karasa Formation. The Tuloi Formation is aligned with the Floian, the Dapingian, and the lower Darriwilian.

Karasa Formation

The Karasa Formation, 450 m thick, is known in the northeastern Gorny Altai. It was originally recognized (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991) as the upper unit of the Stretinka Formation (Group). Its stratotype section crops out on the right bank of the Tuloi River downstream of the Karasa River mouth. The formation basal member consists of light gray and yellowish-gray quartz sandstone and the full section comprises interbedded mudstone, siltstone, silts sandstone, and sandstone. It contains trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, crinoids, hyoliths, orthoceratites, gastropods, graptolites, and chitinozoans. There are two graptolite zones: *dentatus* and *teretiusculus*. The formation conformably overlain the Tuloi Formation and is erosively overlain by the Gur'yanovka Formation. The Karasa Formation is aligned with the Darriwilian and the Sandbian.

Gur'yanovka Formation

The Gur'yanovka Formation reaching a thickness of 1000 m occurs in the northeastern Gorny Altai. The formation was recognized by V.M. Sennikov (Sennikov, 1962; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983) and is represented by a stratotype section on the right bank of the Lebed' River upstream of the Bura River mouth, near former Gur'yanovka Village. The formation is composed of siltstone, sandstone, limy-clayey mudstone, and limestone, with the basal member of gravelstone and coarse to medium sandstone, or less often of fine conglomerate. The faunas include tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, bryozoans, pelecypods, gastropods, orthoceratites, and graptolites. The Gur'yanovka Formation overlain weakly eroded surface of the Middle Ordovician Karasa Formation and is conformably overlaid by the Chebor Formation. The formation is conventionally aligned with the upper Sandbian and the lower Katian.

Chebor Formation

The Chebor Formation, up to 1100 m thick, is known in the northeastern Gorny Altai in the Lebed', Baigol, Biya, and Samysh catchments (northeastern and central Uimen'-Lebed' Synclinorium. The formation was distinguished by V.M. Sennikov (Sennikov, 1962; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983) and has its stratotype section on the right bank of the Lebed' River upstream of the Ayugozha mouth, the left Lebed' tributary, near Chebor Mountain. The Chebor section consists of mudstone and siltstone, less abundant sandstone, with thin layers and lenses of gray limestone. The basal member is composed of fine conglomerate and gravelstone with quartz pebble. The recovered fauna are brachiopods and tabulate corals. The formation conformably overlian the Middle Ordovician Gur'yanovka Formation and is unconformably overlaid by the Silurian Tochilny Formation (?). The Chebor Formation is conventionally aligned with the upper Katian.

1.2.2. Silurian strata

Silurian rocks in the Gorny Altai are represented by shelf facies. The succession of local stratigraphic units is the same throughout the region, with the Vtorye Utyosy Formation at the base of the section (its basal layers are uppermost Ordovician) followed successively by the Syrovaty, Polaty, Chesnokovka, Chagyrka and Kuimov formations, and the Cherny Anui Formation at the top of the section. All contacts are conformable.

Vtorye Utyosy Formation

The Vtorye Utyosy Formation, from 40 to 200 m thick, is spread in the western, northwestern, northern, and central Gorny Altai. It was recognized as a separate stratigraphic unit by N.V. Sennikov (Sennikov, 1976; Stratigraphic..., 1991; Yolkin et al., 2001). The formation's stratotype section crops out in the Vtorye Utyosy bluff on the left bank of the Inya River, upstream of Chineta Village. The formation consists of clayey mudstone and siltstone. Its base remains uncertain in the typical section, but occurred mudstone conformably overlain the Tekhten' carbonates northwest of the locality along the Burovlyanka River (left tributary of the Inya R.) and along the Chagyrka River (left bank of the Charysh River). The formation is conformably overlaid by the Middle-Late Llandovery Syrovaty Formation. The section contains numerous graptolite assemblages with index species of the *persculptus, acuminatus-ascensus, extenuatus-sibiricus, cyphus, triangulatus-gregarius* and *convolutus-cometa* zones (Sennikov, 1976, 1996). The benthic fauna includes trilobites and ostracods (Sennikov et al., 1979; Yolkin, 1983; Yolkin et al., 1988). The Vtorye Utyosy Formation is aligned with the Rhuddanian and Aeronian, or the Early-Middle Llandovery (Sennikov, 1996; Yolkin et al., 1997, 2001).

Syrovaty Formation

The Syrovaty Formation, from 90 m to 300 m in thickness, occurs in the Charysh-Inya and Anui-Chuya catchments. It was distinguished as a separate stratigraphic unit (Yolkin et al., 1974; Sennikov, 1976, 1996; Stratigraphic..., 1991). The formation is named after the Syrovaty Log (Russian for Dampish Ravine) on the right bank of the Inya River upstream of Taly Village. Its stratotype section has been documented in the southwestern slope of Rossypnaya Mt. (right bank of the Inya R.), near Taly Village. The Syrovaty Formation overlain the Rhuddanian-Aeronian Vtorye Utyosy Formation and under the upper Telychian Polaty Formation, both along conformable contacts. The Syrovaty section is composed of clayey and clayey-carbonate mudstone and siltstone and bears tabulate and rugose corals, crinoids, brachiopods, algae, trace fossils, graptolites, and chitinozoans. The graptolite age is defined by the *sedgwicki, halli* and *exiguus* zone and the lower part of the *griestonensis* zone. According to graptolites, the Syrovaty Formation may be aligned with to the second half of the Aeronian or to the Telychian (Sennikov, 1996; Yolkin et al., 1997, 2001).

Polaty Formation

The Polaty Formation, varying in thickness from 40 m to over 400 m, is known in the western, northwestern, northern, and central Gorny Altai. It was recognized as a separate stratigraphic unit (Yolkin et al., 1974, 2001; Sennikov, 1976; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991) and called after a local name Polaty (Russian for Plank bed) of a surface on Rossypnaya Mountain near Taly Village. The stratotype section of the formation occurs on the southwestern slope of Rossypnaya Mt. and is composed of massive limestone with algal bioherms, laminated limestone, siltstone, and mudstone. The Polaty Formation is the most widespread carbonate unit of reef origin. In some of its sections the formation almost fully consists of algal-biohermal limestone, or algal buildups appear repeatedly in the section intercalating with laminated argillaceous limestone. Terrigenous members in the formation are never too thick being commonly thinner than the carbonate members. Terrigenous sediments are more abundant and carbonates have laminated bedding and slightly to highly clayey compositions in the front and at the back of the carbonate platform rather than in its center. The Polaty section in the frontal part of the carbonate platform bears thin siliceous streaks. Faunas are very unevenly distributed along the section being almost absent from algal-biohermal limestones. Fossils are sporadic and restricted to scarce thin layers of clayey limestone, most often in the lower strata. They are abundant and taxonomically diverse on the periphery of the carbonate platform in the area of coral banks and brachiopod coquina. The formation contains stromatoporoids, tabulate and rugose corals, crinoids, bryozoans, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, graptolites and conodonts. The graptolite age is defined by the griestoniensis zone and conodonts correspond to the celloni zone. The formation conformably overlain the Syrovaty Formation and is overlaid by the Chesnokovka Formation. The Polaty Formation is aligned with the Telychian (Upper Llandoverian).

Chesnokovka Formation

The Chesnokovka Formation, from 50 to 250 m thick, is known in the western, northwestern, and central Gorny

Altai (Yolkin et al., 1974; Sennikov, 1976; Stratigraphic..., 1975, 1991; Decisions..., 1983). It has its stratotype section in the headwaters of the Bolshaya Chesnokovka River, left tributary of the Bolshoi Tigerek River, on the southern slope of Teplaya Mt. The formation is represented by two section types. The stratotype section consists of interbedded sandstone, clayey-carbonate mudstone, siltstone, and clayey limestone. The other type is clayey mudstone, siltstone, with clayey limestone in the upper part. The Chesnokovka strata contain stromatoporoids, tabulate and rugose corals, trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, and chitinozoans. Graptolites correspond to the *spiralis-grandis* and *insectus-centrifugus* zones. The formation lies, without gaps, over the locally eroded surface of the Polaty Formation and is conformably overlain by the Chagyrka Formation. According to trilobites and brachiopods, the Chesnokovka Formation is aligned with the upper Telychian and Sheinwoodian (Lower Silurian).

Chagyrka Formation

The Chagyrka Formation, from 100 to 300 m thick, is known in the western, northwestern, and central Gorny Altai. It was recognized by N.L. Bublichenko (Bublichenko, 1936; Decisions..., 1959, 1983; Kulkov, 1967; Yolkin et al., 1974, 2001; Ivanovsky, Kulkov, 1974; Stratigraphic..., 1975) and named after the Chagyrka River, left tributary of the Charysh River. The formation's stratotype section occurs on the right bank of the Charysh River opposite Ust'-Chagyrka Village and is composed of reefal limestone, often of algal origin. It contains tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, crinoids, and bryozoans. The formation conformably overlain the Chesnokovka Formation and underlain the Kuimov Formation. The Chagyrka Formation is aligned with the second half of the Wenlock (Homerian) (Decisions..., 1983; Yolkin etal., 2001).

Kuimov Formation

The Kuimov Formation, about 200–450 m thick, is spread in the western and northwestern Gorny Altai. N.P. Kulkov (Kulkov, 1966; Yolkin et al., 1974, 2001; Ivanovsky, Kulkov, 1974; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983) distinguished it as a unit corresponding to the Upper Chagyrka Subformation, with its specific lithology and Ludlowian faunal assemblages. The stratotype section occurs in the vicinity of Tigerek Village, along the Kuimov spring, right tributary of the Inya River, near former Komsomolets Village. The formation consists of flaggy argillaceous limestone and clayey-carbonate mudstone, with tabulate and rugose corals, trilobites, ostracods, brachiopods, and conodonts. The conodonts correspond to the *O. snajdri* zone. The Kuimov Formation overlain the Chagyrka Formation and underlain the Cherny Anui Formation, with conformable contacts. It is aligned with the Gorstian and the Ludfordian.

Cherny Anui Formation

The 260 m thick Cherny Anui Formation found in the northwestern Gorny Altai was distinguished by N.P. Kulkov (Kulkov, 1966, 1967; Yolkin et al., 1974, 2001; Ivanovsky, Kulkov, 1974; Stratigraphic..., 1975, 1991; Decisions..., 1983; Gutak et al., 2000). Its stratotype section has been documented near Cherny Anui Village on the left bank of the Cherga River, the Anui right tributary. The formation is composed of fine conglomerate, gravelstone, sandstone (locally calcareous sandstone), siltstone, and scarce layers of sandy limestone, with stromatoporoids, tabulate and rugose corals, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, bryozoans, and conodonts. The Cherny Anui Formation rests conformably overlain the Kuimov Formation and is unconformably overlaid by Lower Devonian strata. The formation is aligned with the Pridoli Stage of the Upper Silurian.

2. PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE WESTERN ALTAI-SAYAN FOLDED AREA (ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN ALTAI-SALAIR BASIN)

2.1. Sedimentary types and biota of the Altai-Salair Ordovician-Silurian basin

The Altai-Salair Ordovician basin represented shelf continental-margin basin of the Siberian Craton. The socalled Paleo-Asian Ocean was directly linked with the Altai-Salair shelf basin. Its separate fragments could be observed as tectonic blocks in the Gorny Altai area.

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions (formations) in the Altai-Salair Ordovician basin characterize wide range of sedimentary facies: from shelf to oceanic genesis. Formations could be subdivided into two groups. First group is represented by only one rocks association, for example, sandstone and siltstone, confined to a single specific facies.

The second group includes formations represented by the diverse rock associations, for example, limestone, mudstone, siltstone and sandstone. Such rocks in the various sections characterize relatively same facies that on the other hand could be assigned to the different paleogeographic environments.

Oceanic genesis

1. *Volcanic-siliceous-terrigenous sedimentary type* (massive, coarse-laminated tuff, tuff sandstone, chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone, sandstone yielded numerous siliceous sponge spicules, radiolarians and rare conodonts). As an example: Marcheta Formation (Marcheta-2 and Talitsa sections) – Late Tremadocian – Floian.

2. *Siliceous-terrigenous sedimentary type* (massive, coarse-laminated chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone, sandstone with numerous siliceous sponge spicules, radiolarians and rare conodonts). As an example: Marcheta Formation (Kamyshenka and Charysh sections) – Late Tremadocian – Floian.

Continental slope genesis

1. *Terrigenous flysch sedimentary type* (coarse-laminated rhythmic sandstone, siltstone, mudstone, with rare but taxonomically diverse trilobites, brachiopods, single poor graptolites). As an example: Bugryshikha Formation (Malaya Uskuchevka and Pichuzhikha-2 sections) – Late Darriwilian – Early Sandbian.

2. *Terrigenous underwater-sliding (gravitation-mixtitic) sedimentary type* (non-bedded, often lense with landslide traces and small isolated sphere jointing in terrigeneous rocks ("twisting"), chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone, with rare unvaried radiolarians and rare siliceous sponge spicules). As an example: siliceous-terrigenous sequence (Suetka section) – Early Hirnantian.

3. *Siliceous-terrigenous (gravitational-mixtitic) sedimentary type* (fine-laminated, often lenses with traces of sliding and isolated sphere jointing in terrigeneous rocks ("twisting"), chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone with few and taxonomically monotonous radiolarians and rare siliceous sponge spicules). As an example: siliceous-terrigenous sequence (Suetka section) – Early Hirnantian.

Shelf genesis

1. Volcanic-terrigenous sedimentary type (volcanic islands and arcs)

A. Volcanoes slope facies (porphyrite, tuff, sandstone lenses and rare limestone lenses with single trilobites and brachiopods). As an example: Krasnoe Formation (Krasnoe section), El'tsovka Formation (El'tsovka section) – Tremadocian.

B. Facies distant from the volcanic arc (porphyrite, tuff, beds and lenses of sandstone, siltstone and limestone with few taxonomically diverse trilobites and brachiopods). As an example: Agayra Formation (Anossection) – Tremadocian.

2. Siliceous-terrigenous sedimentary type

A. Facies of the distant from shore deep shelf (chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone with taxonomically diverse radiolarians and rare taxonomically diverse conodonts siliceous sponge spicules). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Tachalov and Barany sections), siliceous-terrigenous sequence (Suetka section) - Early Hirnantian.

B. Facies of the shelf foreland, near continental slope edge (sandstone, siltstone, siliceous mudstone with few poor graptolites). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Rudovozy section) – Early Hirnantian.

3. Terrigenous sedimentary type

A. Avandelta front of the mountain river (varicolored conglomerate and sandstone). As an example: Upper Subformation of the Kamlak Formation (Kakoshkin section) – Late Tremadocian; Bulukhta Formation (Boriskin Log section) – Early Hirnantian.

B. Riverside facies

a) location close to cliffy (iron-bound) desiccated river bank (beds and lenses of the well-rounded and well-sorted conglometare, gravelstone, sandstone). As an example: lower basal bed of the Tuloi Formation (Mengalevsky, Ishpa sections) – Early Floian.

b) location close to relatively plane bank (massive, well-sorted and well-rounded sandstone). As an example: lower basal bed of the Karasu Formation (Tuloi section) – Middle Darriwilian.

C. Facies distant from the bank (siltstone, mudstone, rarely sandstone with taxonomically diverse graptolites, trilobites and brachiopods). As an example: middle and upper parts of the Tuloi Formation (Stretenka, Tagaza, Tandoshka sections) – Floian; Bugryshikha Formation (Maralikha section) – Late Darriwilian – Early Sandbian; Khankhara Formation (Ebogon section) – Late Sandbian – Early Katian; Ilovaty Formation (Ilovaty, Cheremshanka sections) – Floian – Early Darriwilian; Karastun Formation (Korovy section) – Middle Darriwilian – Sandbian; Izyrak Formation (Izyrak section) – Floian – Early Darriwilian; Vtorye Utyosy Formation (Vtorye Utyosy, Burovlyanka, Tekhten', Voskresenka-

4, Rossypnaya Mountain and Generalka sections) – Rhuddanian, Aeronian; Syrovaty Formation (Vtorye Utyosy, Chernaya Mountain, Rossypnaya Mountain, Generalka sections) – Early Telychian; Chesnokovka Formation (Rossypnaya, Shpil', Syrovaty, Mayak sections) – Late Telychian – Sheinwoodian.

D. Facies of the underwater highs tops (fine-platy and cross-laminating mudstone with traces of maceration and yielded abundant taxonomically diverse graptolites). As an example: Voskresenka Formation (Pichuzhikha section)-Floian.

E. Facies of the underwater highs bottoms (gravitation-mixtite) (coarse-laminated sandstone and siltstone with the middle size isolated sphere jointing in terrigeneous rocks ("twisting"), up to 0.2–0.3 m in diameter, with rare taxonomically monotonous graptolites). As an example: Voskresenka Formation (Maralikha section) – Lower Darriwilian; Syrovaty Formation (Chernaya Mountain, Pervye Utyosy sections) – Telychian.

4. Carbonate-terrigenous sedimentary type

A. Facies slightly distant from the shore (carbonate mudstone, marl, clayey limestone with rare taxonomically poor corals and brachiopods). As an example: Diskovaya Formation (Algain section) – Early Katian.

B. Facies distant from the shore (intercalation of prevailed carbonate mudstone and siltstone, with the secondary in amount middle-laminated clayey limestone yielded few taxonomically diverse brachiopods and trilobites, rare taxonomically poor corals and graptolites). As an example: Khankhara Formation (Verkhnyaya Karasu, Nizhnyaya Karasu, Marcheta-4 sections) – Early Katian; Syrovaty Formation (Turata section) – Telychian.

5. Terrigenous-carbonate sedimentary type

A. Facies distant from the shore (intercalation of prevailed fine-laminated carbonate clayey limestone with the secondary in amount of carbonate mudstone and siltstone yielded abundant taxonomically diverse brachiopods and trilobites, rare taxonomically monotonous corals). As an example: Khankhara Formation (Marinikha, Kholmogorikha sections) – Early Katian; Syrovaty Formation (Tekhten'section) – Telychian.

B. Facies adjacent to distant parts of the reefs (middle and fine-laminated clayey limestone with intercalates of carbonaceous mudstone with abundant diverse corals, trilobites, brachiopods). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Elanda section) – Late Katian; Polaty Formation (Syrovaty, Mayak sections) – Telychian.

C. Facies of bays on the reefedges (lenses of the algae bioherms small in size, to 1-2 m in diameter, in the siltstonemudstone matrix with rare taxonomically monotonous brachiopods and graptolites). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Burovlyanka section) – Early Hirnantian.

6. Carbonate (reef) sedimentary type

A. Facies of the groups of large reefs (up to 2–3 km in diameter) on the carbonate platform at shelf edge:

a) central parts of separate reefs (massive, un-laminated limestone with large algae bioherms up 20–30 m, with rare taxonomically monotonous corals). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Orlov, Burovlyanka, Generalka, Marcheta-4, Tekhten', Chakyr, Muta, Bely Bom sections) – Late Katian – Early Hirnantian; Polaty Formation (Rossypnaya, Generalka, Inya, Chuya, Yaloman-2 sections) – Telychian; Chagyrka Formation (Rossypnaya, Mayak sections) – Homerian.

b) marginal part of the separate reefs (coarse- and middle laminated limestone, with large taxonomically diverse corals). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Tekhten', Muta sections)–Late Katian; Polaty Formation (Chichka section) – Telychian.

B. Facies of middle-sized reefs (0.5-1 km in diameter) on the slopes of fade volcanoes (massive, un-laminated limestone, with abundant taxonomically diverse trilobites, as well as rare taxonomically poor brachiopods and conodonts). As an example: Tolstochikha Formation (Orlinaya section) – Tremadocian.

C. Facies of separate, small (0.05-0.1 km in diameter), isolated reefs (patch-reef). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Tachalov, Burovlyanka sections) – Early Hirnantian; Veber Formation (Spornaya Sopka section) – Early Hirnantian; Kuimov Formation (Tigerek section) – Ludfordian.

D. Shallow-water distant from shore facies (middle-laminated oolitic limestone, with rare brachiopod and trilobite fragments). As an example: basal bed of the Khankhara Formation (Malaya Uskuchevka, Ebogon, Belaya sections) – Late Sandbian.

2.2. Key events in the evolution of the Western Altai-Salair Ordovician-Silurian basin (paleogeography and biota)

Previous stratigraphic studies in the western Altai-Sayan Folded Area (Yolkin et al., 1994; Yolkin et al., 1997; Yolkin, Sennikov, 1998; Sennikov et al., 2000) provided an insight into the patterns of deposition environments and cyclicity, trends of global transgression-regression events (Fig. 11), biota evolution, and spatial relationships between faunas and facies. This study concerns especially with the deposition and biota events in the Ordovician-Silurian Altai-Salair basin history that appear to be of regional relevance. The reason is that the regional events record the origin and

SYSTEM	SERIES	ST	AGE	REEFOID LIMESTONE	T-R CYCLES	T-R CURVE
	PRIDOLI				8	\leq
	NON	LUDFOR-	DIAN			
	LUC	GORS-	TIAN			
AN	OCK	HOME-	RIAN	Salari Marina	7	
SILURI	WENL	SHEIN-	WOODIAN			
	RY	TELY-	CHIAN	Constant of the	6	$\overline{2}$
	NDOVE	AERO-	NIAN			$\boldsymbol{\varsigma}$
	LLA	RHUDDA-	NIAN		5	
		ASHGILLIAN	AN HIRNAN-		4	7
	ER	DCIAN	KATI			15
	UPF	CARADO	SAND- BIAN		3	
VICIAN	DLE	LLANVIRNIAN	DARRIWI- LIAN			4
ORDC	MID	VIGIAN	DAPIN- GIAN		2	
		AREN	FLOIAN			
	LOWER	TREMADOCIAN	TREMADOCIAN		1	7

Fig. 11. Ordovician and Silurian eustatic curve and transgressive-regressive cycles for the western part of the ASFA showing the stratigraphical position of reef limestones (modified from Yokin et al., 1997, with new additional data).

evolution of large geological structures, such as volcanic arcs, backarc basins, terranes, and microcontinents, and their interaction with one another and with the Siberian continent.

All lithological markers recognized in the Ordovician-Silurian Altai-Salair basin were dated according to faunal groups. We used independent conodont, graptolite, trilobite, chitinozoan (See figs 6– 9), and other zonal scales developed through many years of studies in the area (Sennikov, 1996; Yolkin, Izokh, 1999; Sennikov, Obut, 2002, 2003; Izokh et al., 2005). The zone-scale age resolution allowed reliable ties for the synchronicity of geological events behind a deposition event, for the duration of the latter in the lithological record, and for the respective responses of biota.

According to the present knowledge, the key events in the Ordovician-Silurian basin history were as follows. Some events were detailed in our previous publications (Yolkin et al., 1997; Yolkin, Sennikov, 1998; Sennikov, 1998, 2003, 2006a, b).

1. **Cambrian–Ordovician boundary:** partial (Salair) and then complete (Kuznetsk-Salair) degradation of a Late Cambrian-Early Ordovician volcanic arc (Sennikov, 2006a, b) in latest Batyrbai – earliest Tremadocian time. Stop in growth of the arc resulted in chain of seamounts which became covered with small carcassless reef-like algal buildups (Tolstochikha Formation). That was the time when the Altai-Salair basin turned toward a passive-margin evolution. Carbonate deposition in the basin occurred near the shore and on the slopes of the degraded volcanic arc through the Tremadocian and alternated with coarse terrigenous deposition without any spatial regularity. Marine biota did not suffer any drastic overturn. It evolved in steady favorable conditions indicated by high abundances, densities, and taxonomic diversity of populations (especially in trilobites) rather than responded to geological or climate events.

2. Late Tremadocian: first Ordovician orogenic phase associated with complete accretion of the Kuznetsk-Salair volcanic arc (Gorny Altai, Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau) to Siberia. The phase was quite long and spanned the second half of the Tremadocian and the earliest Floian. Its onset was distinguished at the Lower-Upper Tremadoacian boundary (basal layers of Upper Kamlak and Upper Agaira subformations, middle part of the Ishpa Formation in Gorny Altai, middle part of the Chupino Formation and lower part of the Krasnoe Formation in Salair, basal layers of Upper Algain Subformation and Taimenka Formation in Kuznetsky Alatau). The event became

marked by (i) basal conglomerate with pebble of intrusives and (ii) change in position and orientation of basins. Activity resumed at the end of the orogenic phase as a final episode at the Upper Tremadocian-Floian boundary and was recognized in the basal layers of the Voskresenka and Tuloi formations in the Gorny Altai, of the Alzass Formation in the Kuznetsky Alatau, and of the Ilovaty Formation in the Salair (Petrunina et al., 1984). Lithological and paleogeographic evidence of the final event at the end of the orogenic phase at the Tremadocain-Floian boundary shows up as (i) polymictic basal conglomerate with pebble of intrusives, (ii) azimuthal and angular unconformities, (iii) change in general basin geometry, (iv) change in position and orientation of basins, (v) greater depths and steeper sides of basins, (vi) appearance of seamounts, etc.

3. Floian – Dapingian: transition from active to passive continental margin (Gorny Altai, Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau). The Floian and Dapingian stages were transitional in terms of composition and distribution of facies. Although the active-margin environment persisted in some areas (Kuznetsky Alatau) which experienced volcanic activity (Alzass Formation), the whole Gorny Altai and Salair territory (Voskresenka, Tuloi, Ilovaty, and Izyrak formations) evolved already in a single amagmatic shelf basin. Unlike the older basins where facies made a mosaic pattern, the facies in the shelf basin were regularly distributed in nearly parallel belts following the shoreline contours. The Floian-Dopingian sea in the Gorny Altai and the Salair occupied a smaller total area than the younger Middle Ordovician basin. Therefore, the beginning and the end of the Floian-Dapingian transition between the active- and passive-margin environments were marked by two orogenic events (see above).

The two stages corresponded to faunistic overturns. The basin was inhabited mainly by pelagic communities of graptolites and chitinozoans. Numerous graptolite communities formed taxonomically diverse and dense populations. Chitinozoans occurred more sporadically and their assemblages consisted of few taxa. Benthic populations were few, small, and poorly diverse (commonly 3–5 taxa in trilobites and 2–3 taxa in brachiopods).

4. Early/Middle Darriwilian boundary: another episode of carbonate deposition after the respective Tremadocian event. Carbonate deposition of that time produced a belt of light-color pure massive limestone along the outer edge of the outer shelf which coexisted with the parallel terrigenous belts that followed the shoreline contours. The limestones built the upper part of the Voskresenka Formation (Kostinsky Beds) (sections Barany-1, Batun, etc.).

5. Middle/Late Darriwilian boundary: second Ordovician orogenic phase. It was a single episode recorded in the lower Bugryshikha Formation and at the base of the Karasa Formation in the Gorny Altai and at the base of the Zaichikha and Karastun formations in the Salair (Sennikov, Petrunina, 2000; Sennikov, 2006a, b) as (i) basal conglomerate or gravelly sandstone, (ii) changes in position and orientation of basins, (iii) considerable broadening of deposition area (especially in northern and central Gorny Altai), (iv) transition from area of marine deposition in Kuznetsky Alatau to a continental denudation area.

6. Late Darriwilian: responses of marine biota to the second orogenic phase. The pelagic communities of graptolites and chitinozoans reduced strongly in number, population density, and taxonomic diversity. Benthic communities (brachiopods and trilobites) changed notably their composition toward assemblages of a greater taxonomic diversity with abundant endemic forms besides cosmopolite taxa; benthic populations became quite numerous and dense.

7. Early Sandbian: slowdown of general subsidence of the Gorny Altai segment of the Siberian continental margin. Deposition on the inner shelf not compensated by subsidence leveled up the sea floor. Large-scale seafloor levelling, which is recorded in oolitic limestone layers at the base of the Khankhara Formation, occurred in a tectonically quiet environment at shallow-marine depths (less than 10 m of fair-weather wave base).

8. Late Sandbian: change from mainly terrigenous to mixed terrigenous-carbonate deposition under accelerated subsidence. The deposition environments became more diverse. Carbonate-terrigenous and carbonate (to reefal) facies developed and spread progressively over greater areas in addition to coarse and fine terrigenous facies. The belts of different facies were separated by linear zones of transitional facies.

The biota responded by a dramatic change in the structure of benthic communities (especially, trilobite and brachiopod assemblages), increasing density and taxonomic diversity of benthic populations, and inception of reef dwellers and builders (algae, tabulate corals, stromatoporoids, bryozoans, and crinoids). Pelagic communities of graptolites and chitinozoans were sporadic, of low population density and poor diversity (no more than 2–5 taxa). Since the Caradocian, the basins of the Gorny Altai and Salair were inhabited by diverse marine organisms from nekton and plankton (conodonts, nautiloids, graptolites, chitinozoans, and radiolarians) to benthic (trilobites, brachiopods, ostra-cods, crinoids, gastropods, bryozoans, tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, etc.) groups.

9. Sandbian/Katian boundary: a short spell of coarse clastic deposition, possibly, caused by an unknown single orogenic event or by a global sealevel rise (transgression and ensuing rapid erosion in the provenance). The coarse clastic material was deposited as conglomerate in the middle strata of the Khankhara, Bulukhta, and Veber formations; Tremadocian sediments in Gornaya Shoriya became overlain, with a large gap, by the basal conglomerate of the Toga Formation. However, no evidence of paleogeographic, facies, or biotic responses to the third orogenic phase has been found so far.

10. Early Hirnantian (latest Ordovician): differentiation of general shelf subsidence. The shelf inner part subsided more rapidly than its outer edge and the latter became the place where large reef systems of carbonate-platform type appeared in the Late Ashgillian. *Carbonate platform* is commonly meant as an elongate zone of barrier and marginal reefs which often merge in reef massifs or long chains. The current large reef systems, especially the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) in the Coral Sea at the Australian eastern coast, are used for reference in paleoenvironment reconstructions as a model of a warm sea with rapid biogenic carbonate deposition. By analogy with the current systems, Paleozoic reef-like systems on carbonate platforms can have formed at paleolatitudes from 10° to 20--25° N or S in the conditions of optimum temperatures between +18° and +30° all year round, normal salinity (about 35‰), clear water, and shallow sea depths (0 to 10–20 m, less often 40 m).

In the latest Ordovician (Late Ashgillian), the first Altai carcassless algal-biohermal reef buildup formed on the shelf edge. It was found (Sennikov et al., 2001a; Sennikov, 2006a, b) extending in an over 100 km long chain in outcrops of the Tekhten' Formation (Orlov, Burovlyanka, Muta, Bely Bom and other reefs). The Late Ashgillian carbonate deposition produced 150 to 700 m thick Tekhten' sections most often composed of massive pure limestone with algal bioherms (to 10–15 m in diameter), rare corals, trilobites, and brachiopods. The Altai-Salair reef may have reached a total length of 700 km (in the present frame of reference, here and below) and a width of 3–5 km, i.e., it was comparable with the today's Great Barrier Reef. The size was estimated from the geographic extent of the Tekhten' Formation taking into account its continuation into the Salair inferred from outcrops of the Veber Formation (Bobrovka and other reefs). The thickness of reef buildups in this stratigraphic interval is up to 500 m.

Since the end of the Ordovician, shelf deposition had been associated with steady formation of facies that made a regular pattern of belts spread for tens to few hundreds of kilometers off the shore. They were, namely, coarse terrigenous (narrowest belt), fine terrigenous (narrow belt), mixed terrigenous-carbonate (widest belt), carbonate and (or) reef (wide belt), terrigenous-carbonate (narrow belt) facies, and terrigenous-carbonate slope deposits with an olistostrome component (thin belt). The facies boundaries were rather sharp, and transitional facies occupied relatively narrow zones. Therefore, the Altai-Salair basin of that time evolved in a stable passive continental margin environment.

11. **Early Hirnantian:** local and relatively rapid biogenic silica deposition, with a minor chemogenic component. The deposition produced the upper Tekhten' Formation and siliceous-terrigenous strata in the Tachalov, Suetka, and Barany-2 section. Biota included siliceous sponges as a benthic component and a pelagic component of taxonomically diverse conodont and radiolarian assemblages, with population densities as high as to form radiolarite.

12. **Middle part of Late Hirnantian:** at least 100 m basin deepening as a result of a transgression at the base of the *persculptus* graptolite zone (Yolkin et al., 1997; Sennikov, 1998). The transgression, attendant rapid black shale deposition, remained recorded in the Late Hirnantian lower Vtorye Utyosy section as a lithology change from light gray massive reef limestone (or more rarely from dark gray slightly clayey thick-bedded dalmanitid limestone) to black mudstone deposited in anoxic conditions (judging by the presence of pyrite). That was a global event corresponding to a great extinction event in Paleozoic marine biota. After that event, through the Rhuddanian and Aeronian, the Altai-Salair marine biota consisted almost entirely of pelagic graptolite and chitinozoan communities of high population density and taxonomic diversity; benthic assemblages were restricted to sporadic and taxonomically poor trilobites, ostracods, and brachiopods.

13. **Convolutus-cometa/sedgwicki boundary:** another transgression pulse and another 100 m sealevel rise (Yolkin et al., 1997). Pelagic faunas consisted of medium-density and taxonomically uniform graptolite populations. Benthic communities were sporadic brachiopods and trilobites of low diversity. Trilobites experienced considerable morphological changes (Yolkin, 1983).

14. Late Telychian: formation of the second algal-coral reef framework which became the largest Ordovician-Silurian reef system (Yolkin et al., 1994, 1997; Yolkin, Sennikov, 1998). That deposition event produced the Polaty Formation (Rossypnaya, Chichka, Inya, Chuya, Yaloman and other reefs) in the Gorny Altai and the Baskuskan Formation (Vetokhino and other reefs) in the Salair composed of massive pure limestone with few thin interbeds of mudrocks with 30–50 m algal bioherms and abundant tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, bryozoans and other benthic communities of reef builders and dwellers. The terrigenous input reduced notably and was limited to sporadic pulses.

The Late Telychian carbonate platform in the basin may have reached a length of 700 km and a width of 10-25 km. The Late Telychian reef deposition lasted for 350-400 kyr and produced 200-450 m thick layers. The reefs grew at a rate of 1.3-1.5 m/kyr, i.e., only slightly slower than the current reefs (2 m/kyr).

The relatively shallow-marine (sea depths from 0-5 m to 10-50 m) outer edge of the carbonate platform in the central Altai was bordered by a narrow zone of a deeper (100-200 m) fore-reef shelf. The relatively deepwater deposition area of clastic laminated limestone neighbored an area of siliceous deposition on the outer shelf edge or already on the continental slope at a sea depth of 200 to 250–300 m or deeper.

15. End of Telychian – Early Sheinwoodian: rapid basin deepening and black shale deposition. Lithologycally it is distinguished by drastic change from massive light-color reef limestone of the Polaty Formation and its equivalents

to black mudstone of the Chesnokovka Formation and its equivalents, which often have cavernous eroded base layers. Carbonate deposition continued but at a much slower rate over a smaller area and became localized. The terrigenous input reduced progressively through the Sheinwoodian while carbonate deposition slowly increased. Biota was dominated by pelagic communities of graptolites and chitinozoans; brachiopods, trilobites, and corals were sporadic and poorly diverse. The benthic component of biota likewise became ever more significant in the Sheinwoodian.

16. Sheinwoodian/Homerian boundary: onset of an algal-coral reef framework, the third reef system. The reef deposition produced the Chagyrka Formation (Rossypnaya, Shpil', Nebo, Mayak and other reefs) in the Gorny Altai and the Potapovka Formation in the Salair composed of 225 m massive pure limestone with 10–20 m algal bioherms containing abundant tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, bryozoans, and other reef-building and reef-dwelling benthic communities. The terrigenous input almost ceased. The Homerian carbonate platform may have reached a length of 600 km and a width of 5–15 km.

17. Homerian/Gorstian boundary: onset of regular terrigenous input, with occasional peaks, in addition to continuing large-scale steady carbonate deposition. As a result, deposition of pure light-color massive reef limestone (Chagyrka Formation) changed to deposition of laminated often clayey limestone layers alternating with one another or with rare thin calcareous mudstone or less often siltstone interbeds (Kuimov Formation). Biota experienced no significant overturns.

18. Ludfordian: appearance of patch reefs (Tigerek Section) along the basin margin, within a belt that evolved from the carbonate platform zone of Telychian and Homerian reefs. The patch reefs formed while the carbonate deposition with a terrigenous component (upper Kuimov Formation, Gorny Altai) continued and minor siliceous deposition began on the shelf outer edge. Siliceous deposits underwent later diagenetic and post-diagenetic changes which caused, for instance, silicification of skeletons in different benthic groups found in the upper Kuimov Formation (Tigerek section).

19. Ludfordian/Pridoli boundary: onset of mainly terrigenous redbed deposition recorded in the basal layers of the Cherny Anui Formation in the Gorny Altai (Cherga and Cherny Anui sections). The Cherny Anui basal sand member contains lenses and thin layers of conglomerate and gravelstone. The benthic component of biota lost much in density and diversity of populations, and the pelagic component was restricted to rare conodonts. All faunas were found in limestone in the middle Cherny Anui Formation (middle Pridolian).

To sum up, the biota evolution in the Late Ordovician-Silurian history of the Altai-Salair basin had the following features. The basin was inhabited by almost all known groups of benthic, plankton and nekton organisms that possessed quite a high taxonomic diversity and high (often maximum) population density. The organisms were involved with complex symbiotic links and long food chains.

Production (total numbers of individuals in species) and biodiversity in benthic communities were the highest in reef systems but very low in near-shore ecosystems. Production and diversity in both benthic and pelagic communities were medium in back-reef basins and slightly lower in slope and fore-reef environments.

The pelagic component of biota reached the greatest possible density in the Aeronian only, judging by numerous findings of taxonomically diverse graptolite assemblages in the upper Vtorye Utyosy Formation (Gorny Altai). Late Katian and Early Hirnantian basins in the area were second largest in density of pelagic populations with diverse graptolite, conodont, and radiolarian assemblages.

2.3. Paleogeographic reconstruction of the Ordovician-Silurian Altai-Salair basin

This study is the first systematic synthesis of successive changes in paleogeography and contours of the Ordovician-Silurian Altai-Salair basin (Fig. 12). The synthesis is based on a series of stage- (and substage)-scale paleogeographic maps for the whole Ordovician-Silurian basin history which have been compiled and partly published by today (Yolkin et al., 1994; Sennikov, 2006a, b).



Fig. 12. Paleographic environments of western part ASFA through Ordovician-Silurian (modified from Yokin et al., 1994; Sennikov, 2006a, with new data).



Fig. 12. Continued.



Fig. 12. Continued.



Fig. 12. Continued.



Fig. 12. End.

ORDOVICIAN PALAEOGEOGRAPHY AND PALAEOCLIMATE

3. ORDOVICIAN AND SILURIAN REFERENCE SECTIONS IN THE GORNY ALTAI

The described sections are grouped geographically into areas of the western, northwestern, central, northern and northeastern Gorny Altai. The member subdivision and bed-by-bed description of the sections have been the responsibility of N.V. Sennikov, E.A. Yolkin, Z.E. Petrunina, L.A. Gladkikh, N.G. Izokh, A.V. Krivchikov, V.G. Russkikh and A.A. Puzyrev. The section symbols are keyed as follows. The letters stand for author's name (e.g., Yo – for Yolkin, S – for Sennikov, P – for Puzyrev, R – for Russkikh in Yo-7039, S-78115, P-78032-1/12, and R-7812) or for location (LSS for location from succession of sections, F – for faunal location, H – for hole (excavation)). Two first numerals after hyphen denote the year when the description was made (70 for 1970, 78 for 1978, etc.) and the following digits before hyphen are section or locality numbers (39, 115, 032); numerals after second hyphen are member numbers (-1 for first member), and numerals after slash mark the sampling depth in meters above the member base (/12 means that the sample was collected at 12 m above the base of the member).

3.1. Western Gorny Altai

3.1.1. Area of Ust'-Chagyrka Village

Barany-1 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: ? Tremadocian, Floian, Dapingian, Darriwilian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tayanza, Lebed' and Bugryshikha regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Suetka, Voskresenka and Bugryshikha formations. Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, gastropods, chitinozoans.

The Voskresenka Formation in the vicinity of Ust'-Chagyrka Village crops out along the Barany, Voskresenka, and Tachalov brooks, the left tributaries of the Chagyrka River (Fig. 13). An outcrop on the right bank of the Barany Brook (Fig. 14), 300 m from 500.3 m mountain at azimuth 235° exposes lilac to red siltstone and sandstone of the Suetka Formation (Gorny Altai Group) overstepped, with a sharp angular unconformity, by (stratotype section of Voskresenka Formation, P-78032) (Fig. 15):

Thickness, m

1. Siltstone: green, massive, with scarce floating sandstone pebble; green siltstone gives way along strike (right bank of the Tachalov Brook) to lilac-red, violet, green, and yellowish-gray siltstone with lenses and thin layers of medium to boulder conglom- erate with pebbles mostly of Gorny Altai Group rocks or sporadically fine red quartzite; calcareous siltstone, at 6 m above member base (loc. P-78032-1/6) contains brachiopods <i>Idiostophia</i> cf. <i>coctata</i> Ulr. et Coop., and stratigraphically 6 meters upwards (loc. P-78032-1/6) contains brachiopods <i>Idiostophia</i> cf. <i>coctata</i> Ulr. et Coop.
70052-1712) traditiopous <i>tatostopnia</i> sp., Archaeorinis attatad Severg
3. Siltstone: yellowish greenish-gray, flaggy, with fragments of trilobites <i>Illaenus</i> Daim. (loc. 5-7915) and undefinable brachio-
pods
4. Sandstone: limy, grading along strike into sandy limestone
5. Siltstone: greenish-gray and yellowish-gray, sandy, laminated, flaggy, with fauna (loc. S-7913), possibly, graptolites . 205
6. Limestone: gray and dark gray, sandy, laminated, flaggy; with trilobites (loc. S-7914) Ceraurinella frequiens Tchug.,
Eorobergia bipunctata Tchug., Bathyurellus nonnufus Tchug., Glaphurus altaicus Web., Kolymella plana (Tchug.), Pliomerullus
amplissimus Petrun. sp. n., Pliomerops parasiensis Petrun. sp. n., Eccoptochile tchagvrica Petrun. sp. n., brachiopods Plectocamara
constata Coop., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Atelelasma batunensis Severg., Idiostophia coctata Ulr. et Coop
7. Sodded interval, talus bears rare clasts of greenish-gray and yellowish-gray siltstone
8. Sodded interval: talus bears fine conglomerate of light gray (to 80 %) well rounded pebble and dark gray (to 20 %) quartzite
J
The member top is truncated by a fault. The total thickness of the section is about 380 m.
Members 1 through 6 belong to the Voskresenka Formation and members 7 and 8 belong to the overlying

Members 1 through 6 belong to the Voskresenka Formation and members 7 and 8 belong to the overlying Bugryshikha Formation. The Voskresenka Formation in the Barany section is 285 m thick and the Bugryshikha Formation is 95 m (incomplete thickness).

Gastropods and crinoids were collected from sandy limestone equivalent to member 4 on the right bank of the Tachalov Brook (loc. S-7736) and gastropods were found on the right bank of the Voskresenka Brook (loc. S-7726). Chitinozoans extracted by acid dissolution of rocks were identified as *Desmochitina minor* Eisenack and *Desmochitina*



Fig. 13. Sketch map of Chagyrka Brook, left bank, near Ust'-Chagyrka Village (modified from Yolkin et al., 1988).



Fig. 14. Sketch map of Barany Brook (modified from Sennikov et al., 1982).

sp. at loc. S-7726 and *Desmochitina rhenana* Eisenack and *Conochitina* sp. at loc. S-7736. These species indicate an Ordovician age of the host sediment (most likely Tremadocian-Darriwilian, judging by their distribution in the Gorny Altai). Gastropods from S-7726 identified as *Temnodicus* sp. are similar, according to V.I. Bjaly, to the *Temnodiscus* sp. known from the variegated member of the Lugovoi Formation in the Biryusa River catchment (Siberian craton) correlated with the Nyaya regional stage (Early Tremdocian). Thus, the fauna-bearing sandy limestone can be conventionally assigned a Tremadocian age.

7.Tremadocian 7.Tremadocian <th7.tremadocian< th=""> <th7.tremadocian< t<="" th=""></th7.tremadocian<></th7.tremadocian<>
7.Tremadocian Ploian Darriwilian 7.Tremadocian 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Construction Floran Dapingian 7 V 0 k k a V 0 k k a b g V 0 k k a b g g g 1 0 c c k a c g
?Tremadocian Floian Dapingiany 7 V 0 k r s e h a 7 V 0 k r s e h a 7 V 0 k r s e h a 7 0 c

Fig. 15. Ranges of fossil taxa from Barany-1 section.

The legend: 1 - limestones, 2 - massive limestones, 3 - lenses, 4 - algal limestones, 5 - clayey limestones, 6 - sandy limestones, 7-mudstones, 8-siltstones, 9-aleuro-sandstones, 10-sandstones, 11-conglomerates, 12-sodded interval, 13-breccia, 14 - cherts.

Voskresenka-1 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Startigraphic Scale: Darriwilian, Sandbian, Katian, Hirnantian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara and Tekhten'regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara and Tekhten' formations.

Zones: coelatus, teretiusculus, serratulus, multidens graptolite zones.

Fauna: tabulate corals, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, crinoids, bryozoans, gastropods, graptolites, polychaets, siliceous sponges, conodonts.

The most complete and stratigraphically continuous Ordovician section crops out of near Ust'-Chagyrka Village, in the Tachalov/Voskresenka brook divide (Fig. 16), 200 m from 530.3 m mountain at azimuth 15° and on northeastward down the divide. The rocks show monoclinal bedding to a dip of 75–80°. The section (S-78115) consists of (Fig. 17):


Fig. 16. Sketch map of the watershed of the Voskresenka and Tachalov brooks (modified from Sennikov et al., 1979).

1. Siltstone, dirty yellow and greenish-gray, thinly (3-5 cm) interbedded with mudstone or less often with fine polymictic
sandstone, with sporadic floating quartz and quartzite pebble of 1-3 cm in diameterat least 10
2. Conglomerate: brown and dark gray, fine to medium, with well rounded quartz and quartzite pebble of $1-3$ cm to $5-7$ cm
in diameter (Fig. 18)
3. Sandstone: dirty yellow, rather quartz, medium and coarse, with well rounded floating quartz and quartzite pebble of 3-5
cm in diameter; siliceous-clayey cement
4. Sandstone: dirty yellow, rather quartz, medium and coarse, clayey cement
5. Sandstone: dirty yellow, rather quartz, medium and coarse, clayey-carbonate cement
6. Interbedded fine clayey sandstone and siltstone, yellowish-gray or greenish-gray; with graptolites (2 m above member
base): Dicellograptus aff. moffatensis Carruthers; at 3 rd m - scolecodonts; at 17 th m -graptolites Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis
Ruedemann, Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapworth); at 45 th m - graptolites Amplexograptus sp., Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis
Ruedemann, <i>Glossograptus fimbriatus</i> (Hopkinson); at 46 th m - graptolites <i>Pterograptus</i> sp., <i>Isograptus</i> sp., <i>Hustedograptus</i>
teretiusculus (Hisinger)

Thickness, m

8. Siltstone: pale yellowish-green or gray, clayey, strongly foliated; with graptolites (1 m above member base): Pseudoclimacograptus scharenbergi (Lapworth), Amplexograptus perexcavatus (Lapworth), Diplograptus multidens Elles et Wood

	<i>LL</i>
9. Sandstone: dirty brown, fine to medium; with brachiopods (5 and 18 meters above member base): Rostricellula ex	۲ gr.
lenaensis (Nikif.) and gastropods	20
10. Clayey mudstone and siltstone, gray or greenish-gray; with brachiopods (1 m above member base): Skenidioides	sp.,
Isophragma sp., ostracods, bryozoans and gastropods	. 4.5
11. Limestone: gray or dark gray, crystalline; with brachiopods (2 m above member base): Hesperorthis ex gr. market	ovae
Rozm., Leptellina sp., trilobites Pliomerops sp., tabulate corals, gastropods and crinoids	5
12. Siltstone: black, clayey, strongly foliated	16

Members 1 through 10 in S-78115 belong to the Bugryshikha Formation, members 11 through 14 belong to the Khankhara Formation, and members 15 through 17 belong to the Tekhten' Formation. Thus, the Bugryshikha Formation in the Voskresenka-1 section totals a thickness of about 140 m, the Khankhara Formation is more than 60 m thick, and the Tekhten' Formation is over 115 m.

The following graptolite zones are recognized in the section S-78115: *coelatus* (lower half of member 6), *teretiusculus* (upper half of member 6 and lower half of member 7), *serratulus* (upper half of member 7), and *multidens* (member 8).

Tachalov Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara and Tekhten' regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara and Tekhten' formations.

Zones: bicornis and supernus (lower supernus and upper ornatus subzones) graptolite zones, A. ordovicicus conodont zones.

Fauna: tabulate corals, brachiopods, graptolites, polychaetes, conodonts, radiolarians, and chitinozoans.

The section occurs on the left bank of the Tachalov Brook, left tributary of the Chagyrka River, near Ust'-Chagyrka Village where equivalents of the upper Voskresenka-1 Section (members 15 through 17) are exposed, namely (Fig. 19):

Thickness, m

Basal member 1 a of the section belongs to the Khankhara Formation and members 1b through 3 belong to the Tekhten' Formation. The latter has an incomplete thickness of 130 m in the section.

The following graptolite zones were distinguished: *bicornis* and *supernus* (with lower *supernus* and upper *ornatus* subzones) and *A. ordovicicus* conodont zone.

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	Trilobites
Hirnantian			17 16	25 10				
Katian	Tekhten'		15	90		S-78115-15/40 S-78115-15/15	s (Nikif.) arkovae Rozm. iis aff. altaicus Sev. iis aff. attaicus Sev. inboinites grayae sibirica Sev. irthis sp.	omas (Foliopyge) cf. tardus Petrun. Jomas cf. tchakyrensis Petrun. psis sp. undes sp. "ads sp. leus sp.
	а		14	18		S-78115-14/2	enaensis x gr. ma Plectorth Ceptellin Hophar	onchoo onchoo Bronchoo Remople Calyptau Calyptau
	ankhan		13	22		S-78115-13/18 S-78115-13/8	ex gr. le gines sp. gina sp. srorthis e lina sp.	eros sp.
lbian	Khá		12	16 5		S-78115-11/2	stricellula Skenidic Isophrad Hespe Leptel	• Pliom
anc		Su	10	4.5		S-78115-10/1	Ros	
S		multide	9	20		S-78115-9/18	Ĩ	
		ratulus	8	22		S-78115-8/8 S-78115-8/1		
Η	hikha	llus ser	7	18		S-78115-7/14 S-78115-7/4		
Darriwilian	Bugrys	coelatus teretiuscu	6 3-5 2 1	52 3.5 7 >10	00000	S-78115-6/46 S-78115-6/45 S-78115-6/17 S-78115-6/3 S-78115-6/2		

Fig. 17. Ranges of fossil taxa from Voskresenka-1 section.

Voskresenka-2 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara Formation. Zones: caudatus graptolite zone. Fauna: graptolites.

Dirty yellow-gray fine sandstone of member 1 in the Tachalov section extend along strike to the right bank of the Voskresenka Brook where the Voskresenka-2 section, stratigraphically higher than S-78117 and lower than S-7225, consists of: Thickness, m

The Voskresenka-2 section belongs to the Khankhara Formation and corresponds the *caudatus* conodont zone.

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Others groups
17 16	25 10		apworth)	ans • Ints •
15	90	S-78115-15/40 S-78115-15/15	<i>us triconis</i> (Carruthers) <i>us triconis</i> (Carruthers) 	Radiolar Conod Siliceous sponge spici
14	18	S-78115-14/2	n ptograpti Nood Nood s (Lapwo ograptus ograptus ograptus	• •
13	22	S-78115-13/18 S-78115-13/8	edeman (Hisingel Cryv ktinson) (II) II) II) II) III) III) III) III)	
12	16	0 70445 44/0	nis Ru nson) culus (culus (ra ssp. ssp. ssp. sr praptu ultiden ultiden	
11 10	5 4.5	S-78115-11/2 S-78115-10/1	s ctiforn Hopkin Pincks graptu Tratult Pincks Tratult Tratult Tratult Tratult Tratult Tratult Tratult Tratult	ds oids oids
9	20	S-78115-9/15	is insecutiver is insecutive (h iatus (h interver- prus (h ilimaco, prus secutos (ilimaco, prus secut	ds entry stracoo ulate co Crin
8	22	S-78115-8/8 S-78115-8/1	nsis Ca latus finou tis fimbu us sp. us sp. is sp. is sp. ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosogg ingosog in	astropo D Tabi
7	18	S-78115-7/14 S-78115-7/4	moffate itus coe bitus coe exograpti sograptus graptus e - C e - C e - C	Ŭ
6	52	S-78115-6/46 S-78115-6/45	ograptus aff. Amplexogra, Ampl Ampl e Pie Iso	olecodonts
<u>3-5</u> 2 1	3,5 7 >10	S-78115-6/17 S-78115-6/3 S-78115-6/2	• Dicel	ບ ທ •

Fig. 17. End.

Voskresenka-3 Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Hirnantian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Formation. Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, tabulate corals.

Light-color massive limestone exposed in the right bank of the Voskresenka Brook is equivalent to limestones of member 3 in the Tachalov Section and contains trilobites (loc. 170): *Illaensis* sp., brachiopods – *Alispira praegracilis* Severg., *Brevilamnulella* ex gr. *thebesensis* (Savage), *Thebesia* sp., *Prostricklandia* sp., tabulate corals - *Catenipora workmanae* Flower, *Rhabdotetradium* sp. The entire Voskresenka-3 section belongs to the Tekhten' Formation.



Fig. 18. Conglomerates from the basal member of the Ordovician Bugryshikha Formation; Voskresenka-1 section, member 2.



Fig. 21. Massive cherts of the Ordovician Tekhten' Formation; Barany-2 section, member 4.



Fig. 23. General view of the trench with outcrop of Voskresenka-4 section.

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Tabulate corals	Brachi- opods	Conodonts	Radio- Iarians	Chitino- zoans	Scoleco- donts	Graptolites	Other groups
Hirnantian			3	>40		Yo-7039	-lower • um sp. •	(?) sp. • ivage) •					s T.S.Hall aptus regularis p.	
	chten'	atus	2	15		98080406	dotetradii	Vaga (ensis (Sa		Orm. • onald • et Bl. • Naz.) •			(Hall) s hastatu: Xylonogru Sennikovr jraptus si	
Katian	Tek	supernus orn	1b	75	•	S-7223 S-7224 S-7225 S-78116	Catenipora work Rhab	Brevolamnuella aff. thebes	Acodus similaris Rhodes bolodus triangularis Br. et M. gnathus cf. duffours Rhodes Belodina sp. Drepanodus sp. ardella (?) diminuta (Rhodes) ardella (?) diminuta (Rhodes) dus intermedius (Br. , M. et Br.) dus cf. inicostatus (Br. et M.) agmodus insculptus Br. et M.	Secuicollacta cassa Naz. et S. sceptri McD nasphaera cf. maculosa Web. Entactinia subulata Web. Secucollacta cf. esthomica (a micracantha Eisenacke	Gen. et sp. indet. • Paulinites sp. •	aptus ex gr. quadrimucronatus ograptus ex gr. bicormis (Hall) • Climacograptus (Hall) • Climacograptus aff. hastatus • Paraorthog acograptus longispinus acograptus nastatus fiastatus T,S. Hall Climacograptus hastatus S. hastatus T,S. Hall Climacograptus sp. hotus posterus Koren' et Mikh.	Ostracods
	Khankha	bicornis	1a	15		S-78117			Am Amorpho, Hibba Panderod Phr	Kalin	Conochitin Tanuchitin		Orthogr Orthogr Climacc Clim Clim clim clicello; clyptograg	

Fig. 19. Ranges of fossil taxa from Tachalov section.

Fig. 20. Ranges of fossil taxa from Barany-2 section.

Barany-2 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' and Vtorye Utyosy regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' and Vtorye Utyosy formations.

Zones: persculptus graptolite zone.

Fauna: trilobites, graptolites, radiolarians, siliceous sponges.

The Barany-2 section (S-832 = S-0525) is located near Ust'-Chagyrka Village, on the right bank of the lower Barany Brook where it enters the Charysh River valley. The section includes (Fig. 20):

Thickness, m

1. Sandstone and siltstone: gray or dark olivegreenish-gray, polymictic, fine, with indefinable graptolites.....~ 20

2. Siltstone and mudstone: dirty green or gray, alternating with gray or greenish-gray silicite (chert); siliceous rocks (loc. S-0525a) contain moderately well preserved radiolarians *Entactinia subulata* Web. et Bl.,

Entactinia sp., Kalimnasphaera sp. and siliceous sponge spicules.....

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Grapto- lites	Radio- Iarians	Other groups
nan-	orye yosy	per- sculp- tus	6	5		S-832-4/1	r) •		
	55		5	2- 10		S-0526	persculptus (Salte		rilobites •
	π.		4	3-5	~~~~~	S-0525B	ex gr.	et.	•
_	Ч		3	1-3	•		otus	ind	
t i a	h t e		2	10		S-0525A	ndet. <i>Glyptogra</i> l	eb. et Bl. • <i>ctinia</i> sp. • <i>aera</i> sp. • Gen. et sp	spicules •
Ka	Tek		1	20			● Gen. et sp. i	Entactinia subulata We Entac Kalimnasph	Siliceous sponge

ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI



Fig. 22. Sketch map and profile of the Voskresenka-4 section (modified from Sennikov, Russkikh, 1982).

3. Sandstone: dirty green-gray, polymictic, fine, including flat 3–5 cm thick and 20–30 cm long loaf-shaped lenses of gray or dark gray fine-grained bioclastic limestone; member is lens-shaped and pinches out...... 1–3

Members 1 through 5 belong to the Tekhten' Formation and member 6 belongs to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation. The incomplete thickness of the Tekhten' Formation in the section is about 20 m.

Voskresenka-4 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Hirnantian, Ruddanian, Aeronian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy Regional stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy Formation. Zones: persculptus, acuminatus-ascensus,

extenuatus-sibiricus, cyphus, triangulatusgregarius, cometa graptolite zones . *Fauna:* tabulate corals, trilobites, ostracods, crinoids, brachiopods, graptolites.

Upper Ordovician (Upper Hirnantian) and Lower Silurian (Rhuddanian-Aeronian) strata near Ust'-Chagyrka Village at 25 to 200 m from 530.3 m mountain at azimuth 15° make up a fault block (Fig. 22). One fault zone involves a tectonic (?) lens of Upper

Ordovician (Sandbian or Caradocian) limestone. The strata are folded in overturned isoclinal folds with their limbs dipping at 60–90°.

Ditch R-783 runs southward from the line of conglomerate in section S-78115-2 (Fig. 23), roughly across the strike of rocks. The exposed thickness of the strata may approximately correspond to their true thickness in view of their steep dip at $60-90^{\circ}$. All intervals are measured from the base of conglomerate. The Silurian section begins with interval 15.5–21 m (R-783) where exposed are (Fig. 24):

1. Mudstone: dark olive-green, limy-clayey, foliated, flaggy, fine. At four levels from interval 16,5–17,5 m graptolites of the youngest Ordovician zone *persculptus* (Late Hirnantian) (Late Ashgillian) have been obtained - (loc. S-7785 = R-783-2/16,50-16,55) *Persculptograptus persculptus* (Salter), *Glyptograptus* sp., *Diplograptus* (s.l.) sp., (loc. R-783-2/16,65-16,70) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Persculptograptus persculptus* (Salter), (loc. R-783-2/17,15-17,20) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Hedrograptus* sp., (loc. R-783-17,35-17.40) *Normalograptus scalaris* (Hisinger), *Persculptograptus persculptus* (Salter).

The member is truncated by faults at the base and at the top which separate it, respectively, from the Ordovician strata of S-78115-1 and from 2 m thick (interval 21–23 m) fault lens of Upper Ordovician Sandbian (Caradocian) gray massive limestone (possibly, equivalent of member 11 Voskresenka-1 section), with trilobites *Remopleurides* sp., brachiopods *Parastrophinella* (?) sp. indet. and tabulate corals *Plasmoporella plana* Bondarenko.

Member 1 is overlain successively by

At seven levels from interval 79,3–57,25 m graptolites of the *extenuatus-sibiricus* zone (Middle Ruddanian) (Lower Llandoverian) - (loc. Yo-7047 = R-783-8/57,60-58,00) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Met. orientalis* Obut et Sob., *Normalograptus normalis* (Lapworth), *Hedrograptus rectangularis* (McCoy), *Metabolograptus sibiricus* (Obut), *Cystograptus tumidicaulus* (Hsu), *Dimorphograptus extenuatus* Elles et Wood, *Monograptus* (s.l.) sp., scolecodonts - *Paulinites* sp. and indetermined ostracods and crinoids, (loc. S-77109 = R-783-8/58,20-58,30) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Hedrograptus rectangularis* (McCoy), *Hedrograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus* sibiricus (Obut), *Dimorphograptus extenuatus* Elles et Wood, *Coronograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus* (s.l.) sp., (loc. S-77110 = R-783-8/58,90-59,00) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Hedrograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus* (s.l.) sp., (loc. S-77110 = R-783-8/58,90-59,00) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Hedrograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus* (s.l.) sp., (loc. S-77110 = R-783-8/58,90-59,00) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Hedrograptus* sp., *Netabolograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus* (s.l.) sp., (loc. S-77110 = R-783-8/58,90-59,00) *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Hedrograptus* sp., *Netabolograptus* (s.l.) sp., *Dimorphograptus* extenuatus Elles et Wood, (loc. S-77111 = R-783-8/59,60-59,70) Diplograptus (s.l.) sp., *Dimorphograptus extenuatus* Elles et Wood, (loc. S-77112 = R-783-8/62,50-62,60) *Diplograptus* (s.l.) sp., (loc. S-77113 = R-783-8/65,80-65,90) *Diplograptus* (s.l.) sp. indet.

3. Siltstone: dark olive-green, yellowish-gray or gray, with clayey and limy-clayey alternation; "loaves" of gray massive limestone occupy 10 to 80 % of intervals 55–54.7 m, 53.2–53.0 m, 50.6–49.8 m, 49.4–47.4 m, 45.3–44.9 m, and 24.3–23.9 m; member contains trilobites found at 57,2-53,5 m: ostracods, brachiopods and crinoids.

At twenty one levels from interval 57,25-45,3 m graptolites of the cyphus zone (upper part of Ruddanian) (upper part of the Lower Llandoverian) - (loc. R-783-7/45,65-45,70) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Orthograptus mutabilis (Elles et Wood), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), Monograptus (s.l.) sp., (loc. S-77101 = R-783-7/45,80-45,90) Hedrograptus janishewskyi Obut, Paraclimacograptus innotatus (Nicholson), Glyptograptus sp., Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. R-783-7/46,10-46,20: Hedrograptus sp., Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. S-77102 = R-783-7/ 47,00-47,10) Hedrograptus sp., (loc. R-783-7/47,40-47,50) Metaclimacograptus orientalis Obut et Sob., Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth); (loc. S-77103 = R-783-7/48,65-48,7) Hedrograptus sp., Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. S-77104 = R-783-7/49,05-49,10) Paraclimacograptus sp., Hedrograptus sp., Glyptograptus sp., Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. R-783-7/49,80-49,90) Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Hedrograptus sp., Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Coronograptus sp., (loc. R-783-7/50,30-50,40) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Monograptus (s.l.) sp., (loc. R-783-7/51,00-51,10) Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. R-783-7/ 51,65-51,70) Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), Monograptus (s.l.) sp., Pribylograptus sandersoni (Lapworth), (loc. R-783-7/52,10-52,20) Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. R-783-7/52,30-52,40) Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. R-783-8/52,50-52,60) Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), Dimorphograptus swanstoni Lapworth, (loc. S-77106 = R-783-8/53,50-53,60) Metaclimacograptus orientalis Obut et Sob., Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Dimorphograptoides) aff. physophora (Nicholson), Pernerograptus sp., Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), (loc. S-77107 = R-783-8/54,15-54,20) Metaclimacograptus hughesi (Nicholson), Hedrograptus sp., Diplograptus sp., Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Glyptograptus sp., Orthograptus mutabilis (Elles et Wood), (loc. R-783-8/54,50-54,60) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), (loc. R-783-8/55,10-55,20) Metaclimacograptus orientalis Obut et Sob., Paraclimacograptus innotatus (Nicholson), Hedrograptus sp., Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth), Dendrograptidae,

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Trilobites	Scoleco- donts	Other groups	Graptolites
		cometa				R-783-5/27,50-27,60 R-783-5/26,80-26,90 R-783-5/26,35-26,40 R-783-5/25,75-25,80 S-7790 = R-783-5/25,30-25,40 S-7789 = R-783-5/24,45-24,50 S-7788 = R-783-5/24,05-23,10				••
Aeronian	ty osy	triangularis	3	34		R-783-6/44,65-44,70 S-77100 = R-783-6/44,10-44,20 R-783-6/43,55-43,60 S-7799 = R-783-6/42,70-42,80 S-7798 = R-783-6/42,00-42,10 S-7797 = R-783-6/40,70-40,80 S-7797 = R-783-6/40,30-40,40 S-7794 = R-783-6/40,30-40,40 S-7794 = R-783-6/39,70-39,80 S-7793 = R-783-6/33,50-38,60 S-7792 = R-783-6/37,70-37,80 S-7791 = R-783-6/37,70-37,80 S-7791 = R-783-6/37,70-37,80 S-7791 = R-783-6/37,70-37,80 S-7791 = R-783-6/37,70-37,80 S-7791 = R-783-6/37,70-37,80 S-7791 = R-783-6/37,10-36,20 R-783-6/32, 20-35, 30 R-783-6/32, 80-32,90 R-783-6/29, 90-30,00 R-783-6/28, 15-28,20 R-783-6/28, 15-28,20 R-783-8/57, 20-57, 25	•		•••	 Diplo graptus sp. Diplo graptus sp. Accograptus hughesi (Nicholson) faclimacograptus orientalis Obut et Sob. faclimacograptus orientalis Obut et Sob.
	orye Ut	cyphus				R-783-8/56, 40-56, 50 R-783-8/55, 80-55, 90 R-783-8/55, 10-55, 20 R-783-8/54, 50-54, 60 S-77107=R-783-8/54, 15-54, 20 S-77106=R-783-8/53, 50-53, 60 R-783-8/52, 50-52, 60 R-783-7/52, 30-52, 40 R-783-7/51, 65-51, 70 R-783-7/51, 65-51, 70 R-783-7/51, 00-51, 10 R-783-7/10, 90-54, 10 S-77103=R-783-7/48, 05-49, 10 S-77103=R-783-7/48, 05-48, 7 R-783-7/46, 10-46, 20 S-77101=R-783-7/45, 80-45, 90 R-783-7/45, 65-45, 70	Warburgella calvata Yolkin ● Gen. et sp. indet.		Brachiopods	sp
Rhuddanian	V t	extenuatus, sibiricus	2	22		S-77113=R-783-8/65, 80-65, 90 S-77112=R-783-8/62, 50-62, 60 S-77111=R-783-8/59, 60-59, 70 S-77110=R-783-8/58, 90-59, 00 R-783-8/58, 60-58, 70 S-77109=R-783-8/58, 20-58, 30		s sp. •	ods •	graptus persculptus (Salter) graptus ecuminatus (Nicholson) graptus sci graptus sci graptus sp. uiptograptus ex gr. persculptus (Salter Metabolgraptus norme
Hirnantian		sculp- tus natus	1	5,5		R-783-5/20, 40-20, 50 R-783-3/19, 70-19, 80 S-7787=R-783-3/18, 65-18, 70 R-783-3/18, 25-18, 30 S-7786R-783-3/17, 55-17, 60 R-783-17, 35-17, 40 R-783-2/16, 15-17, 20 R-783-2/16, 65-16, 70 S-7785=R-783-2/16, 5-16, 55		Paulinites	Ostrac Crino	Persculpto

Fig. 24. Ranges of fossil taxa from Voskresenka-4 section.

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Graptolites
3	34	$\begin{array}{c} R-783-5/27, 50-27, 60 \\ R-783-5/26, 80-26, 90 \\ R-783-5/26, 35-26, 40 \\ S-7790 = R-783-5/25, 30-25, 40 \\ S-7789 = R-783-5/25, 30-25, 40 \\ S-7789 = R-783-5/25, 30-25, 40 \\ S-7789 = R-783-5/23, 30-25, 40 \\ S-7783 = R-783-5/23, 30-25, 40 \\ S-7783 = R-783-5/23, 30-25, 40 \\ S-7790 = R-783-6/44, 52-33, 10 \\ R-783-6/43, 55-43, 60 \\ S-7799 = R-783-6/42, 70-42, 80 \\ S-7798 = R-783-6/40, 70-40, 80 \\ S-7794 = R-783-6/40, 70-40, 80 \\ S-7795 = R-783-6/36, 30-40, 40 \\ S-7794 = R-783-6/36, 30-40, 40 \\ S-7794 = R-783-6/36, 30-40, 40 \\ S-7794 = R-783-6/36, 10-36, 20 \\ R-783-6/35, 20-35, 30 \\ R-783-6/32, 10-30, 20 \\ R-783-6/32, 10-30, 20 \\ R-783-6/32, 10-30, 20 \\ R-783-6/29, 90-30, 00 \\ R-783-6/28, 50-29, 00 \\ R-783-6/28, 50-29, 00 \\ R-783-8/55, 80-55, 90 \\ R-783-8/55, 10-55, 20 \\ R-783-8/55, 50-54, 60 \\ S-77107 = R-783-8/54, 15-54, 20 \\ S-77107 = R-783-8/54, 15-54, 20 \\ R-783-7/52, 30-52, 40 \\ R-783-7/52, 30-52, 40 \\ R-783-7/52, 30-52, 40 \\ R-783-7/51, 00-51, 10 \\ R-783-7/51, 00-57, 10 \\ R-783-7/51, 00-57, 100 \\ R-783-7/47, 80-45, 90 \\ R-783-7/47, 80-45, 90 \\ R-783-7/45,$	 () () () () () () () () () () () () () (
		S-77113=R-783-8/65, 80-65, 90 S-77112=R-783-8/62, 50-62, 60	(Nicholso (Nicholso (Lapwort) newskyi Clapwort aekskyi Clapol araclima aptoides) Demi
		S-77111=R-783-8/59, 60-59, 70	s (Ella s) phographical s) phographical s)
		S-77110=R-783-8/58, 90-59, 00) aman aptus cp imror Dimor
2	22	R-783-8/58, 60-58, 70	raptus aptus adrograpt adrograpt ptus (I
		S-77109=R-783-8/58, 20-58, 30	Idonthog Jyptograp Coora H aclimac orthogra
		Yo-7047=R-783-8/57, 60-58, 00	s (Pseu sectifon Pseud
1	5,5	R-783-5/20, 40-20, 50 R-783-3/19, 70-19, 80 R-783-3/19, 20-19, 50 S-7787=R-783-3/18, 65-18, 70 R-783-3/18, 25-18, 30 S-7786=R-783-3/17, 55-17, 60 R-783-2/17, 15-17, 20 R-783-2/16, 65-16, 70 S-7785=R-783-2/16, 5-16, 55	Pseudorthograptu in

(loc. R-783-8/55,80–55,90) Hedrograptus sp., Glyptograptus sp., Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), (loc. R-783-8/56,40-56,50) Dictyonema sp., (loc. R-783-8/57,20-57,25) Paraclimacograptus innotatus (Nicholson), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Glyptograptus sp., Diplograptus sp., Orthograptus mutabilis (Elles et Wood), Coronograptus cyphus (Lapworth) were identified.

From loc. S-77106 = R-783-8/53,50-53,60 trilobites Warburgella calvata Yolk. have been found together with graptolites.

At twenty one levels from interval 45,3-27,8 m graptolites of the triangulatus, gregarius zone (lower part of Aeronian) (lower part of Middle Llandoverian) were recovered – (loc. R-783-6/28,15-28,20) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), (loc. R-783-6/28,90-29,00) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Orthograptus sp., Rastrites sp., (loc. R-783-6/29,20-29,30) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Rastrites sp., (loc. R-783-6/29,90-30,00) Glyptograptus sp., (loc. R-783-6/30,10-30,20) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Campograptus communis (Lapworth), (loc. R-783-6/32,80-32,90) Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Campograptus communis (Nicholson), Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Pseudoretiolites sp., Monograptus (s.l.) sp., (loc. R-783-6/33,50-33,60) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), (loc. R-783-6/ 34,10-34,20) Hedrograptus crivunensis (Obut), Hedrograptus rectangularis (McCoy), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Pernerograptus praecursor (Elles et Wood), (loc. R-783-6/35,20-35,30) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Campograptus curtus Obut et Sob., Rastrites sp., Tscharyshograptus dentatus Sennikov, (loc. S-7791 = R-783-6/36,10-36,20) Tsharyschograptus dentatus Sennikov, Hedrograptus rectangularis (McCoy), Hedrograptus sp., Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Petalolithus ovatoelongatus (Kurck), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Campograptus curtus Obut et Sob., Rastrites longispinus Perner, Pernerograptus cf. praecursor (Elles et Wood), Pseudoretiolites sp., Oktavites sp. (loc. S-7792 = R-783-6/37,70-37,80) Hedrograptus krivunensis (Obut), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Campograptus curtus Obut et Sob., Rastrites longispinus Perner, Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Monograptus (s.l.) sp., Pseudoretiolites sp., (loc. S-7793 = R-783-6/38,50-38,60) Tsharyschograptus altaicus Sennikov, Hedrograptus janishewskyi Obut, Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Petalolithus ovatoelongatus (Kurck), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Pernerograptus cf. praecursor (Elles et Wood), Monograptus (s.l.) sp., Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Campograptus curtus Obut et Sob., Oktavites sp., Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Rastrites hybridus (Lapworth), (loc. S-7794 = R-783-6/3970-39,80) Hedrograptus janishewskyi Obut, Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Normalograptus normalis (Lapworth), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Rastrites hybridus Lapworth, Paradiversograptus cf. capillaris (Carruthers), Pseudoretiolites sp., Oktavites sp., (loc. S-7795 = R-783-6/40,30-40,40) Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Petalolithus ovatoelongatus (Kurck), Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Campograptus curtus Obut et Sob., Paradiversograptus capillaris (Carruthers), Rastrites sp., Oktavites sp., (loc. S-7796 = R-783-6/40,70-40.80) Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Hedrograptus sp., Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Orthograptus sp., Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Pernerograptus praecursor (Elles et Wood), Monograptus (s.l.) sp., Pseudoretiolites sp., (loc. S-7797 = R-783-6/41,60-41,70) Lithuanograptus serus Paskevicius, Hedrograptus rectangularis (McCoy), Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Petalolithus ovatoelongatus (Kurck), Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Pernerograptus praecursor (Elles et Wood), Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Rastrites hybridus Lapworth, Oktavites sp., (loc. S-7798 = R-783-6/42,00-42,10) Lithuanograptus serus Paskevicius, Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Petalolithus sp., Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Campograptus curtus Obut et Sob., Coronograptus gregarius gregarius (Lapworth), Rastrites hybridus Lapworth, Pseudoretiolites sp., (loc. S-7799 = R-783-6/42,70-42,80) Normalograptus scalaris (Hisinger), Hedrograptus krivunensis (Obut), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Coronograptus gregarius gregarius (Lapworth), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Paradiversograptus capillaris (Carruthers), Oktavites sp., (loc. R-783-6/43,55-43,60) Hedrograptus rectangularis (McCoy), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Rastrites hybridus (Lapworth.), Oktavites sp., Pseudoretiolites sp., (loc. S-77100 = R-783-6/44,10-44,20) Metaclimacograptus hughesi (Nicholson), Lithuanograptus serus Paskevicius, Normalograptus normalis (Lapworth), Hedrograptus janishewskyi Obut, Hedrograptus rectangularis (McCoy), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Petalolithus ovatoelongatus (Kurck), Lagarograptus inexpeditus Obut et Sob., Coronograptus gregarius gregarius (Lapworth), Pernerograptus praecursor (Elles et Wood), Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Rastrites hybridus Lapworth, Oktavites sp., Pseudoretiolites sp., Atavograptus sp., (loc. R-783-6/44,65-44,70) Hedrograptus rectangularis (McCoy), Glyptograptus tamariscus (Nicholson), Pseudorthograptus (Pseudorthograptus) insectiformis (Nicholson), Petalolithus ovatoelongatus (Kurck), Coronograptus gregarius gregarius (Lapworth), Campograptus communis (Lapworth), Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus (Harkness), Rastrites hybridus Lapworth, Pseudoretiolites sp., Oktavites sp.

At six levels from interval 27,8–23 m graptolites of the *cometa* zone (Middle Aeronian) (upper part of Middle Llandoverian) have been obtained – (loc. S-7788 = R-783-5/23,05-23,10) *Tsharyschograptus dentatus* Sennikov, *Hedrograptus* sp., *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Nicholson), *Cephalograptus cometa extrema* Boucek et Pribyl, *Lagarograptus inexpeditus* Obut et Sob., *Campograptus curtus* Obut et Sob., *Demirastrites triangulatus triangulatus* (Harkness), *Demirastrites* sp., *Rastrites hybridus* Lapworth, *Rastrites longispinus* Perner, *Rastrites* sp., (loc. S-7789 = R-783-5/24,45-24,50) *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Nicholson), *Cephalograptus sp., Rastrites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/25,75-25,80) *Glyptograptus inexpeditus* Obut et Sob., (loc. S-7790 = R-783-5/25,30-25,40) *Glyptograptus* sp., *Rastrites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/25,75-25,80) *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Nicholson), *Cephalograptus cometa extrema* Boucek et Pribyl, *Lagarograptus inexpeditus* Obut et Sob., *Rastrites hybridus* Lapworth, (loc. R-783-5/26,35-26,40) *Tsharyschograptus altaicus* Sennikov, *Normalograptus scalaris* (Hisinger), *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Nicholson), *Orthograptus mutabilis* (Elles et Wood), *Pseudorthograptus communis* (Lapworth), *Campograptus curtus* Obut et Sob., *Paradiversograptus capillaris* (Carruthers), *Pseudoretiolites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/26,80-26,90) *Glyptograptus* sp., *Rastrites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/26,80-26,90) *Glyptograptus* sp., *Rastrites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/26,80-26,90) *Glyptograptus sp., Rastrites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/26,80-26,90) *Glyptograptus curtus* Obut et Sob., *Paradiversograptus capillaris* (Carruthers), *Pseudoretiolites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/26,80-26,90) *Glyptograptus* sp., *Rastrites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/26,80-26,90) *Glyptograptus* sp., *Rastrites* sp., (loc. R-783-5/27,50-27,60) *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Nicholson), *Cephalograptus cometa extrema* Boucek et Pribyl, *Coronograptus* ex gr. *gregarius* (Lapworth), *Campograptus communis* (Lapworth), *Rastrites* sp.

The base of member 2 is unexposed and the top of member 3 is truncated by a fault which separates it from the fault lens of Sandbian (Caradocian) limestone. The lower part of member 2, not constrained by faunas, may be older than the *extenuatus* zone and may be correlated with the *acuminatus-ascensus* zone.

All members of the section belong to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation which has an incomplete total thickness of more than 60 m.

Ditches R-785, R-786, R-787, R-788, and R-789 dug at every 20–30 m from the end of cut R-783 (79.3 m) toward 530.3 m mountain expose Silurian rocks of the Voskresenka-4 section; section contains graptolites of the *triangulatus* zone collected at R-785: *Pseudoretiolites* sp., *Campograptus curtus* Obut et Sob., R-786 – graptolites of the *cometa* zone *Cephalograptus cometa* (Geinitz) and from R-787 – *cometa* zone *Cephalograptus cometa* (Geinitz), R-788 – *cyphus* zone *Glyptograptus* sp., *Hedrograptus* sp., *Coronograptus cyphus* (Lapworth), R-789 – *extenuatus* zone *Glyptograptus* sp., *Metabolograptus sibiricus* (Obut).

In the ditch R-788 trilobites *Warburgella altaica* Yolk., *Warburgella calvata* Yolk., ostracods *Spinobolbina bispina* Abushik were recovered along with graptolites; graptolites of the *acuminatus-ascensus* zone (Lower Rhuddanian) found 70 m downhill from point 530.3 m toward the Voskresenka Brook headwaters (a small cut, loc. S-7766): *Akidograptus ascensus* Davies, *Persculptograptus* ex gr. *persculptus* (Salter); and graptolites *Metaclimacograptus orientalis* Obut et Sob. found 100 m south of point 530.3 m at R-7812.

3.1.2. Area of Maralikha Village

Pichuzhikha Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Floian, Dapingian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Lebed' Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Voskresenka Formation. Zones: densus, gibberulus graptolite zones. Fauna: graptolites.

Stratigraphically younger strata of the Voskresenka Formation crop out on the right bank of the Pichuzhikha Brook, 200 m far from the place where it enters the Charysh River terrace (Fig.25). The section from the water surface upwards includes (Fig. 26):

T IIICKIIESS,	ш
1. Siltstone: greenish-dark gray, thinly interbedded with fine sandstone; with graptolites Eotetragraptus sp. in upper layer	ers
(loc. S-8211-1/5)	5
2. Siltstone: silver-gray, with sporadic thin layers of fine sandstone; with graptolites (5 m above member base, loc. S-821	1-
2/5): Phyllograptus ilicifolius glaber Monsen, Expansograptus sp.	30

Thickness m

Thickness, m

The top of the section is truncated by a fault. Member 1 conventionally corresponds to the *approximatus* zone; member 2 and lower 20 m, member 3 – with the *balticus* subzone of the *densus* zone; upper 45 m, member 3 make up the *densus* subzone of the *densus* zone; lower 30 m, member 4 conventionally correlated with the *angustifolius elongatus* zone and its upper 40 m form the *gibberulus* zone; member 5 may correspond to the top of the Voskresenka Formation and may be assigned to Middle Darriwilian by analogy with the stratotype section of the Voskresenka Formation near Ust'-Chagyrka Village. Members 1 through 5 belong to the Voskresenka Formation and member 6 may belong to the Bugryshikha Formation. The total thickness of the Voskresenka Formation in the Pichuzhikha Section is 180 m.

Maralikha Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Dapingian, Darriwilian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Lebed' Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Voskresenka Formation. Zones: caduceus imitatus, hirundo, Cardiograptus, sinodentatus, austrodentatus graptolite zones.

Fauna: graptolites, nautiloids, crinoids, trilobites and brachiopods.

Section representing upper part of the Voskresenka Formation is cropped out on the right bank of the Charysh River Valley, near alt 352, 1 m. It is represented by specific rocks formed as a result of the under-water sliding. Stratigraphically upward are observed (section S-8212 – Maralikha) (Fig. 27):

Thickness, m
1. Alternation of greenish-gray siltstone and fine-grained polymictic sandstone. In 5 m from the top of the bed (loc. S-8212-
1/20) following graptolites have been found: Tristichograptus cf. ensiformis (Hall), Trigonograptus sp., Glossograptus aff. acanthus
Elles et Wood
2. Siltstone: vesicular with "twisting" (from 3 cm to 1 m) siltstone and fine-grained sandstone, non oriented, occupied up 50
% of rock
3. Alternation of the vesicular siltstone and fine-grained polymictic bedded sandstone
4. Alternation of gray fine-grained polymictic mudstone and sandstone. In 5 m from the member base (loc. S-8212-4/5)
graptolites Acrograptus cognatus (Harris et Thomas), Pendeograptus cf. pendens (Elles), Glyptograptus sp., Expansograptus
suecicus suecicus (Tullberg), Ex. extensus (Hall), Glossograptus aff. acanthus Elles et Wood have been obtained. In 20 m from the
member base (loc. S-0512=S-812-4/20) graptolites Expansograptus suecicus suecicus (Tullberg), Glossograptus acanthus Elles et
Wood, Isograptus caduceus imitatus Harris, Pseudoclimacograptus sp., ?Undulograptus sp. have been found. In 30 m (loc. S-8212-
4/30) graptolites Undulograptus sinodentatus (Mu et Lee), Undulograptus sp., Cardiograptus sp., Acrograptus cognatus (Harris et
Thomas), Loganograptus logani (Hall) were recovered. In 60 m from the member base (loc. S-8212-4/60) graptolites Expansograptus
taimyrensis Obut et Sob., Ex. hirundo (Salter), Expansograptus sp., Tristichogratus sp., Glossograptus sp., Undulograptus sinodentatus
(Mu et Lee) have been obtained. From the top of the member (loc. S-0522=S-8212-4/65) Expansograptus (?) sp., Phyllograptus anna
anna Hall were collected
5. Conglomerate: gray with middle to coarse pebbles and nodules. Pebbles are 2-5 cm rarely up to 12 cm in diameter. Pebbles
are sorted due to clasts size, round, oriented by flatten surfaces according to bedding, other orientation was not observed. Pebbles
occupied up to 80 % of rock. In composition pebbles are represented by 50 % dark-gray limestone, 35 % siltstones and 15 %
mudstones. Mudstone are also observed as fragments of the "folded" intercalates (10-15 cm length, thickness 1-3 cm). Matrix
consisted of fine-middle-grained sandstone and siltstone. Fragments of crinoids, trilobites and brachiopods could be found in matrix

6. Siltstone: gray with single fine (5–7 cm, rarely 10 cm) light-gray to light-greenish gray, fine-grained polymictic sandstone intercalates (Fig. 28). Siltstone possess fine cross-bedding. In 5 m from the member base (loc. S-072 = S-8112-6/5) graptolites Undulograptus austrodentatus (Harris et Keble), Undulograptus sinodentatus (Mu et Lee), Undulograptus aff. sinicus (Mu et Lee) Undulograptus sp. have been recovered from sandstones. In 15 m from the member base (loc S-0523=S-8212-6/15) Undulograptus

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites
riwilian	Bugryshikha		6	>20			(b.
Dar			5	10			<i>us</i> (Tullbe
-? Dapingian	Voskresenka densus ? Uapıngıan .> Voskresenka densus ? elongatus ? rulus ?	?angustifolius l gibbe- l elongatus l rulus l	4	70	20 S-8211-4/52 S-8211-4/52 S-8211-4/20 S-8211-4/20 S-8211-4/20 S-8211-4/20 S-8211-4/20 S-8211-4/20	ti)) opulentus Monsen rmquist onsen ex gr. angustifolius Hall atus (Brongniart) e Expansograptus suecicus suecicu e Eotetragraptus harti (Hall) Isograptus gibberuius (Nicholson) •	
Floian		densus	3	65		S-8211-3/30 = 3207 S-8211-3/10 = 3206	 Phyllograptus ilicifolius glaber Monse Expansograptus ex gr. extensus (Hal Expansograptus en siformis (Hall) Tristichograptus en siformis (Hall) Phyllograptus densus for a phyllograptus densus to Ph. ilicifolius glaber Mi Pseudophyllograptus et a glaber Mi Glyptograptus cf. dent
		approxi- matus	2	30		S-8211-2/5 S-8211-1/5	 Eotetragraptus sp. Expansograptus sp. Expansograptus sp.

Fig. 26. Ranges of fossil taxa from Pichuzhikha section.

8. Siltstone: vesicular with "twisting" structures of the same composition, occupied up to 50% of the rock. Their size in the



Fig. 25. Sketch map of the Charysh River, right bank, upstream from Maralikha Village.

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Lithology	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Other fauna
			11	250				
u			10	120				
i w i l i a	n k a	£	9	140	- <u>0</u> 0 0 0		(eble)	
Darr	e s e	_9_	8 80	omas) berg) de <i>ntatus</i> (Mu et Lee)) ut et Sob. <i>sus</i> (Mu et Lee) <i>cus</i> (Mu et Lee) <i>s</i> p. indet.	s ● Nautiloids			
			7	20			et Thr et Thr Vood is sino sis Oc sis Oc sis Oc austr austr n. et :	obite
	V o s k	austrodentatus	6	~80		S-8212-6/65 S-0523= S-8212-6/15 S-072= S-8212-6/5	 (Hall) f. acanthus Elles et W f. acanthus Elles et W f. pendens (Harris f. pendens (Elles) extensus (Hall) pius suecicus suecicu us acanthus Elles et V aduceus imitatus Harr acograptus sp. entertus sp. pius supras sp. entertus sp. indulograptus aff entertus sp. 	Crinoids Brachiopods Ari
		do aptus tatus	5	0,5-1	<u></u>	S-0522= S-812-4/65	mmis (us sp. us sp. us sp. us sp. us sp. sp. us sp. sp. no. no. no. no. no. no. no. no	•••
	ca	Sinodent	4	65		S-8212-4/60 S-8212-4/30 S-0521=	cf. ensify sp. ossograp ossograp parsograp ere flossc flossc flossc ca ca ca	
gian	Ľ	atus	-			Š-812-4/20 S-8212-4/5	aaptus - • • 00/ • • • E X • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
apinę		elong	3	25			chogr 0.00 1	
		ifolius Ilus	<u>۹</u> 2 15	15			Trig	
		angusti gibberu	1	25		S-8212-1/20	• • •	

Fig. 27. Ranges of fossil taxa from Maralikha section.



Fig. 28. Rhythmical alternation of mudstones and fine-grained sandstones in the Ordovician Voskresenka Formation, Maralikha section, member 6.



Fig. 31. Underwater-sliding structures (diameter up to 20 cm) in siltstones in the Ordovician Voskresenka Formation, Maralikha section, member 10.



Fig. 29. Giant underwater-sliding structures (diameter up to 7–8 m) in siltstones in the Ordovician Voskresenka Formation, Maralikha section, analogues of member 8.



Fig. 30. Diagram (in modern coordinates) for directions of non-lithified movement during underwater sliding in Maralikha section (A- member 6, B – member 8).

A tectonic dislocation binds the top of the section.

Beds 1–3, as well as lower 20 m of the bed 4 of the Maralikha section could be aligned with *angustifolius elongatus* and *gibberulus* zones according to the collected graptolites. Interval from the 20 to 29 m of the bed 4 coincides with *I. caduceus imitatus* zone. Interval from the 30 m up to the top of the bed 4 and provisionally bed 5 of the section were aligned with *hirundo, Cardiograptus, sinodentatus* zone. Base of the 6 bed is aligned with lower Darriwilian boundary, overlain by *austrodentatus* zone.

All beds of the Maralikha section are assigned to Voskresenka Formation. Total thickness of the Voskresenka Formation within this section is more than 800 m.

3.1.3. Area of Bugryshikha Village

Altai Mountain Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Darriwilian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha Formation. Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods.

Middle Ordovician strata in the lower part of the composite stratotype section of the Bugryshikha Formation crop out near Bugryshikha Village, on the left bank of the Belaya River and along the right and left banks of the lower Bugryshikha River (left tributary of the Belaya River). The lowermost member of the Bugryshikha Formation is exposed on Altai Mt. (Fig. 32) that descends in a bluff into the Belaya River on its left bank below the Bugryshikha inflow. The documented section (S-071) includes the following members, listed downstream (Fig.33):

I hickness, m
1. Mudstone, siltstone, and less often fine sandstone, gray; with trilobites and brachiopods
2. Syndepositional breccia (size of clasts 1-2 cm, rarely 3 cm) of siltstone, mudstone, and fine sandstone in a siltstone matrix
clasts occupy up to 80 % of rock volume 0.2
3. Mudstone and siltstone: gray, slightly calcareous, with conglomerate-like layers (lenses) with few floating carbonate
concretions (3-5 cm in diameter) of dark gray clayey limestone; with trilobites and brachiopods (Fig. 34)
4. Silty sandstone and siltstone: silver-gray or dark gray, lumpy, with traces of soft sediment slumping (up to 2-3 cm long and
1 cm wide tongues) over 10
5. Mudstone and siltstone: dark gray or black, thin-bedded; frequent pyrite crystals indicate deposition in anoxic conditions
siltstone contains small (5 cm long and 2 cm thick) mudstone lenses
6. Siltstone and sandstone: fine, lumpy, wave-bedded over 100
From the first and third beds of the Altai Mountain section directly in the coastal cliff of Belaya River (loc. 216 and
216a) trilobites - Lonchodomas sagittatus Levit., Nileus tengriensis Web., Homotelus angustus Petrun., brachiopode

.....



Fig. 32. General view of the exposure along left bank of Belaya River, Altai Mountains.



Fig. 34. Massive mudstones and siltstones of the Ordovician Bugryshikha Formation, Altai Mountain section, member 3.

Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Glyptorthis primus Severg., Atelelasma subdorsokonvexum Severg., Ujukites tarlykensis Andreeva have been found. From the rocks analogue to the third bed of the described section, on the flatten top of the Altai Mt. (loc. 803) brachiopods – Ujukites tarlykensis Andreeva were collected, and at the western slope of the Altai Mt., near Bugryshikha Village (loc. 178) brachiopods – Glyptorthis primus Severg. Possibly at the same stratigraphic level on the right bank of the Bugryshikha River, near Bugryshikha Village (loc. F-10) brachiopods Atelelasma subdorsoconvexum Severg. in Rozman. have been recovered.

All members, of a total thickness of 300 m, belong to the lower Bugryshikha Formation.

The Altai Mountain section is extended upwards with the Bugryshikha Section, 1.5 km far to the northwest, on the other side of the same synclinal fold.

Bugryshikha Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Darriwilian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha Formation. Zones: teretiusculus graptolite zone.

Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites.

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Trilobites	Brachiopods
<u>S</u>		6	>100				
l i a n	ikha	5	40			<i>tus</i> Levit. :b. Petrun.	Severg. sverg. <i>konvexum</i> Severg. ndreeva
i	٦	4	>10		č	agittai sis We ıstus F	taica S nus Se dorso nsis A
Darriw	Bugrys	4 3	50		216a	Lonchodomas s Nileus tengriens Homotelus ang	Archaeorthis al Glyptorthis prin Atelelasma sub Ujukites tarlyke
		2	0,2		44444		
		1	100		216	•	

Fig. 33. Ranges of fossil taxa from Altai Mountain section.

The Bugryshikha section occurs northwest of the Altai Mountain section, 150 m from 580.8 m mountain at azimuth 190°. The documented section includes the following members, listed downhill toward Bugryshikha Village (Fig. 35):

Thic	kness, m
1. Siltstone and mudstone, variegated	20
2. Sodded interval	5

ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI

 Sandstone and siltstone: dark green to light green or brown, fine	
5 Sandstone and siltstone: light gray polymictic fine gray At the bottom of the bed (loc S-78126) grant	olites Hustedographus
teretiusculus (Hisinger) Amplexograptus perexcavatus (Lapwrth) Pseudoclimacograptus sharenbergi (Lapw	orth) Glossograptus
hincksi (Honkinson) Cryptograptus tricornis (Carruthers) Acrograptus sp. were found Trilobites and bra	chiopods <i>Glyptorthis</i>
primus Severg. University Andreeva, Endolmanella aff, socialis (Barr.) have been recovered (locs, 180)a. 180b. 180c. 180 d)
r	
6. Sandstone and fine siltstone: dark gray or black, more rarely greenish-gray; with graptolites <i>Diplograp</i> loc. S-78127).	<i>ptus</i> sp. (member top, 22
7. Siltstone: dark green to dark gray	
8. Sodded interval	
9. Mudstone and siltstone: black, clayey	over 5
10. Sandstone: light gray, fine; with brachiopods, ostracods, and crinoids (at member base, loc. 181)	
11. Interbedded siltstone and black fine sandstone	
12. Siltstone: dark gray; with graptolites Glyptograptus sp. (member top, loc. S-78128)	
13. Siltstone: brownish, greenish or dark olive-gray	
14. Siltstone or less often fine sandstone: light greenish-gray. At the lower third of the bed the following	g fauna was collected:
(loc. S-78130) graptolites Diplograptus sp., (loc. 182 and 183) trilobites. At the middle of the bed (loc. 184) - tr	ilobites, brachiopods,
(loc. 185) trilobites	
15. Siltstone: black; with graptolites (at member base, loc. S-78131) Climacograptus sp., Glyptograptu	s sp. At the top of the
bed (loc. S-78132) graptolites Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus sp., Leptograptus sp. were collected	
All members belong to the lower half of the Bugryshikha Formation. The section is 850 m	thick, and the total
thickness of the composite stratotype section of the Bugryshikha Formation is 1000 m (without	the lowermost and
uppermost strata). Findings of graptolites in member 5 correspond to the teretiusculus zone. Acco	rding to graptolite,
trilobite, and brachiopod assemblages, the Bugryshikha Formation in its stratotype section is align	ed with the Upper

Darriwilian-Lower Sandbian (Middle-Upper Llanvirnian - Lower Caradocian).

The Altai Mountain section is extended upwards by the Malaya Uskuchevka section located 1 km far to the southeast on the other side of the same anticlinal fold, on the right bank of the Belaya River.

Malaya Uskuchevka Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Darriwilian, Sandbian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha and Khankhara regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha and Khankhara formations. Zones: multidens (subzones antiquus lineatus, wilsoni) graptolite zone.

Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites.

A large part of the Bugryshikha and Khankhara formations crops out on the right bank of the Malaya Uskuchevka River (right tributary of the Belaya River), uphill from the roadway. The section (S-8351) may be considered a parastratotype of the Khankhara Formation as its members exactly match those in the parastratotype section along the Bolshaya Uskuchevka River (Fig. 36):

1. Siltstone: gray, light gray or locally bluish, clayey. At the upper part of the bed (loc. 6) the following trilobites fauna was found - Trinodus sp., Bronteopsis transversalis Petrun., Eorobergia striata Petrun., Eorobergia urceolata Petrun., Nileus tengriensis Weber, Remopleurides uscutchevensis Petrun., Lonchodomas cf. laevisculus (Bill.), Lonchodomas cf. semicostatus (Bill.), Telephina möbergi Haddingover 50

2. Siltstone: light gray or gray dark gray in upper layers, with black interbeds, clayey. At the lower part of the bed (loc. 8a) brachiopods Eodalmanella aff. socialis (Barrande) were distinguished, as well as (loc. S-7645) trilobites Cybelurus planus Levit., graptolites Geitonograptus gavia Sinnikov, Diplograptus multidens Elles et Wood, Climacograptus antiquus lineatus Elles et Wood, Climacograptus sp., (loc. S-7745) Geitonograptus sp., Diplograptus sp., (loc. S-7746) trilobites Cybelurus planus Lev., Lonchodomas cf. semicostatus (Bill.), graptolites Dicranograptus sp., Climacograptus ex gr. wilsoni (Lapworth), Dicellograptus sp., Diplograptus sp.about 70

3. Siltstone: dark silver-gray, nearly black, thick-bedded (10-20 cm), often massive, with scarce light bluish-gray interbeds. In the middle part of the bed (loc. S-7747) trilobites Lonchodomas cf. semicostatus (Bill.), Lonchodomas cf. laevisculus (Bill.) were

4. Mudstone: bluish-gray, clayey, massive, locally cavernous. At the upper part of the bed (loc. S-7748) trilobites Lonchodomas sp., Homotelus sp., Nileus tengriensis Weber and graptolites Dicellograptus aff. divaricatus rigidus Lapworth, Diplograptus ex. gr.

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Brachiopods	Other groups
			15	24		S-78132 S-78131	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
			14	390	***	185 184 183 182 S-78130	• • acograptus sp. Le ptogra	•	•
			13	65			Diplograptus sp. Clin		
	а	s	12	20		S-78128	●. sb.		
i i	hikh	c u l u	11	50		2	Glyptograptu		
≥	s	n N	10	20		181	orth)	•	••
·	Х	-	9	>5	=	101	th)		sbi
ר ר	g r	r e t	8	35	+ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$		<i>us</i> (Hisinger <i>tus</i> (Lapwor r <i>enbergi</i> (La kinson) rruthers)	everg. Indreeva <i>cialis</i> (Barr.)	Ostracc Crino
σ	П	t e	7	20			etiuscul srexcava otus sha sksi (Hop mis (Ca	rimus Se Ikensis F a aff. soo	
	ш		6	22		S-78127	raptus ter raptus pe macogra ptus hinc ptus trico us sp.	ptorthis p kites tarl) Jalmanell	
			5	30		180d 180g 180b 180a	Hustedog Amplexog Pseudoci Glossogra Cryptogra	Gly €●●● Gly	•
			4	5	¥ ¥ ¥ ¥ ¥	S-78126			ites
			3	145	****				Trilobi
			2	5	<u>↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓</u>				
			1	20					

Fig. 35. Ranges of fossil taxa from Bugryshikha section.

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	5	Graptoli	tes															
			26	10		S-7760				•															
	ıara		<u>25</u> 24	<u>3</u> 40		30 26a	• 00 00 • • • •			r <i>aptus</i> sp															
	X		23	15				aell		otog															
	Å		22	10		S-7758	Ctack Sec	Tog		Lep															
c			21	20			evi Pli.e																		
oia	-		20	10	010		Itaic itch is L																		
Sandl			19	40			rthis a s uscu schich seens																		
0)			18	20			ecto orthi ugry		1																
			17	40			Pli Pli Altae una b ina ter			iraptus															
			16	15			Birr																		
			15	40		S-7753	Гер Г																		
?		·—	1.1	10																					
		L L	14	10																					
		s	13	30																					
		/ i l	12	30		15	• •																		
			11	40			Rozm			nniko															
		S		_			Cae Cae			s s															
c	a L	L L				13	itai			inui															
	\mathbf{x}	q	10	100			ha a			is te															
σ	.— 						orp			ant															
	y s	n l	8-9	7			speror patom			jeinitzi															
_	g L	Е	7	80		10	H A			aptus g															
	Ъ					S-7750			ds s	• ogre															
	۳																ŀ	6 2	20					ptu:	sp.
					_	70	202226				gra	otus R													
3			5	10	21			poo) ranı	gra															
-		00	00	00	00	0	0	03				-			0 77 10		₹	Dic	/ptc						
												S-7748		e v	n Md	€g Ggt									
L						4	150		ŝ.	(i)		/000	No												
							ande	ov atus	et V soni	et															
<u> </u>		-					arra	ine;	wilk	lles															
					222		s (B	Ser	ar ar	igio Is E															
σ					금금금		iali	via tiqu	feu:	der															
			3	200	2:2:2	S-7747	soc	s an s an	ultic us s us s ptu.	icat															
					+		and	otus ptus xtus	s m aptu ogra	ivar jr. n															
					2:2:2:2:		ella	graj graj grap	ograd	ех о ех															
							nan	ono aco atog	ogre Sitol	tus a															
		_				S-7746	dalr	Seit Slim	di O	aptu															
	1	s s	2	10		S-7645	EO		•	bold															
	UL:H	tiquu	2			88	•			Dil															
		ant	1	>50		0				ā															



Bed	m	Location of fossils	Trilobites
26 25 24	10 3 40	5-7760 30 26a	ភ្នំ ភ្នំ មួ ឆ្នាំ ភ្នំ ភ្នំ ភ្នំ ភ្នំ ភ្នំ ភ្នំ ភ្នំ ភ្ន
23 22 21 20	15 10 20 10	S-7758	dding dding Thaleops sp. Tormis Petrun Cereurinus sp Tarburgee D Harpes Stenopareies Stenopareies Stenopareies Stenopareies
19 18 17	40 20 40		Petrun. ber <i>isculus</i> (Bill.) <i>icostatus</i> (Bill.) <i>hina mobergi</i> Ha. <i>hocephalina lenti</i> <i>Am</i> <i>Amopleurides</i> c
16 15 14	15 40 10	S-7753	Petrun. bergia urceolata sengia urceolata ppleurides uscutc hodomas cf. sem budomas cf. sem urus planus Lev. des sp. • Pr.
13 12 11	30 30 40	15	oroberqia striata Mijer Remo Lond Cybel oldes Lu Spetrun Petrun Petrun Petrun Petrun Petrun Vila sp. ulax sp.
10	100	13	Eclippyge) commic comparing commission commi
<u>8-9</u> 7 6	7 80 20	12 S-7750	setchnurus vlad ks sp. • etrun. • Nileu Fonctio Homo Lonchodomas (F Raymondella
5	70	S-7748	P. • Cybelurr
4	150		etrun. Lonchodomas s Homotelus s
3	200	S-7747	s transversalis F
2	70 >50	S-7746 S-7745 S-7645 8a 6	Bronteops:

6. Sandstone: greenish-gray, polymictic, fine
7. Mudstone: dark gray, locally almost black, clayey. At the lower part of the bed (loc. S-7750) graptolites Glyptograptus sp.,
(loc. 12) trilobites Cybelurus sp., Nileus tengriensis Weber, Lonchodomas cf. laevisculus (Bill.), Lonchodomas cf. semicostatus
(Bill.), Homotelus angustus Petrun. have been recovered
8. Conglomerate: fine to medium, unsorted, with 0.5 to 3 cm, rarely to 5 cm quartz or quartzite pebbles of medium roundness
that occupy 10-20 % to 60-70 % of rock volume in fine-medium quartz sandstone cement; conglomerate occurs as a 15 m long lens
and is replaced by sandstone of member 9 as the lens pinches out over 1
9. Sandstone: rather quartz, medium-grained, polymictic, with sporadic 1 cm floating quartz pebble of low or medium
roundness
10. Mudstone: bluish-gray, clayey. At the upper part of the bed (loc. 13) trilobites Pasetchnurus vladimiri Petrun., Homotelus
sp., Telephina möbergi Hadding, Eorobergia striata Petrun., Eorobergia urceolata Petrun., Cybelurus planus Levit., Encrinuroides
sp., Lonchodomas cf. laevisculus (Bill.), Lonchodomas cf. semicostatus (Bill.) were collected
11. Mudstone: silver-gray clayey40
12. Siltstone: greenish-dirty gray to yellowish-gray; clayey cement. In the middle part (loc. 15) the following fauna was
recovered: trilobites Lonchodomas cf. laevisculus (Bill.), Lonchodomas cf. semicostatus (Bill.), Lonchodomas (Foliopyge) levis
Petrun., Lonchodomas (Foliopyge) communis Levit., Pasetchnurus grigorii Petrun., Sceptaspis unica Petrun., Raymondella
bugryshichiensis Petrun., Calyptaulax sp., Nileus cf. symphysuroides Lu, Nileus tengriensis Weber, Homotelus fluxus Petrun.,
Homotelus angustus Petrun., Homotelus ardufrontis Petrun., Cybelurus planus Levit., Remopleurella sp., Eorobergia urceolata
Petrun., Remopleurides uscutchevensis Petrun., Telephina möbergi Hadding, brachiopods Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Hesperorthis
markovae Rozm., as well as graptolites Reteograptus geinitzianus tenuis Sennikov
13. Mudstone: dark gray, clayey
14. Siltstone: light gray
15. Mudstone: greenish-gray, locally dark gray, clayey, strongly foliated. In the middle part of the bed (loc. S-7753) trilobites
Remopleurides sp., Telephina möbergi Hadding and graptolites Dicellograptus sp. were collected
16. Sandstone: greenish-gray, rather quartz, polymictic, fine
17. Interbedded greenish-gray siltstone and clayey mudstone
18. Sandstone: greenish-gray, rather quartz, polymictic, tine, with rare (at $1-3$ m) clayey substone interbeds
19. Mudstone: bluish-gray, clayey, slightly calcareous, with "loaves" of gray limestone, from 3-5 cm to 10-15 cm in diameter,
20 Limestone: gray colitic (colitics of <1 mm in diameter), floggy in layors and massive in unner layors = 10
20. Ennestone, gray, oblitic (oblites of <1 min in diameter), naggy in lower layers and massive in upper layers
eter) in unper lavers
22 Sandstone: greenish-gray highly calcareous fine. In the middle part of the hed (loc S-7758) grantolites. <i>Retaggraphics</i>
<i>geinitzianus temis</i> Sennikov were obtained
23. Siltstone: vellowish-dirty gray: limy cement
24. Mudstone: silver-gray, limy strongly foliated In the lower half of the bed (loc. 26a) trilohites Thaleons sp. Procentalina
Interview Petrun Cereurinus sp. Amplocularia sp. hrachionods – Anatomorpha altaica Severa Plectorthis altaicus Severa
Altaeorthis uscutchevi Severg Rimuria hygryschichiensis Severg Lentelling tennesseensis Ultret Coop were found and in the
upper half of the bed (loc. 30) - trilobites Harpes sp., Liches sp., Remonleurides cf. warburgae Dean, Eucrinuroides sp., Stenopareia
sp., Sceptaspis sp., Homotelus sp., Calvntaulax sp. and brachiopods Plectatryna sp., Togaella sp. were collected
25. Limestone: gray and dark gray, slightly argillaceous
26. Mudstone: greenish-gray, limy, with sporadic carbonate concretions (to 0.5 mm in diameter); with graptolites Leptograptus
sp. (middle layers, loc. S-7760)
The section is followed, toward the headwaters of the Malaya Uskuchevka River, by a more than 300 m thick
unexposed interval overlain by a succession of limestone, calcareous siltstone, and silty sandstone equivalent to
members 21 through 26 in S-8351 (see above) From the middle part of section the Bolshava Uskuchevka/Malava
Uskuchevka watershed trilohites (loc 39) Callions sn Homotelus sn Lonchodomas sn Bronteonsis cf gregoria
Paymond Carriekia chancharonsis Detrun Illagnus en brachionods Orthambonites inhoganicum Severa Altagorthis
Raymond, Carriena chan charensis i cirun, maenas sp., oracmopous ormanioonnes juooganicam Severg., maeorinis
usculchevi Severg., (Ioc. 59a) brachiopous Preciorinis analous Severg., Paurorinis sibirica Severg., Onniena
chancharica Severeg., Tilanamooniles elanaicus Severg., Soweroyella (Soweroyella) sibirica Severg., Bimuria
bugrychiensis Severg., Plectocamara uscuchiensis Severg. In the same area at the same stratigraphic level (loc. 3008,
3512) brachiopods Boreadorthis togaensis Severg., Multicostella (Chaulistomella) amzassensis Severg. have been
identified.
Members 1 through 19 belong to the Bugryshikha Formation; members 20 through 26 belong to the Khankhara
Formation. The incomplete thickness of the Bugryshikha Formation in the section is 980 m (without basal layers) and
that of the Khankhara Formation exceeds 110 m. Trilobite and brachiopod assemblages indicate a Late Darriwilian and
Early Sandbian (Llandelian and Early Caradocian) age of the section. Graptolites correspond to the <i>multidens</i> zone.
including the antiquus lineatus subzone at loc. S-7645 and the wilsoni subzone at other localities.

3.1.4. Area of Krasnoshchekovo Village

Suetka Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian. Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Siliceous-terrigenous sequence and Syrovaty Formation. Zones: supernus graptolite zone. Fauna: graptolites, radiolarians.

The Suetka section (loc. S-8223=S-0515-0518) occurs on the right bank of the Suetka River, 2 km upstream of Suetka Village, on the southern slope of 323.6 m mountain (Fig. 37). The section consists of (Fig. 38):

Thickness, m

1. Mudstone: dark silver-gray, thick-bedded (10-15 cm to 20-25 cm), interlayered with yellowish- and greenish-gray silicite (chert), often wavy-bedded, and with black or gray massive limestone, quite often granular; limestone occupies about 30 % of member volume, chert is up to 15 %, and mudstone is over 50 %; limestone occurs as silicified layers (up to 20 cm thick) or lenses that contain, in turn, microscopic layers and lenses of yellow siliceous mudstone; there are locally structures among limestone (up to 80 % vol.) including 1-3 cm thick and <0.5 m long layers folded in small current folds (with 0.3-0.5 m cores) which is signature of gravity-mixtite (olistostrome) origin of limestone (Fig. 39). Mudstone layers contain graptolites of the Middle Katian (Middle Ashgill) *supernus* zone (loc. 1801/1=S-8223): *Climacograptus longispinus supernus* Elles et Wood, *Climacograptus* ex gr. *longispinus* T.S.Hall, *Orthograptus amplexicaulis* (Hall).; silicites contain poorly preserved radiolarians (loc. S-0516): *Entactinia* sp. over 10

 2. Mudstone: gray or dark silver-gray, clayey and silicified
 ≈70

 3. Silicite (chert), dark silver-gray; with poor-preserved (loc. S-0517) radiolarians *Entactinia subulata* Web. et Bl., *Entactinia* sp.

The whole section, with a total thickness of about 70 m, belongs to the siliceous-terrigenous sequence and spans the *supernus* graptolite zone.

In the northwest the section borders, along a fault, black and dark silver-gray mudstone containing graptolites *Cohlograptus veles* (Richter) and brachiopods (loc. S-9021) is exposed. The described section fragment belongs to the Syrovaty Formation.

Pautikha Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: ?Gorstian, Ludfordian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Kuimov Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Kuimov Formation.

Zone: O. snajdri conodont zone.

Fauna: tabulate corals, trilobites, brachiopods, conodonts.

An Upper Silurian (Ludlowian) section corresponding to the Kuimov Formation occurs south of Krasnoshchekovo Village, on the right bank of the Pautikha River near its confluence with the Zemlyanushka River (Fig. 40). Detailed bedby-bed description of the section at the Pautikha site is impossible because of quite poor exposure. The exposed part of the Kuimov Formation comprises two large members (Fig. 41):

Thickness, m

1. Alternating 0.1 to 1.5 m layers of (a) limestone, gray or dark gray, clayey, platy (1-3 cm) and massive, bioclastic; (b) sandstone, dark olive-gray, polymictic, fine to medium, with limy cement; (c) siltstone and mudstone, brown and dark olive-gray, limy-clayey.

la. In limestones at the lower part of the bed (loc. 3209) brachiopods *Spirigerina supramarginalis* (Khalf.), (loc. 3210) brachiopods *Lissatrypa minuta* Kulk., *Ferganella* cf. *borealis* (Schloth.) were collected.

1b. At the middle part of the bed (loc. 3211) brachiopods *Lissatrypa minuta* Kulk., *Spirigerina* sp., crinoids *Mediocrinus* sp., *Tolenicrinus* sp., (loc. 3212) brachiopods *Lissatrypa minuta* Kulk., *Spirigerina supramarginalis* (Khalf.), *Ferganella* sp., (loc. I-984) conodonts *Spathognathodus inclinatus inclinatus* (Rhodes) [element *Ozarkodina excavata excavata* (Branson et Mehl), *Pelekysgnathus dubius* Jeppsson were recovered.

2. Limestone: alternating 1–1.5 m thick layers of gray and dark gray, bioclastic, with floating coarse and medium sand grains and mudstone, brown and dark olive-gray, limy-clayey, and siltstone.



Fig. 37. Sketch map of the Charysh River, left bank, upstream from Maralikha Village.

Thickness, m

2a. In limestones at the lower part of the bed (loc. 3214) trilobites Phacopidae, Proetidae, (loc. 4006/1) brachiopods *Lissatrypa minuta* Kulk., *Spirigerina supramarginalis* (Khalf.), *Strophonella* ex gr. *raricosta* (Northerp), *Leptaena* sp., *Eospirifer* sp., trilobites *Warburgella stokesii* (Murch.), *Ananaspis* sp., Otarionidae, Calymenidae, Cheiruridae have been collected.

2b. In the middle part of the bed (loc. 1749) brachiopods *Eospirifer* ex gr. *radiatus* (Sow.), *Stropheodonta* sp., *Atrypa* sp.



Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Grapto- lites	Radio- Iarians
	1		5	1	~~~~	S-0518		11
ntian	sequence		4	100			Elles et Wood .Hall	
na	snou	รทเ	3	3	2222 2222 2222	S-0517	ernus us T.S II)	
НİГ	iliceous-terriger	superr	2	70			graptus longispinus sup graptus ex gr. iongispin ptus amplexicaulis (Ha	<i>ctinia subulata</i> Web. et
Katian	S		1	10		S-0516 1801/1= S-8223	 Climaco, Climaco, Orthográ 	Entactinia sp.∙- Enta

2c. At the upper part of the bed – (loc. 4006) brachiopods Lissatrypa minuta Kulk., Spirigerina supramarginalis (Khalf.), Eospirifer ex gr. parvusKulk., Ferganella ex gr. borealis (Schloth.), Schellwienella ? sp., trilobites Warburgella stokesii (Murch.), War. verecunda Yolk., Prionopeltis sp., Cheiruridae, Calymenidae, tabulate corals Favosites gothlandicus Lam.

The total thickness of the Kuimov Formation in the section is 450 m.

Fig. 40. Sketch map of the location on right bank of Pautikha River (modified from Yolkin et al., 2001).



Fig. 39. First member of the siliceous-terrigenous strata in Suetka section: A- massive siliceous mudstones, B - cherts with ribbon structure.

orstian) Ludfordian		Stage
Киіточ	-	⁻ ormation
-> O. snajdri	_	Zone
2		Bed
~300		m
		Litho- logy
1749 4006/1 3214 3208 3213 I-984 3212 3211 3210	1000	Location of fossils
 Mediocrinus sp. Tolenicrinus sp. 		Crinoids
Favosites gothlandicus Lam.		Tabulate corals
 Ferganella cf. borealis (Schloth) Ferganella cf. borealis (Schloth) Spinigerna sp. Spinigerna sp. Ferganella sp. Ferganella sp. Ferganella sp. Atrypa sp. Atrypa sp. Strophonella ex gr. raricosta (Northerp) Leptaena sp. Eospinifer sp. Atrypa sp. Atrypa sp. Ferganella ex gr. parvus Kulkov Ferganella ex gr. borealis (Schloth) Tanusprinter pedaschenkoi Tchern. Schellwienella ? sp. Harpa sp. Eospinifer sp. Eospinifer sp. Atrypa sp. Calymenidae Calymenidae Cheruradae 		Brachiopods Trilobites
 Spathognathodus inclinatus inclinatus (Rhodes) [element Ozarkodina excavata excavata (Branson et Mehl) Pelekysgnathus dubius Jeppsson 		Cono- donts

Fig. 41. Ranges of fossil taxa from Pautikha section.

3.1.5. Area of Chineta Village

Chineta Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Sandbian, Katian, Rhuddanian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten' and Vtorye Utyosy regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten' and Vtorye Utyosy formations. *Zones: teretiusculus, wilsoni* and *clingani* graptolite zones. *Fauna*: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, conodonts.

A section that spans the Middle-Upper Ordovician Bugryshikha, Khankhara, and Tekhten' formations and the Lower Silurian Vtorye Utyosy Formation crops out at the northeastern end of Chineta Village, on the right bank of the Inya River (Fig. 42). The documented section includes the following members, listed down the southern slope of 609.3 m mountain (Fig. 43):

6. Mudstone: silver-gray or black, clayey~30

On the southern slope of 609.3 m mountain, the section is extended with a repetition of member 4 (see above), at least 100 m thick, composed of interbedded siltstone and fine sandstone, quite often slightly calcareous; in upper part there is an interbed of light gray fine to medium limy sandstone grading into sandy limestone; limestone contains trilobites and brachiopods (loc. S-812, 90 m far from point 609.3 m at azimuth 145°).

Equivalents of member 2 on the other side of the fold north of point 609.3 m contain graptolites *Diplograptus* sp., *Dicellograptus* sp. (loc. 2302/1).

Members 1 and 2 belong to the Bugryshikha Formation, members 3 through 4 belong to the Khankhara Formation, member 5 marks the base of the Tekhten' Formation, and member 6 correlates with the Vtorye Utyosy Formation.

Loc. S-795 in member 2 may correspond to the *teretiusculus* graptolite zone and loc. 2308 and 2308/1 in member 4 apparently belongs to the *wilsoni* and *clingani* zones.

The incomplete thickness of the Bugryshikha Formation in the section is at least 220 m, the Khankhara Formation is more than 120 m thick, the incomplete thickness of the Tekhten' Formation is at least 40 m, and that of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation exceeds 30 m.



ORDOVICIAN PALAEOGEOGRAPHY AND PALAEOCLIMATE

Burovlyanka Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian, Rhuddanian, Aeronian, Telychian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty formations. Zones: supernus (subzone ornatus), persculptus, acuminatus, angustus-sibiricus, triangulatus-gregarius, convolutus,

halli, guerichi graptolite zones. Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites.

Upper Ordovician and Lower Silurian strata crop out on the left bank of the Inya River opposite Chineta Village, on the divide of the Burovlyanka and Listvyanka brooks (Inya left tributaries) and along the left side of the Listvyanka Brook (Fig. 44). The fragment of section S-822 exposed on the southern slope of 591 m mountain, right upward from the Burovlyanka floodplain includes (Fig. 45):

Thickness, m

I. Limestone: gray, or light gray, massive, with sporadic poorly preserved crinoids in upper layers over 250 2. Limestone: gray, algal-biohetrmal, with mud patches ; 3×5 m biohetrms occupy 80-90 % of member volume and

10
3. Limestone: gray, algal-biohermal, in a greenish-gray silt-sandstone matrix; 1×2 m carbonate bioherms occupy 80–90 %
of member volume (Fig. 46)
4. Siltstone, silty sandstone, and fine limy-clayey sandstone, greenish-gray, locally black; member contains graptolites of the supernus zone, ornatus subrone (2, 4, and 48 m above member base): Dicellograptus ornatus ornatus (Elles et Wood, Glyptograptus of Siltstones and the middle part of the bed brachiopods were collected
5. Limestone: gray or black, clayey, flaggy; with trilobites Mucronaspis mucronata (Bronginart), in middle layers

floodplain toward the Burovlyanka/Listvyanka divide, and consists of:

Limestone: light gray, massive
 Silver-gray



Fig. 44. Sketch map of the location on the watershed of Burovlyanka and Listvyanka Rivers (modified from Sennikov et al., 1984).

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Trilobites	Graptolites	Other groups		
onian		SN	6 5	>100 >70		1738 S-833-5/70		(Hisinger)			
Aero		triangulat				S-833-4/240 S-833-4/235 S-833-4/222	1	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••			
		S				S-833-4/212 S-833-4/195 S-833-4/175 S-833-4/150		Sob. • Sob. • sep. • sep. • graptus sp. • graptus sp. • graptus sp. • erangularis (McCoy Denti Denti Agetograptus destins			
nddanian	Vtorye Utyosy	acumi- angustus, cy- natus sibiricus, phu	4	250		S-833-4/105 S-833-4/102 S-833-4/92 S-833-4/82 S-833-4/62 S-833-4/62 S-833-4/62 S-833-4/67	ta (Brongniart)	od Sobut) s (Obut) s (Obut) s (Obut) s (Obut) s (Obut) s (Obut) ptus sp. s (Obut) ptus sp. s (Carruth) stus (Perner) stus (Perner) tus capillaris (Carruth) stus (Perner) minisculus Obut et: "us capillaris (Carruth) stus (Perner) adeto, Ageto, Ageto, adono graptus praecursor (I			
Rhu	Rhudda V	persculptus ac	oersculptus	persculptus				S-833-4/54 S-833-4/36 S-833-4/34 S-833-4/25 S-833-4/23 S-833-4/20 S-833-4/18	cronaspis mucrona	s Elles et Wood ledemann) pernus Elles et Wo ren et Mikh. eren et Mikh. eren et Mikh. eren et Mikh. eren et Mikh. eren et Mikh. Parafus genesentus prus (Nalter) prus (Nalter) prus maslow Obut Coronograptus angus prus cyphus cyphu Permerog Permerog	
lirnantian		-	2 1	<u>3</u> 190 >100		S-833-4/10 S-833-4/5	• Wnc	us ormatus ormatus us formatus suratus tus fongispinus su tus fongispinus su- orgraptus sp migrifis Manck (• gr. persculptus (• Metabolog Metabolog Metabolog Metabolog Coronogra Coronogra Nor Coronogra			
an F	ten'	natus	6 5	>20 20		S-822-6/5 S-822-4/48	•	Dicellograph Glyptograph Glyptograph Glyptograph Glyptographus cf. k	rachiopods		
Kati	Tekh	supernus, orn	4 3 2	50 2 10		S-822-4/4 S-822-4/2		C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Crinoids		
			1	>250					Ĭ		

Fig. 45. Ranges of fossil taxa from Burovlyanka section.

4. Siltstone and mudstone: dark greenish-yellowish-gray, foliated; member contains graptolites at different depths, including graptolites of the *persculptus* zone in 0–36 m interval above member base: at 5th m from the base of the bed *Glyptograptus* sp., *Normalograptus* sp., *Climacograptus* cf. *longifillis* Manck; at 10th m – *Normalograptus* sp., *Glyptograptus* sp.; at 18th m – *Normalograptus* sp., *Glyptograptus* sp.; at 20th m – *Normalograptus* sp.; at 23^d m – *Glyptograptus* sp.; at 36th m – *Persculptograptus* sp.; at 34th m – *Normalograptus* sp.; at 36th m – *Persculptograptus* sp.; at 34th m – *Normalograptus* sp.; at 36th m – *Persculptograptus* sp.; at 36th m – *Normalograptus* sp.; at 36th m – *Nor*

In 54–72 m interval from the base of the bed *acuminatus* zone graptolites were collected: at 54th m – Normalograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., at 57th m – Parakidograptus acuminatus (Nicholson), *Glyptograptus* sp., *Hedrograptus* sp., at 62nd m – *Glyptograptus* sp., Normalograptus sp., at 68th m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., Normalograptus sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., Normalograptus sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., Normalograptus sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., Normalograptus sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., Normalograptus sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., *Slyptograptus* sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., *Slyptograptus* sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., *Slyptograptus* sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Slyptograptus* sp., *Slyptograptus* sp., at 72nd m – Parakidograptus sp., *Slyptograptus*
In 82–92 m interval from the base of the bed angustus, sibiricus zone graptolites were found: at 82nd m – Metabolograptus sibiricus (Obut), Metabolograptus moyeroensis (Obut), Dimorphograptus sp., Cystograptus sp., Hedrograptus sp., Metaclimacograptus sp., Rhaphidograptus maslovi Obut et Sob., at 92nd m – Metabolograptus moyeroensis (Obut), Coronograptus angustus (Obut), Pseudoclimacograptus sp., Cystograptus sp., Hedrograptus sp., Exponential Sp., Cystograptus sp., Cystograptus sp., Coronograptus sp., Cystograptus sp., Cyst

In 102–105 m interval from the base of the bed *cyphus* zone graptolites have been collected: at 102^{nd} m – *Coronograptus cyphus cyphus* (Lapworth), *Rhaphidograptus maslovi* Obut et Sob., *Normalograptus angustus* (Perner), at 105^{th} m – *Rhaphidoraptus maslovi* Obut et Sob., *Hedrograptus* sp.

In 150–240 m interval from the base of the bed triangulatus, gregarius zone graptolites have been found: at 150 m – Coronograptus gregarius minusculus Obut et Sob., Diversograptus capillaris (Carruthers), Hedrograptus sp., Pernerograptus sp., at 175th m – Demirastrites pectinatus (Richter), Agetograptus sp., Monograptus sp., at 195th m – Demirastrites pectinatus (Richter), Pernerograptus praecursor (Elles et Wood), Hedrograptus sp., at 212th m – Metabolograptus talnahensis Obut et Sob., Pernerograptus praecursor (Elles et Wood), Agetograptus sp., at 222 m – Metabolograptus talnahensis Obut et Sob., Hedrograptus ex gr. rectangularis (McCoy), Pseudoclimacograptus sp., Agetograptus sp., at 235 m – Monograptus distans (Portlock), Demirastrites sp., at 240 m – Diversogratus sp., Pernerograptus sp., Pribylograptus sp. 250

On the left bank of the Listvyanka Brook, in 700 m upstream from its mouth from the equivalent of the upper part of member 4 from S-833 section represented by siltstones (loc. S-824-2/10) Middle Llandoverian *triangulatus, gregarius* zone graptolites were identified. Among them – *Demirastrites triangulatus* (Harkness), *Hedrograptus rectangularis* (McCoy). *Hedrograptus* sp., *Rastrites longispinus* Perner, *Monograptus* sp.

6. Siltstone: gray and silver-gray, clayey; member (section top) occurs in the core of a synclinal fold over 100

Siltstone in equivalents of member 6 of S-833 on the left bank of the Listvyanka Brook, 500 m upstream of its mouth, contains Upper Llandoverian graptolites of the *halli* zone (loc. S-824-1/1), 120 m stratigraphically higher than loc. S-824-2/10 with graptolites of the *triangulatus* and *gregarius* zones: *Stimulograptus halli* (Barrande), *Monograptus* sp., *Paradiversograptus capillaris* (Carruthers), *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Niholson).

Siltstone in equivalents of member 6 of S-833 on the left bank of the Inya River, 100 m upstream of an island near the Listvyanka Brook inflow (loc. S-8341) contains graptolites of the Upper Llandoverian guerichi zone: Spirograptus guerichi Loydell, Storch et Melchin, Rastrites sp., Stimulograptus halli (Barrande), Oktavites planus (Barrande), Paradiversograptus runcinatus (Lapworth), Paradiversograptus capillaris (Carruthers), Agetograptus tenuissimus Sennikov, Hedrograptus sp., Petalograptus sp.

All six members of S-822 section and members 1–3 of S-833 section belong to Tekhten' Formation, and members 4 and 5 of S-833 section – to Vtorye Utyosy Formation, member 6 of S-833 section –Syrovaty Formation. Thickness of the Tekhten' Formation in the composite Burovlyanka Section (incomplete) is more than 330 m, Vtorye Utyosy Formation – about 420 m, Syrovaty Formation – more than 100 m.

Vtorye Utyosy Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Rhuddanian, Aeronian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty formations. Zones: acuminatus, triangulatus, convolutus-cometa, sedgwicki graptolite zones. Fauna: graptolites, chitinozoans.

This is the stratotype section of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation, the lowermost Llandoverian regional stratigraphic unit. A large fragment of the Llandoverian section crops out in cliff exposures on the left bank of the Inya River, 2.5 km upstream of Chineta Village, in a place called Vtorye Utyosy (Russian for Second Cliff) (Fig. 47). The exposed section begins at the upstream cliff end and includes (Fig. 48):



Fig. 46. Clayey platy limestones from the Ordovician Tekhten' Formation, Burovlyanka section, member 3.



Fig. 50. Underwater-sliding structures (diameter up to 70 cm) in siltstones of the Silurian Syrovaty Formation, Chernaya Mountain section, member 4.



Fig. 47. General view of the exposure on the left bank of Inya River – Ordovician and Silurian Vtorye Utyosy Formation, members 1–5.

Thickness, m

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Chitino- zoans
	Syro- vaty	sedg- wicki	8	>2		S-9020-3	••	
Aeronian	Vtorye Utyosy	lutus-	6-7	17	Ø.0.	S-9020-2 S-9020-1	Sheer)	
		convo	5	15		S-7342 S-7256 Yo-7072= S-7023 Yo-7071= S-7022	aptus cf. acuminatus (Nicholson) us sp. raptus ex gr. persculptus (Salter) tuts sp. ograptus sp. Demirastrites jongispinus Perner Rastrites iongispinus Perner Rastrites iongispinus Perner Hedrograptus rectangularis (McCoy) Glyptograptus rectangularis (McCoy) Glyptograptus rectangularis (Nicholson) s.p. Glyptograptus ramariscus (Nicholson) s.p. aniscus tamariscus (Nicholson) graptus riangulatus (Harkness) aniscus tamariscus (Nicholson) s.p. aniscus tamariscus (Nicholson) graptus ranalovol Obut et Sob. dograptus rangulatus (Harkness) anischewsky serus Obut et Sob. pitus oranelongatus (Kurck) dograptus capilaris (Carruthers) orgraptus capilaris (Carruthers) prus cometa extrema Boucek et Pribyl erniastries approximatus Perner Pernerograptus clingani (Carruthers) Pernerograptus clingani (Car	i <i>tha</i> Eisenack s Taug. et Jekh.
		- triangulatus	4	60				
			3	30				
			2	40				. micracan a edjelensi
Rhuddanian		acumi- lo natus	1	50		Yo-7029= S-718 S-7343	 Parakidogi Parakidogi Parakidogi Persoulpto Persoulpto Persoulpto Persoulpto Metaclimacc Paradivers Permero Dem Dem 	 Conochitina aff Conochitin

Fig. 48. Ranges of fossil taxa from Vtorye Utyosy section.

3. Mudstone: dark gray to black, clayey, flaggy, less dense than in member 2~30

The top of member 3 is truncated by a fault; above the fault there follow:

5. Mudstone, clayey, and siltstone, silver-gray, flaggy; peculiar 3–5 cm cavities in middle and upper layers resemble conchoidal cleavage; a 1 m thick layer at the very base of member contains graptolites (loc. S-7256): *Metaclimacograptus hughesi* (Nicholson), *Cephalogratus cometa extrema* Boucek et Pribyl, *Pernerograptus* ex gr. *revolutus* (Kurck), *Pribylograptus* (?) aff. *tenuis* (Portlock), *Demirastrites delicatulus* (Elles et Wood), *Hedrograptus* sp., *Glyptograptus* sp. At the top of the member, from 0,5 m layer (loc. S-7342) the following graptolites were collected: *Metaclimacograptus orientalis* Obut et Sob., *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Nicholson), *Hedrograptus* sp., Cephalograptus cometa extrema Boucek et Pribyl, *Coronograptus maxiculus* Storch, *Campograptus clingani* (Carruthers), *Campograptus* sp., *Pernerograptus* cf. *limitatus* (Tornquist), *Pristiograptus* cf. *variabilis* Perner, *Pribylograptus* (?) aff. *tenuis* (Portlock), *Demirastrites convolutus convolutus* (Hisinger), *Dem. delicatulus* (Elles et Wood), *Dem. pribyli* Boucek, *Rastrites peregrinus* Barrande, *Ras. approximatus* Perner, *Ras. richteri* Perner

6. Mudstone, clayey, and siltstone, dark gray, slightly wavy-bedded; with graptolites (loc. S-9020-1): *Cephalogratus cometa extrema* Boucek et Pribyl, *Glyptograptus* sp., *Monograptus* sp. 13

7. Mudstone: mostly silver-gray, clayey; with graptolites (loc. S-9020-2): Cephalogratus cometa extrema Boucek et Pribyl.

8. Mudstone: light gray or dark olive-gray, slightly calcareous, thinly banded, platy; with 76. Graptolites *Monograptus* sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., *Hedrograptus* sp., *Stimulograptus sedgwicki* (Portlock) were identified (loc. S-9020-3) over 2

Graptolite assemblage from loc. Yo-7129 (lower member 1) belongs to the *acuminatus* zone; graptolite assemblages from loc. Yo-7071 and Yo-7072 belong to the *triangulatus* zone, those from loc. S-7256, S-7342, S-9020-1, and S-9020-2 are of the *convolutus-cometa* zone, and those from loc. S-9020-3 are of the *sedgwicki* zone. The interval spanning upper half
of member 2, member 3 and, possibly, member 4 corresponds to the *triangulatus* zone, members 5 through 7 belong to the *convolutus-cometa* zone, and member 8 to the *sedgwicki* zone.

Members 1 through 7 make up the stratotype section of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation, and member 8 belongs already to the overlying Syrovaty Formation. Thus, the section displays a normal stratigraphic relationship between two Llandoverian formations as transition from dark clayey mudstone and siltstone to gray flaggy limy mudstone. The incomplete thickness of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation is about 210 m and the Syrovaty Formation is over 2 m thick in the section.

Chernaya Mountain Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Aeronian, Telychian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty regional stages (horizons) Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty formations. Zones: convolutus, sedgwicki graptolite zones.

Fauna: tabulate corals, rugose corals, crinoids, brachiopods, algae, ichnofossils, graptolites, chitinozoans.

The contact between the Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty formations and a large lithologically peculiar fragment of the Syrovaty section are exposed on the western slope of Chernaya Mountain (Gora Chernaya). The section starts 300 m far from the Chinetka Brook at the origin of the roadway from Chineta Village to Taly Village where the exposed members (listed up the slope and stratigraphically upwards) are (Fig. 49):

1. Mudstone: gray, thick- or more rarely medium-bedded, generally well sorted
2. Siltstone: silver-gray, clayey, with up to 1 m cavities looking like conchoidal cleavage, and no bedding signature; the fill of
cavities occasionally makes separate bodies look like twisted rolls, up to 10 cm in diameter, which easily come out from host siltstone
but are compositionally identical to the latter; locally there are traces of traction like small folds at one side of the cavity fill; member
contains graptolites in middle layers (loc. Yo-7128=S-717): Dictyonema delicatulum Lapworth, Dict. altayense Sennikov, Dictyonema
sp., Metaclimacograptus hughesi (Nicholson), Koremagraptus onniensis Bulman, Kor. bulmani Sennikov, Hedrograptus rectangularis
(McCoy), Hed. krivunensis (Obut), Orthograptus mutabilis (Elles et Wood), Rectograptus sp., Glyptograptus sp., Campograptus
communis communis (Lapworth), Demirastrites convolutus convolutus (Hisinger), chitinozoans Conoclitina aff. oelandica silurica
Taug. et Jekh., crinoids Pentagonocyclicus aff. borealis Yelt., tabulate corals, rugose corals and brachiopods
3. Mudstone, gray and greenish-gray, clayey, massive, well sorted
4. Mudstone: gray, clayey, with cavities and rolls; the latter are especially abundant in lower layers making about 90 % of rock
volume; they consist of silty-clayey or limy-clayey material like host mudstone and reach a length of 70 cm; rolls in upper layers are
fewer and smaller (10-20 cm in diameter) and are compositionally identical to host shale; rolls are randomly oriented throughout the
member (Figs 50, 51) 10
5. Mudstone, gray, clayey to limy-clayey with siltstone, gray, clayey, with banding and 20-30 cm flaggyness, and smooth
shear surfaces; more calcareous (20-40 cm thick) layers alternate with more silty (50-100 cm thick) ones; a 20-cm thick layer at
member top contains graptolites (loc. S-7320): Stimulograptus sedgwicki (Portlock), Pristiograptus sp., Campograptus ex gr.
communis (Lapworth), Rastrites sp., Paradiversograptus capillaris (Carruthers)
6. Mudstone: gray, with cavities of 30-50 cm in diameter
7. Mudstone: gray, with cavities and rolls; rolls reach 90 % vol. as in member 4 near the base and reduce in number up the
section; rolls in the lower half have more limy compositions (corresponding to calcareous siltstone) than host mudstone; rolls are
mainly isolated from the host and are regularly arranged with their long axes along and short axes across the bedding (all rolls align with
the same direction); they reach sizes of 80 x 30 x 10 cm; rolls in upper layers are few, 30-40 cm long, and compositionally identical
to host shale
8. Mudstone: gray, laminated, with rolls from 5–10 cm to 30–70 cm in diameter (slightly smaller in upper layers), compositionally
similar to host mudstone; rolls in lower layers align with bedding, like in member 7, and are more randomly oriented upsection; their
number is different in different layers: there are on average as many as 10 small rolls and 4-5 big rolls per square meter of surface area
of the bedrock exposure (across the bedding); member contains graptolites <i>Streptograptus</i> sp. in the middle layers
9. Mudstone: gray, with 3–5 cm (rarely up to 10 cm) cavities in lower layers
Members 1 through 4 belong to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation and members 5 through 9 belong to the Syrovaty
Formation. The Vtorye Utyosy - Syrovaty transition is marked by change from clayey mudstone to limy-clayey mudstone
and siltstone. The two formations have incomplete thicknesses of 52 m and 140 m, respectively.
The graptolite assemblage from member 2 corresponds to the convolutus-cometa zone and that from member 5 is
of the sedgwicki zone. The Llandoverian strata in the immediate vicinity of the section, on the northwestern slope of

Chernaya Mt., contain graptolites of the *guerichi* and *turriculatus* zones. The entire section on the western slope of Chernaya Mt. can be assumed to be older than the *guerichi* zone because the intervals corresponding to these graptolite zones are composed of normally bedded rocks without cavities or rolls. Member 1 must be older than the *convolutus*-

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites		Chitino- zoans	Crinoids	Other groups										
Telychian		_?_	9	30																	
			8	15	9 9 9			● .os													
	a t y		7	15				ners) worth) treptograptu													
A e r o n i a n S v r o v	Syrova	ed gwicki	6	50			(ft)	Stimulograptus sedgwick (Portlock) Paradiversograptus capillaris (Carruth Campograptus ex gr. communis (Lap Pristiograptus sp. Rastrites sp. S	kh.												
			ω 5 30		S-7320	um Lapworth ikov <i>hughesi</i> (Nicholson) <i>ensis</i> Bulman ov <i>enaris</i> (McCoy) aut) <i>is</i> (Elles et Wood) <i>is</i> (Elles et Wood) <i>is</i> (Elles et Wood) <i>utus convolutus</i> (Hisinge		i <i>dica siluric</i> a Taug. et Je	ff. <i>borealis</i> Yelt.												
			4	10	000		delicatul se Senn sp. graptus graptus Senniko Senniko s rectan nsis (Ob nsis (Ob nsis (Ob s sp. s sp. s sp. s sp.		T. oelanc	clicus a	<u>v</u> v										
	osy	convolutus	convolutus	convolutus	convolutus	convolutus	convolutus	convolutus	convolutus	3	12			onema altayen: angraptus bulmani ograptus ograptus ograptus ograptus		oclitina a	agonocy	ate cora ose cora hiopods			
Vtorye Utyo	/torye Uty									convolutu	convolutu	convolutu	2	15		Yo-7128= S-717	 Dicty. Dicty. Dicty. Dicty. Meta. Kor. I. Hedn. Hedn. Cami. Cami.<		• Cono	Penta	 Tabul Rugc Bracl
	Ō									1 15											

Fig. 49. Ranges of fossil taxa from Chernaya Mountain section.

cometa zone, as cavities appear only above the top of the *triangulatus* zone, which is evident in a continuous succession of graptolite zones from *triangulatus* to *convolutus – cometa* on the left bank of the Inya River. Thus, section on the western slope of Chernaya Mt. (members 2 through at least member 8) by the age is aligned with the *convolutus* and *sedgwicki* graptolite zones. The boundary between the two zones is conventionally defined along the base of member 5.



Fig. 51. Diagram (in modern coordinates) for directions of non-lithified deposit-movement during underwater sliding in Chernaya Mountain section (A- member 4, B - member 7, C - member 8).

Rossypnaya Mountain Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Aeronian, Telychian, Sheinwoodian, Homerian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty, Chesnokovka and Chagyrka regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty, Chesnokovka and Chagyrka formations. *Zones: triangulatus, spiralis-grandis* graptolite zones, *celloni* conodont zone.

Fauna: stromatoporoids, tabulate corals, rugose corals, crinoids, bryozoans, trilobites, ostracods, brachiopods, graptolites, conodonts, chitinozoans.

The Rossypnaya Mountain Section is a continuous succession of Lower Silurian rocks spanning five local stratigraphic units of the Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty, Chesnokovka and Chagyrka formations; it is a stratotype section of the Syrovaty and Polaty formations (Fig. 52).

The section in the southwestern part of Rossypnaya Mt., starting from a ford across the Inya River, consists of (Fig. 53):

Thickness, m

2. Mudstone: greenish-gray, whitish, less often dark to gray, clayey and clayey-carbonate, weathered to coarse (2-4 cm) debris

7. Limestone: gray, dirty gray, locally dark and brownish-yellow, clayey, massive; clay material is localized in up to 60 cm thick lenses of lumpy limestone with honeycomb weathered surfaces; present are small (1-2 m) algal bioherms; member contains



Fig. 52. Sketch map of the location on Rossypnaya Mountain (modified from Yolkin et al., 1974).

A sharp transition from flaggy clayey mudstone equivalent to rocks of member 1 with *Demirastrites* sp. graptolites to clayey and clayey-carbonate mudstone equivalent to member 2 is exposed farther to the east, on the southeastern slope of Rossypnaya Mt., in a section that starts at the Yarovka Brook mouth. A 50-cm layer in the middle of an equivalent of member 2, on the southeastern slope of Rossypnaya Mt., 25 m far from the Yarovka Brook (loc. Yo-70103) contains graptolites *Hedrograptus* sp. and *Glyptograptus* sp.

Members 3 through 8 crop out uphill, on the southeastern slope of Rossypnaya Mt., where Vorozhbitov (1996) found conodonts in an equivalent of member 7: *Distomodus staurognathoides* (Walliser), *Pterospathodus* sp., and in an equivalent of member 8 – *Pterospathodus celloni* (Walliser), *Apsidognathus tuberculatus* Walliser, *Pseudobelodella silurica* Armstrong, *Pterospathodus* sp.

Equivalents of member 8 on the southeastern slope of Rossypnaya Mt. are overlaid by three more members, along a sharp twisty boundary, with karst cavities:

10. Limestone: dark gray, highly clayey, lumpy; clay material is localized along rough bedding surfaces producing a bead-like habit; rocks show gradual transition from underlying clayey-chlorite shale and contain abundant and diverse fossils (loc. Yo-70104): rugose corals Neobrachielasma variabilis Zhelt., Syringaxon ex gr. siluriense McCoy, Soshkinolites microcorallita Zhelt., Kodonophyllum truncatum (Linn.), Stereoxylodes pseudodianthus Weiss., Neopaliphyllum soshkini Zhelt., Cyathactis inensis Zhelt., Calostylus clarae Zhelt., Calostylus helminthoides Zhelt., Entelophyllum articulatum (Wahl.),

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Stroma- toporoids	Rugose corals	Chitino- zoans
Homerian	Chagyrka		11	100		Yo-6612 Yo-6611		nense Zhelt.	
oodiani	kovka	2	10	25		Yo-70104	•	Participantial and the second se	
Sheinwo	Chesnol	Cyrto-	9	30		S-692	Vestor) t Mur.)	catum (Lint ariabilis Zhu anthus Vveri anthus Vveri atturus Vveri atturus Vveri attoria Zhu lovensis Zhu lovensi z z z z z z z z z z z z z z z z z z z	•
Ц	t y	is	8	60		Yo-7098 Yo-7097	dictyon (?) cf. avitum († topora antiqua (Nich. e	eptatum Ivnvsk eptatum Ivnvsk laime) unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, unvsk, Stereoxylodes pseudodi Tryplasma loveni (f Syringaxon ex gr. sli Syringaxon	Desmochitina
chian Polaty	grandis	7	50		Yo-7096	 Clathro Stroma 	alactis brevis		
e l y)	5-6	11,2		Yo-7083a= S-7033 Yo-7083		eudoph tum (Wtum (Wtum Votata Ivr otata Ivr gosum roplasm	
-		ISIS	4	20		Yo-7082	et.	• Ps tt. • i Zhelt. • Zhelt	
	a t y	griestoner	3	35		Yo-7077 S-7510	en. et sp. ind	ilis Zhelt. sp. oblonga Zhe Illum soshkin mate Tryple Tryple	
? 	Syrov		2	45			Ŭ	hauluctis notab Tabularia Neopaliphy Entellophyllur Crat	
Aeronia	Vtorye Utyosy	gulatus	1	30		S-759 Yo-7076= S-7026 S-758		۵.	

Fig. 53. Ranges of fossil taxa from Rossypnaya Mountain section.

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	Graptolites	Other groups
11	100	Yo-6612 Yo-6611	erpolitus Kulk. inguata (Buch) e orrecta (Wahi) e aarvisima Kulk e s exsul (Barr.) e		Trilobites
10	25	Yo-70104	m.) • th.) • Jk. • mbidium J ssatrypa I Cyrtia exp Janiu		• •
9	30	S-692	mitula (Dal minuta Kollo minuta Ko bis (Amso Li		
8	60	Yo-7098 Yo-7097	ow.) Rasserella elega Ferganella bore Sowerbyella jirigerina brownsporten:	s grandis grandis (Sue gustidens (Sue ograptus priodon (Buo nograptus kettneri (Bouci Oktavites falx (Sue	•
7	50	Yo-7096	ta sp. ● rifer radiatus (Sc Sp	p. lonograptus sp. Stormatograptu Retiolites an Mor	orals •
5-6	11,2	Yo-7083a= S-7033 Yo-7083	et.	ov e sta e sta e st. e	ulate c
4	20	Yo-7082	e ereae aceae Sow.) na sp. ostroph	edrogre	Tab
3	35	Yo-7077 S-7510	Pentamerida Plectambonit r. <i>orbiculans</i> (t <i>Carinati</i> Ec	Perner tus (Richter) us sp. us sp. aptus sp. aptus sp. nacis sp. spraprolition Stomatogr	Crinoic Osti
2	45		<i>Atrypa</i> ex g	s longispinus striftes pectinan aclimacograpti nirastrites sp. Rastrit Canpograptus f Glyptogra Monoclim gonograptus f Dictyonem	
1	30	S-759 Yo-7076= S-7026 S-758	• Proti	Poly	•

ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI



Fig. 54. General view of the outcrop on the Rossypnaya Mountain (Rossypnaya Mountain section, members 2 and 3 - stratotype section of Silurian Syrovaty Formation, members 3-8 - Silurian Polaty Formation). Reef limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation with large algal bioherms (diameter 30 to 20 m), member 8.



Fig. 55. Erosional structures on the boundary of the reef-carbonate Silurian Polaty Formation (member 9) and black shale Silurian Chesnokovka Formation (member 10) exposed in Rossypnaya Mountain section.

The top of the section is eroded.

Member 1 belongs to the Upper Vtorye Utyosy Formation, members 2 and 3 are designated as the stratotype section of the Syrovaty Formation, members 5 through 8 make up the stratotype section of the Polaty Formation (Fig. 54), members 9 and 10 are compsed of rocks of the Chesnokovka Formation, and member 11 belongs to the Chagyrka Formation (Fig. 55). The transitions between the Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty formations and between the Syrovaty and Polaty formations are gradual and marked by regular upsection increase in the carbonate component. The base of the Chesnokovka Formation is sharp, with

syndepositional erosion pockets, and coincides with the boundary between the Gromotukha and Tigerek groups.

The incomplete thickness of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation in the section exceeds 30 m, that of the Syrovaty Formation is 80 m, the Polaty Formation is more than 140 m thick, the Chesnokovka Formation is 55 m, and the thickness (incomplete) of the Chagyrka Formation is about 100 m.

Shpil Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Aeronian, Telychian, Sheinwoodian, Homerian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Chesnokovka and Chagyrka regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Chesnokovka and Chagyrka formations.

Zones: spiralis-grandis, insectus-centrifugus graptolite zones.

Fauna: stromatoporoids, tabulate corals, rugose corals, brachiopods, graptolites, chitinozoans.

The Lower Silurian section crops out on the left bank of the Chinetka River (right tributary of the Inya River), on the western slope of Shpil Mt., and comprises (Fig. 56):

Thickness, m

Members 1 through 3 belong to the Chesnokovka Formation and member 4 belongs to the Chagyrka Formation. Graptolites are of the *grandis* (loc. Yo-70106=S-7052) and *insectus-centrifugus* (loc. S-7052a) zones. The incomplete thickness of the Chesnokovka Formation in the section exceeds 90 m and that of the Chagyrka Formation is over 60 m.

3.1.6. Area of Tigerek Village

Tigerek Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: ?Telychian, Sheinwoodian, Homerian, Gorstian, Ludfordian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Chesnokovka, Chagyrka and Kuimov regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Chesnokovka, Chagyrka and Kuimov formations.

Fauna: stromatoporoids, tabulate corals, rugose corals, trilobites, ostracods, brachiopods, crinoids, gastropods, bryozoans, graptolites.

The Tigerek section comprises the Silurian Chesnokovka, Chagyrka, and Kuimov formations. It starts with a natural exposure to the right of the roadway from Tigerek Village to Chineta Village, then proceeds in a trench along the slope and in other natural exposures (Fig. 57). The section comprises (Fig. 58):

Thickness, m

1. Limestone: gray or light gray, massive, locally bioclastic; with stromatoporoids Stromatopora antique (Nich. et Mur.), Stromatopora carteri Nich., rugose corals Entelophyllum articulation (Whalend.), Zelophyllum ludlovensis Zhelt., Pycnostylus guelphensiformis Zhelt., Tryplasma loveni (M.Edw. et Haime), Cysticonophyllum gukovensiformis Zhelt., brachiopods Lissatrypa minuta Kulk., Spirinella striatissima (Holtedahl.), Conchidium sp., trilobites Warburgella obscura Yolk. and tabulate corals (loc. Yo-70114).....~8

4. Mudstone and marl: brownish- and greenish-yellow, clayey, friable, alternating with limestone, dirty gray or dark, clayey, laminated, commonly with knobby bedding planes; clayey mudstone occurs in member lower layers and is interbedded with marl and

Stage Formation Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Chitino- zoans	Rugose corals	Brachi- opods	Other groups
b Homerian Chagyrka	4	60		Yo-70105	dis (Suess) et Sob. <i>iestonensis</i> (Nicol) <i>ettneri</i> (Boucek) boucek, s Boucek		ilasma variabilis Zhelt. • seudodianthus Weiss. • Ilum ludlovensis Zhelt. • eni (M.Edw. et Haime) •	a praearimaspus Nikif. • msportensis (Amsden) •	Tabulate corals • Stromatoporoids •
Shein-	3	12			don (Bronn) (Barrande) grandis gran stonensis gr stonensis ke ess) ff. insectus E ff. centrifugu		Neobrachie eoxylodes p Zelophy yplasma lov	Carinatin nina cf. brow	
Telychian Chesnokovka spiralis-grandis	2	90		S-7052a Yo-70106= S-7052 S-729a S-729	 Retiolites sp. Callograptus sp. Callograptus sp. Chravites sp. Oktavites sp. Stromatograptus sp. Monoclimacis grie Monoclimacis grie Monoclimacis sp. Campograptus sp. Cyrtograptus af Cyrtograptus af 	 Desmochitina (?) sp. 	Ster	Spiriger	

Fig. 56. Ranges of fossil taxa from Shpil Section.

limestone which increase upsection; member contains abundant and diverse fossils, especially in middle layers (loc. Yo-70117 and Yo-70118), including stromatoporoids Labechia cf. conferta (Lonsd.), Ecclimadictyon fastigiatum (Nich.), rugose corals Neobrachielasma variabilis Zhelt., Entelophyllum articulatum (Wah.), Zelophyllum ludlovensis Zhelt., Pycnostylus guelpkensiformis Zhelt., Tryplasma loveni (M.Edw. et Haime), Chavsakia chavsakiensis Lavr., Cystiphyllum siluriense Lonsd., Coronoruga delicata Zhelt. sp. nov., Ketophyllum subelegantulum Zhelt., brachiopods Ferganella borealis (Schloth.), Conchidium biloculure (Linn.),



Fig. 57. Sketch map of the left bank of Tigerek River, near Tigerek Village (modified from Yolkin et al., 1974).

The exposed section is interrupted being buried under a small ravine and continues up along a cape which rises to Mayak Hill. The section from the hill toe includes:

5. Limestone: dirty gray, locally dark or gray, slightly clayey, massive, poor in fauna; with stromatoporoids (loc. Yo-7123): Actinodictyon (?) cf. quebecense Steam et Hubert, Parallelostroma tuberculatum (Yavor.), rugose corals Neobrachielasma variabilis Zhelt., Pycnostylus guelphensiformis Zhelt., brachiopods Conchidium biloculare (Linn.), tabulate corals, trilobites and ostracods. ~15

Limestone member 9 builds the top of Mayak Hill and borders, along a fault, a section of mainly dark laminated limestone in the north which includes:

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Stromatoporoids	Rugose corals Brachiopo	ds	
u		13	30		Yo-70124		• • • •	• • • •	
> Ludfordia	0 <	12	50		Yo-70123		Vdkd.	half.) ● a <i>williamsi</i> Kul <i>umbella</i> (Bar	
	m i m	11	15		Yo-70122		abilis -	alis (K ienell vpa co	
Gorstian	Gorstian K u	10	70		Yo-70119= Yo-7122	ert aminatum (V. Khalf on densum Moris	obrachielasma vari et sp. indet. • ophyllum ex gr. deg rotis curtiseptatum i nbodes massivum i ealis (Schloth.)	gerina supramargin Schellw Lissatr	
		9	30		Yo-7127	et Hube seudobii) Ne Gen. Cyatha Stror	Spiń	
		8	35		Yo-7126 Yo-70121	ise Steam (Yavor.) ostroma ps	ahl.)		
omerian	agyrka	7	40		Yo-7125	ch.) sf. quebecer berculatum		Kulk.	
T	Cha	Cha	6	55		Yo-7124	1. et Mur.) lestor <i>fastigiatum</i> (Nii <i>fierta</i> (Lonsd.) <i>interta</i> (Lonsd.) <i>interta</i> (Lonsd.) <i>interta</i> (Lonsd.) <i>interta</i> (Lonsd.) <i>interta</i> (Lonsd.)	telophyllum art vensiformis Zhett. ormis Zhett. Tryplasma lo Tryplasma lo Tryplasma lo Tryplasma lo Tryplasma lo Tryplasma lo Tryplasma lo 	ypella operosa
		5	15		Yo-7123	i Nich i Nich. i Nich. dictyon e cf. co e Pau	n guko n guko hensifium I hensifium su n ex gr n ex gr	Atr	
lychian Shein- bosnokovka	hesnokovka	4	60		Yo-70118 Yo-70117	tromatopora antiqu romatopora carten Diplostroma cf. val Simplexodictyon sl e-e Ecclimat e-e Labechić	- Cysticonophyllur - Cysticonophyllur Pycnostylus guelt Chavsal Chavsal Cystiphyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Ryderophyllur Atrypa n Atrypa n 		
żТе	0	1-3	12,5		Yo-70116 Yo-70115 Yo-70114	55			

Fig. 58. Ranges of fossil taxa from Tigerek section.

Stratigraphically higher layers of the section are found in bedrock exposures up the valley and comprise:

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Trilo- bites	Ostracods	Grapto- lites	Other groups
13	30	Yo-70124	•	•		•
12	50	Yo-70123	•	olenova eckaja		•
11	15	Yo-70122	• • •	aica Pi (aja N		
10	70	Yo-70119= Yo-7122	sii (Murch.) •	hescaphella aft. alt nella rozhdestvensh iccurate Bazarova		ulate corals
9	30	Yo-7127	V. stoke	● Oc rocheilii mella a		Tab ozoans
8	35	Yo-7126 Yo-70121		Mici		Bryc
7	40	Yo-7125	Yolk.	sp. indet.		•
6	55	Yo-7124	a obscura Yolk W. verecunda Gen. et	<i>rica</i> Bazarova		•
5	15	Yo-7123	rburgell	ula silu	ds sn∤d€	spo
4	60	Yo-70118 Yo-70117	Wa	•-• Longisc	●● Monogrä	Gastrop
1-3	12,5	Yo-70116 Yo-70115 Yo-70114		•		

13. Limestone: similar to that of member 12 but making three distinct rhythms; first rhythm begins with dark thin-bedded clayey limestone (12 m) which grades into gray and dark gray massive limestone (3 m), locally rich in brownish-yellow clayey material localized in isolated nests; second and third rhythms have a similar structure but different thicknesses of the constituent subrhythms; second rhythm is 7.5 m (6 m clayey and 1.5 m massive limestone) and the third one is 6 m thick (4 m and 2 m, respectively); layers of massive limestone, locally with small algal bioherms separate the valley where the section runs from the Inya River valley; faunas include tabulate corals, rugose corals Neobrachielasma variabilis Zhelt., Zelophyllum ludlovensis Zhelt., Pycnostylus guelphensiformis Zhelt.; brachiopods Schellwienella williamsi Kulk., Lissatrypa columbella (Barr.), Janius exsul (Barr.); trilobites Warburgella stokesii (Murch.) and ostracods (loc. Yo-70124)..... ~30

Members 1 through 4 belong to the Chesnokovka Formation, members 5 through 9 belong to the Chagyrka Formation (Fig. 59), and members 10 through 13 belong to the Kuimov Formation (Fig. 60). The incomplete thickness of the Chesnokovka Formation in the section is more than 70 m, the Chagyrka Formation is 175 m, and the Kuimov Formation is 165 m thick.

3.2. Northwestern Gorny Altai

3.2.1. Area of Ust'-Muta Village

Marchetyonok Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: ?Tremadocian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tayanza and Lebed' regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Marcheta Formation.

Marine Ordovician sections in the vicinity of Ust'-Muta Village occur in separate fault blocks on the left bank of the lower Marcheta River (Fig. 61). The section (S-012) of the Marcheta Formation (Zasur'ya Group) is located on the left bank of the Marchetyonok Brook (Marcheta left

tributary), 1350 m far from its mouth, and comprises (Fig. 62):

Thickness, m

1. Mudstone: clayey, flaggy (3040 cm to 2-3 cm), of weakly undulate thin bedding; color of rocks changes within a distance
of 50 m along member strike from lilac-red to lilac-brown and yellowish-brown-gray (Fig. 63)
2. Mudstone: lilac or lilac-gray, flaggy (1-3 cm), with traces of clay flowage around more solid clay concretions; the latter quite
regularly a lign with bedding and vary in size from 3-5 to 10 cm in length and from 2 to 5-7 cm in width; greenish-gray varieties occur
as lenses or concretions
3. Mudstone: gray or lilac, lumpy, of uncertain bedding
4. Mudstone: greenish-gray, siliceous, lumpy; member encloses layers with 50-70 cm long and 15-20 cm thick
(up to 1.5–2,0 m \times 10–50 cm at the member top) lenses of purple clayey siltstone
5. Mudstone: gray, clayey-siliceous, lumpy or flaggy (1-2 cm), with a ~5 m long and 1.5 m thick lens of blue-gray to lilac
siliceous mudstone
6. Mudstone: sea-green, clayey, unbedded1



Fig. 59. Rhythmic limestones from the Silurian Kuimov Formation, Tigerek section, member 12.



Fig. 60. General view of the outcropping stratotype section of the Silurian Kuimov Formation on the right bank of Inya River, upstream of Tigerek Village.

All members of the section, with a total thickness of ~50 m, belong to the Marcheta Formation. The Marchetyonok Section is conventionally correlated with the Tremadocian-Dapingian boundary.



Fig. 61. Sketch map of the location on the right bank of the downstream of Marcheta River (modified from Sennikov et al., 2001b).

Fig.	62.	Marchetvonok	section.
· ·6·	0	inter energy officie	Section.

Marcheta-1 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Tremadocian, Floian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tayanza and Lebed' regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions:* Marcheta Formation.

Zones: proteus conodont zone.

Fauna: conodonts, radiolarians, demosponges.

Another section of the Marcheta Formation (S-002) crops out on the left bank of the Marcheta River (left tributary of the Muta River), 900 m far from the Marchetyonok

Brook inflow. The section begins at the floodplain terrace, then follows the second ridge from the Marchetyonok value, reaches the Marcheta/Marchetyonok divide, and ends at the top of 1201.0 m mountain. It comprises (Fig. 64):

Formation Stage Lithom Bed logy 8 7 5 6 5 B 5 c d) 0 2 4 2 σ 3 1.5 0 ത 2 6 _ Ε ത Ð Σ 20 1



Fig. 63. Violet-reddish mudstones from the Ordovician Marcheta Formation, Marchetyonok section, member 1.



Fig. 65. Massive cherts (hydrothermal quartzites?, jasperoids?) from the Ordovician Marcheta Formation, Marcheta-1 section, member 6.

 Mudstone: cream-colored or brown, clayey, massive or lumpy, of uncertain bedding	
or beads of red rocks from overlying member 6	10×5 cm lenses
member is lens-shaped: about 40 m long and 0 to 2-6 m thick	ierais (nematite);
7. Mudstone: sea-green, uncertainly bedded, massive	23

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Conodonts
Floian		-?-	35 34 33 32 31 29	50 2 30 10 30 35			
			28 27 26	25 8			
			25	5		<u></u>	εÊ
и	e t a	proteus	24	110			racilis Lindstron Lindstrom ofeus (Lindstron asis Lindstrom atus Lindstrom
	ω						s g pr gib gib fina sp
ia	c h		23	117			ordylodu: dus gracili dus sp. stodus cf. iodus rec iodus rec todus sp.
U					======		arac listo listo aroi: com con con neo
0		-?-	22	3		00073004-3	0000440
	σ		21	28	22222		
	Σ		20	0,7			
а							
E			19	136,5			
e							
-			9-10	1.6			
			7	23	EEEEEE		
ー			6	2-6		<u> </u>	
			4	8	======		
			3	10			
			2	25	~~~~~		
			1	70			

Fig. 64. Ranges of fossil taxa from Marcheta-1 section.

9. Mudstone: lilac with gray hue, clayey, with small lenses of gray chert	0.1
10. Mudstone: lilac, clayey	1.5
11. Sandstone, locally gravelstone: greenish-gray, coarse	0.5
12. Mudstone: dark olive-green, clayey, lumpy, and sandstone, finegrained	2
13. Rocks similar to those in member 11	8
14. Mudstone: dark olive, clayey	4
15. Rocks similar to those in member 11, with sporadic 1-3 cm long lenses of green clayey siltstone	20
16. Mudstone: dark olive-green, clayey	3
17. Rocks similar to those in member 11, with gray-green or sea-green hues in upper layers	60
18. Siltstone or silty sandstone: bright green	5
19. Mudstone: green, clayey	34

20. Chert (possibly, hornfelsed): red or locally yellowish, with radiolarians and siliceous sponge spicules	0.7
21. Mudstone: bright green, siliceous-argillaceous	
22. Mudstone: dark red, argillaceous and siliceous-argillaceous; with conodonts in lower (loc. 00073004-1) ar	nd upper (loc.
00073004-3) layers: of the proteus zone - Paracordylodus gracilis Lindstrom, Oistodus gracilis Lindstrom, Oistodus sp.	., Paroistodus
cf. proteus (Lindstrom), Cornuodus longibasis Lindstrom, Acontiodus reclinatus Lindstrom, Acontiodus (?) sp., One	otodus sp 3
23. Mudstone: gray or dark olive-gray, clayey	117
24. Mudstone and fine sandstone: green	
25. Siltstone: light-green, clayey	5
26. Mudstone: reddish brown, siliceous-argillaceous	
27. Siltstone: dirty gray, clayey	
28. Mudstone:dark olive-gray, clayey	
29. Sandstone: green, poorly sorted, fine	
30. Siltstone: lilac, clayey	1.5
31. Sandstone: green or dirty gray, poorly sorted, fine massive, of uncertain bedding	
32. Mudstone: green and dirty gray silty sandstone grading upward into siltstone and then to	
33. Sandstone: green and dirty gray fine	
34. Mudstone: reddish-gray siliceous-argillaceous	
35. Mudstone: dark olive-green clayey	~50
All members shout 720 m of total thickness belong to the Marshete Formation	

All members, about 730 m of total thickness, belong to the Marcheta Formation.

Section Marcheta-2

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Floian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Lebed' Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Marcheta Formation.

Zones: elegans conodont zone.

Fauna: conodonts, radiolarians, demosponges.

Another section of the Marcheta Formation (S-013) crops out 300 m westward of the Marcheta-1 section, opposite a spring on the left bank of the Marcheta River. The section begins 100 m far from the hill toe. It exposes upper strata of the Marcheta-1 section but with slightly different lithologies and different member thicknesses. The Marcheta-2 section comprises (Fig. 66):

1	mekness, m
1. Mudstone: plae dark olive-gray, clayey, massive	150
2. Mudstone: variegated, lumpy; rocks are mainly of dirty gray and dark colors; lilac and dirty lilac rocks occu	ır in bedding-
parallel lenses (patches) with either diffuse or sharp boundaries, looking like clasts (up to 20 cm); there are also <	3 cm patches
(clasts?) of red, bright lilac or green rocks; very thin bedding of 0.5 mm occurs occasionally	
3. Mudstone: silver-gray, clayey	9
4. Sandstone: greenish-gray (to sea-green), fine	6
5. Syndepositional breccias in a matrix of dark olive-gray mudstone, with 1-3 cm clasts (occasionally 5-7 cm)	of lilac, gray,
or reddich mudstone more siliceous than the matrix; clasts often consist of thinly (3-5 mm) interbedded lilac and gray	rocks. Clasts
occasionally occupy up to 50 % of rock volume, but become progressively less abundant up the layer	
6. Mudstone: lilac or gray, clayey, lumpy; colors are randomly distributed and change rapidly from lilac to gray	both laterally
and upwards	
7. Mudstone: red-lilac or red-lilac-gray, clayey, of uncertain bedding, with round nodules of more siliceous rocks	; rocks at 8 m
above member base show weakly undulate 2 cm banding	
8. Mudstone: greenish-gray, clayey, massive	
9. Mudstone: lilac or green-gray, massive, lumpy; rocks change color rapidly both laterally and upwards: withi	in 30 m along
strike they pass into lilac-red clayey mudstone with siliceous nodules; a lens of red chert, 2-3 m long and 2-3 m thick (lo	c. 00073008)
contains radiolarians, siliceous sponge spicules, and conodonts of the elegans zone - Juanognathus (?) sp., Paroistodus	cf. paralellus
(Pander), Paroistodus sp., Drepanoistodus sp.	
10. Mudstone, massive, and siltstone, greenish-gray or dirty gray, with sporadic nodules of greenish-gray fine	sandstone
	60
11. Randomly interbedded fine sandstone, siltstone, and mudstone, greenish-gray to dirty dark olive-gray; a 2-r	n lens of lilac
clayey mudstone in upper layers shows 1-3 mm banding and isometric 1-2 cm patches	~70
12. Mudstone: lilac, clayey, wavy-bedded, lumpy	
All members, about 360 m of total thickness, belong to the Marcheta Formation.	

Lithologies, especially in siliceous members, grade rapidly into one another along the strike in the three Marcheta sections: 6 m of red chert pass into red low-silica mudstone and siltstone within a distance of 30-50 m and then into gray

Fig. 66. Ranges of fossil taxa from Marcheta-2 section.

mudstone and siltstone 50–70 m away. Color changes still more rapidly from red or lilac to sea-green, gray, dark olive, etc. Loaf-shaped concretions and traces of clay flowage found in the Marchetyonok Section and a syndepositional breccia in the Marcheta-2 Section are typical of slope facies. Taking into account the marine origin of the Zasur'ya sediments, one may assume that the Marchetyonok Section formed on a seamount slope and the Marcheta-1 and Marcheta-2 sections were deposited on the sea floor in a vicinity of such a slope.

Section Tekhten'

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Himantian, Rhuddanian, Aeronian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty formations.

Fauna: tabulate corals, rugose corals, trilobites, brachiopods, crinoids, graptolites.

The stratotype section of the Upper Ordovician Tekhten' Formation (Tekhten' Regional Stage) and the overlying Lower Silurian Vtorye Utyosy Formation is located on the right bank of the

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Conodonts	Other groups
			12	3				
			11	70				
u B	t a	SI	10	60	2			
	e l	gar	9	12	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	00073008		••
·	2	See	8	5			sp	les ans
	U	Ű	7	12			(?) and tus tus	laria
0	L_		<u> </u>	12	-~~-~~-		us (P	diol
_			6	10		AA	lus lus rois nois	nge Ra
			5	3			par par par	od
LL	IΣ		4	6			anc Dre	<u>0</u>
			2-3	26	****		Ju lus cf. I	Siliceou
2			1	150			Paroistoo	

Tekhten' Brook, the right tributary of the Muta River, near Ust'-Muta Village (Fig. 67). The formation, in a much smaller stratigraphic volume, was formerly named the Dietken Formation according to *Dietken*, wrong respelling of an Altai name used in topographic maps. The documented section begins on the right side of a small ravine, 400 m from point 1181.0 m at azimuth 210°. The main section rises from the hill toe to point 1181.0 m and continues to the top at 1451.0 m. Members 1 and 2 and lower member 3 crop out 200 m to the north of the section origin where the section begins with member 3. The section includes (Figs 68, 69):

	I nickness, m
1. Interbedded siltstone and silty sandstone, dark olive-gray	15
2. Limestone: black, pelitic	~40
3. Limestone: gray, slightly clayey, massive, containing 0.3×1.0 algal-biohermal buildups, with L	ate Ordovician
tabulate corals Nyctopora dietkensis Galen. sp (loc. 2018)	~80
4. Limestone: black, flaggy (10-30 cm); with indetermined corals, Late Ordovician rugose corals (loc. 2032) Pa	arabrachielasma
lebediensis Tcherepn., Grewingkia altaica (Tcherepn.), Ditoecholasma kanica (Tcherepn.) and Late Ordovician	n tabulate corals
Catenipora dietkensis Dziubo in the middle part of the member	
5. Sodded interval (near point 1181.0 m)	
6. Siltstone: argillaceous-calcareous, and fine sandstone, gray	
The target for each and is to managed allows fould and then the spectrum is doublinged allows have A thereas	1. ().

The top of member 6 is truncated by a fault and then the section is duplicated (members 4 through 6):



Fig. 67. Sketch map of vicinity of Ust'-Muta Village (modified from Sennikov et al., 2001a).

7. Siltstone: greenish, calcareous; with Late Ordovician tabulate corals (loc. 2034): Cyrthophyllum sp. and Ashgillian brachiopods
Catazyga anuensis Severg., Rostricellula buriduinica Rozm. In 5 m from the top of the member (loc. S-77138-18/10) - brachiopods
Salairella anuensis Severg., Rostricellula sparsa asiatica Rozm. Cyrthophyllum sp. and Ashgillian brachiopods Catazyga anuensis
Severg., Rostricellula buriduinica Rozm. In 5 m from the top of the member (loc. S-77138-18/10) - brachiopods Salairella anuensis
Severg., Rostricellula sparsa asiatica Rozm. Probably from the same member (loc. 5, year 1988) L.G. Severgina and L.V. Galenko
have collected brachiopods Raphinesquina cf. pseudoloricata (Barr.), Late Ordovician rugose corals Parabrachielasma cf. lebediensis
Tcherepn., Ditoecholasma kanica (Tcherepn.), Grewingkia semilanatum (Scheff.), Ashgillian tabulate corals Cateni pora dietkensis
Dziubo, Cyrthophyllum samyshiensis Dziubo, C. karasuensis Dziubo, Sibiriolites koldorakensis Dziubo, Pragnellia altaica dietkensis
Galen. subsp. n., Plasmoporella vesiculosa Kiaer, Paratetradium quadrilobatum Sok. et Tes., Tetradium dietkensis Galen. sp. n.,
Wormsipora karasuensis Dziubo, W. minuta Dziubo
8. Sandstone: light gray or reddish-brown, quartz, medium and coarse 120
9. Sandstone: dirty yellow, highly calcareous, polymictic, fine, with up to 30 cm thick layers of calcareous siltstone in the
middle which locally grades on strike into clayey limestone
10. Siltstone: light gray, highly calcareous; with Llandovery (or, possibly Late Ordovician?) corals (loc. 2035): rugose corals
Parabrachielasma cf. lebediensis Tcherepn., Ditoecholasma sp., tabulate corals Plasmo porella convexotabulata Kiaer, Wormsipora
karasuensis Dz., Heliolitidae
11. Sodded interval 5
12. Coarse clastic rocks, in three units: (i) lower 5 m of reddish-gray fine conglomerate (with quartz, limestone, siltstone, and
sandstone pebble), (ii) middle 5 m of gravelstone, and (iii) upper 5 m of coarse polymictic rather quartz sandstone 15
13. Sandstone: dirty yellow or pale lilac, rather quartz, polymictic, fine, occasionally with layers of dirty green clayey
siltstone
14. Interbedded (0.3–0.5 m) clayey siltstone and fine limy sandstone, greenish-gray; lower half of the member contains (loc.
2036) Early Silurian brachiopods: Lenatoechia (?) sp., (loc. 2036/1) Llandoverian brachiopods Lenatoechia cf. elegans (Nikif.), as
well as Late Ordovician-Early Silurian tabulate corals Taxopora sp., Palaeofavosites sp. Upper half of the member encloses gray
limestone layers varying on strike from 5 to 10 m thick. The limestone contains a layer replete with fossils (loc. 2037): numerous
Silurian rugose corals Entelophyllum cf. articulatum Whal., Microplasma sp. and rare Llandoverian tabulate corals Palaeofavosites
balticus (Rukhin), Subalveolitella repeptina Sok over 80
The section continues as far as the Muta/Anui river divide and then along the left side of the Surta Ravine (left
bank of the Anui River near Bely Anui Village) as exposed alternating sandy-silty rocks with rare limestone layers
containing rather representative Llandoverian corals and brachiopods.

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Tabulate Rugose corals corals	Brachiopods
Aeronian	Syrovaty	14	>80		2037 2036-1 2036	p. n. asuensis Dziubo o. ● a Sokolov ● a Sokolov ●	• (E
uddanian	e Utyosy	13	80			Dziubo ziubo Zalen. subs Galen. subs Galen. subs els. n. so. ke Tes. so. et Tes. sp. n. faxsopora si sites balficus ella repeptin spn.) m cf. articula	<i>echia</i> (?) sp. s (Nikiforova
-?- Rh	Vtory	12 11 10 9	15 5 15 30	0.0.0.0 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	2035	ensis Dziubo amyshiensis D vrakensis Dz a dietkensis Dz a dietkensis Dz a dietkensis Dz a dietkensis siculosa Kia siculosa Kia siculosa Kia siculosa Kia siculosa Kia siculosa Kia siculosa Kia palaeofavo Subalveoliti nnica (Tchere na sp.e a sp.e	Lenato ia cf. elegar
Hirnantian	, L	8	120			Catenipora dietk Cyrthophyllum sk Cyrthophyllum ka Dziubo Sibinolites koldo olov olov ilubo Paragnella ve Paradum dietke Vormsipora minu convexotabulata convexotabulata Cherepn. Elitoecholasma ka Cherepn. Ditoecholasma ka	Lenatoecf
-?-	h t e	7	15	• •	S-77138-18/10 2034	Galen. sp.n. Galen. sp.n. <i>m kaniensis</i> <i>andiensis</i> Dz <i>andiensis</i>	Severg.e a Rozm.e ica Rozm.e is Severg.e ata (Barr.) e
ian	e ×	5-6	120		0.77400.40.40	a dietkensis Cyrthophyllu Cyrthophyllu Plasmopore Pla Pla Pla Pla Pla Pla Pla Pla Pla Pla	ga anuensis la buriduinic sparsa asiat rella anuens pseudoloric
Kat		4	>30		2032, 2033/1, 2033	 Nyctopor Nyctopor Inversional statements 	Catazy Rostricellula stricellula Salai squina cf.
		2	40			Parabrachi	Ro Raphine
Katian	Tekh	5-6 4 3 2	120 >30 80 40 >15		S-77138-13, 16 2032, 2033/1, 2033 2018	 Nyctopora dietkensis Gale Cyrthophyllum ka Cyrthopora elandic Nyctopora elandic Plasmoprella kia Plasmoprella smi Parabrachielasma cf. Parabrachielasma cf. Prachielasma cf. Prachielasma cf. Prachielasma cf. Prachielasma cf. Prachielasma cf. Prachielasma cf. Pranbrachielasma cf. Pranbrachielasma cf. 	Catazyga anuensis Seve Rostricellula buriduinica Roz Rostricellula sparsa asiatica R

Fig. 68. Ranges of fossil taxa from Tekhten' section.

Some members of the section are clearly traceable southeastwards and northwestwards providing additional faunal evidence. For instance, black flaggy limestone, an equivalent of member 2 on the right side of the upper Shiroky Ravine (a small ravine across the right Tekhten' watershed), 470 m far from point 1251.0 m at azimuth 35° (loc. 2040, 2041) contains Late Ordovician rugose corals: *Grewingkia altaica* (Tcherepn.), *Parabrachielasma lebediensis* Tcherepn., *Ditoecholasma kanica* (Tcherepn.), tabulate corals *Cyrtophyllum kaninensis* Dziubo, *C. samyshiensis* Dziubo. Equivalent of member 10 on the southern slope of point 1402.0 m, (loc. 142) trilobites *Acernaspis (Eskaspis) superciliexcelsis* Howells, *Acer. (Escaspis) becsciensis* Lesp. et Leten., *Podowrinella* cf. *striatonensis* Clarks et all., Warburgenellinae, (loc. 2039) trilobites *Acernaspis (Eskaspis) superciliexcelsis* Howells, *Acer. (Escaspis) prima* Walm. et Boucot, *Leptaena* cf. *haverfordensis* Bancr., *Atrypa* (?) *lindstromi* Wenjuk., *Eospirigerina* (?) sp., rugose corals *Cyathactis* sp., *Holophragma* sp., as well as dendroid graptolites were collected.

Members 1 through 9 belong to the Tekhten' Formation, members 10 through 13 belong to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation, and member 14 belongs to the Syrovaty Formation. The thickness of the Tekhten' Formation in the section is about 470 m, the Vtorye Utyosy Formation is 115 m thick, and the incomplete thickness of the Syrovaty Formation is over 80 m.



Fig. 69. General view of Tekhten' section (Ordovician Tekhten' Formation, members 2-9).



Fig. 71. General view of the exposed upper part of Muta section (Ordovician Tekhten' Formation, members 8-11).

Muta Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Formation.

Zones: supernus graptolite zone.

Fauna: stromatoporoids, tabulate corals, rugose corals, trilobites, crinoids, graptolites.

A sequence of lithologies different from the Tekhten'-type section but of the same Upper Ordovician age occurs 3 km to the west of the Tekhten' Brook. The section exposed at the Muta site originates 2.5 km uphill from Ust'-Muta Village on the left side of a ravine that crosses the Muta left watershed (Figs. 70, 71). It includes:

1 1110 11035, 111	Thic	kness,	m
-------------------	------	--------	---

 1. Limestone: gray, laminated (5 to 20 cm)
 ~ 50

 2. Sodded interval
 30

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Tabulate corals	Rugose corals	Trilobites	Graptolites	Other groups
s Hirnantian		0	11	>150		2046	•	•			•
-11	-	sn	10	12	* * *		idae	labr			oids
	۲	supern	9	50		S-929-3/25 S-929-3/10 2045= S-928-3/16-18	Heliolit	en. et sp. ir		sp. • ood • son • sp. • ? sp. • // Hall) • /ikhayl. •	romatopor
	e							ŭ		t Wo t Wo shols stus stus aptu ulis ulis	ર્ણ
ч	t		8	>140					: Petrun. sp. n	Orthograptu permus Elles et permus Elles et cf. anceps Nici Dicellograp Reteograp Giyptocgrap Ginacogra gr. amplexica suensis Koren	
	ء					2044	• t	•.d	nsis	sup tus f. ojs	e s
			7	20			Smi	nas	nute sp. sp.	inus grap aptu us c	bodo
	¥		6	30	Ψ _Ψ Ψ _Ψ Ψ		lela	elasi	sta n des sp. as s es ? es ? sp.	gisp ello, ogra	achic
t	e		5	70	Ψ Ψ Ψ		ipora parali	Brachie	Nuinquecos Remopleuri Corobergia Conchodom Conchodom Conchodom Conculari Amploculari	raptus lon, Dic Orth Glyptogi	Bra
						2043	aten			acog	•
"				50	* * * * * * * *		ö			Clim	pior
х			4	270						-	Cri
			3	30							
			2	30	* * * *						
			1	50							

Fig. 70. Ranges of fossil taxa from Muta section.



Fig. 73. General view of Chichka section (members 16-19 - Silurian Polaty Formation, member 20 - Silurian Chesnokovka Formation).



Fig. 76. General view of reef limestones from Silurian Polaty and Chagyrka formations exposed on the right bank of the Anui River, downstream of Cherny Anui Village.

3. Siltstone: greenish-gray, clayey	30
4. Siltstone, thinly (0.1-0.05 m) interbedded with fine micaceous sandstone, gray or greenish-gray	270
Then the section continues after a 50-m sodded interval with siltstone and sandstone debris of member 4 (per	ossibly,
a buried fault):	
5. Interbedded clayey siltstone and fine polymictic sandstone, dark olive-gray or light gray; at 15-20 m above mem	ber base
there are scarce 0.2-0.3 m thick layers of gray crystalline limestone; limestone and siltstone nearby (loc. 2043) contain	Middle
Ordovician (second half of Caradocian) trilobites: Quinquecosta mutensis Petrun. sp. n., Remopleurides sp., Eorober	<i>gia</i> sp.,
Lonchodomas sp., Encrinuroides ? sp., Amplocularia sp., Homotelus sp. and crinoids	70
6. Sodded interval	30
7. Limestone: dark gray or black, locally clayey	20
8. Limestone: gray or light gray, massive, with 0.5×1.5 m to 3×5 m algal-biohermal buildups that occupy up	to 80 %



Fig. 72. Sketch map of the left slope of Chichka Ravine.

Then the section continues along the left bank of the Muta River toward Verkh-Muta Village, beginning at 2.75 km uphill from Ust'-Muta Village, in a ravine on the southeastern slope of 1132.7 m mountain, 300 m far from the top at azimuth 110°. The extended section includes:

8. Limestone: gray or light gray, massive~30

All members, about 780 m in total thickness, belong to the Tekhten' Formation.

Chichka Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Rhuddanian, Aeronian, Telychian, ?Sheinwoodian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty and Chesnokovka regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions:* Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty and Chesnokovka formations. *Fauna:* tabulate corals, rugose corals, trilobites, brachiopods.

The Silurian Chichka Section crops out near Kelei Village, on the left side of the Chichka Ravine (left bank of the lower Saldyk River, the left tributary of the Maly Kelei River) (Fig. 73) and spans the Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty and Chesnokovka formations, namely (Fig. 74):





Bed	m	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	Rugose corals Trilo- bites
20	>60	2517 2055 2054 2053 2026/1 2026 2056	→→ →→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→	<i>niga</i> Zhelt. • <i>dica</i> (Dyb.) •
19	>50	2004 2026/3	chern lla sp batreta cun ska cf. nal	bulariaoblc ma gothlanc rus sp. •
-		2004/1	• /skii T vovelle ewadl Rhync karpir karpir	oplasi
18	60	2026/4	ssp. achkoi Eo Eo	Miar
1993		2003/2	ameru aella r inia cf	
17	180	2027 2003/1 2003 2004/2	Pent Tuvi Nalivk	oshk: oshk: oshk:
16	170	2057	p ivkinia sp.	shkini Zhe bilis (vnsk dentata Zi septatus S
15	40	2058	ospirella s & Nal ichus sp.	ohyllum so. systis mira oronoruga actis tenui: ndet. •
14	90		Zyg geryn geryn	Eymoo CC Cyathi tsp.ir
13	10	2005 2059	● Ste	p. • P. • Ne • Ne • Ne • Ne • Sen. e
12	20			dasma si hyllum si hyllum se G
11	34	2518/3		Microl Entelop ?Dinop
10	1			
8	3	2518 / 6	e u	
7	40	2518/8	orris. ● ntamerid	
6	15		<i>tus</i> B	
5	30		nia sp. Nikif. ong/septa	
4	25		f. gracilis herus cf. l,	
3	50	2543/3 2543/2 2543/1	●●● Pseudoca ●● Pseudoca Pentan	Cyathactis sp.
2	10	2025/14 2025/13 2025/7 2025/5 2025/5 2025/3		×.
1	30			

Thickness, m

1. Sandstone: brownish- or greenish-gray, limy, outsized, alternating with outsized gravelly sandstone, with floating quartz- siliceous pebble
 Siltstone: green-gray, limy, thinly interbedded (0.020.15 m) with brownish-gray sandstone and sandy limestone; with (loc. 2025/3) brachiopods <i>Zygospirella</i> sp., (loc. 2025/5) brachiopods <i>Zygospirella</i> sp. and tabulate corals <i>Halysites</i> sp., (loc. 2025/7) trilobites <i>Acernaspis</i> sp., (loc. 2025/13) rugose corals <i>Cyathactis</i> ? sp., (loc. 2025-14) trilobites <i>Acernaspis</i> sp
2543/1) brachiopods <i>Nalivkinia</i> sp., <i>Stegerynchus</i> sp., (loc. 2543/2) brachiopods <i>Nalivkinia</i> sp., <i>Pseudocamarotechia</i> sp., (loc. 2543/3) brachiopods <i>Pseudocamarotechia</i> sp., <i>Stegerynchus</i> sp., (loc. 2543/2) brachiopods <i>Nalivkinia</i> sp., <i>Pseudocamarotechia</i> sp., (loc. 2543/3) brachiopods <i>Pseudocamarotechia</i> sp., <i>Stegerynchus</i> sp.,
4. Interbedded siltstone and fine sandstone, lilac to gray
5. Sandstone: green-gray, thin-bedded, fine, with 0.2-0.4 m layers of greenish-gray fine conglomerate
6. Sandstone: purple to gray, limy, fine, with (0.15-0.2 m) layers of lilac-gray or cherry-red siltstone
7. Sandstone: green-gray, limy, fine, flaggy, with layers of grass-green siltstone; with (loc. 2518-8) brachiopods Pentamerus cf.
longiseptatus Borris., Nalivkinia sp
8. Limestone: green-gray or pinkish, sandy; with (loc. 2518/6) brachiopods <i>Nalivkinia</i> sp., Pentameridae
9. Siltstone: lilac or lilac-gray, thinly interbedded with purple or cherry-red to gray fine limy sandstone
10. Quartz-siliceous conglomerate: purple, fine
11. Sandstone. light gray, graveny, father quartz with (loc. 2518/5) tabulate corais Subdiveoitiend repertind Sok., Henolitidae
12. Sandstone: gray, dark gray, or pale purple, fine, thickly flaggy
13. Limestone: dark gray, clayey with: (loc. 2059) tabulate corals Palaeofavosites balticus (Rukhin.), Palaeofavosites sp.,
brachiopods Stegerhynchus sp., (loc. 2005) tabulate corals Subalveolites sp., Stelliporella sp., Palaeofavosites sp., rugoses Microplasma
sp., Entelophyllum sp., ?Dinophyllum sp
14. Sandstone: gray-green, feldspar-quartz, thin-bedded, medium to coarse
15. Sandstone: green-gray, fine, limy, with honeycomb weathered surfaces associated with bead-like 2–3 cm layers of dark
gray clayey limestone; member c (loc. 2008) contains brachlopods <i>Nativkinia</i> sp. and indetermined rugose corais
17 Limestone: gray massive nelitic with 10–20 m x 250 m coral bioherms. Recovered fauna includes (in stratigraphical
order): (loc. 2057) tabulate corals <i>Mesofavosites obliquus</i> Sok.; (loc. 2004/2) tabulate corals <i>Halysites parvus</i> Miron.; (loc. 2003)
tabulate corals Multisolenia nikiforovae Sok. et Tes., Favosites forbesi M.Edw. et Haime, Mesofavosites obliquus Sok., Halysites
parvus Miron., Subalveolites volutes Sok. et Tes., Syringopora scabra Sok., Heliolites decipiens (M'Coy), Favosites (Sappori pora)
favositoides (Ozaki), Heliolites interstinctus (Linne), rugose coarls Eymocystis mirabilis (Ivnsk.), Neopaliphyllum soshkini Zhelt.;
(loc. 2003/1) tabulate corals Multisolenia tortuosa Fritz, Mesofavosites obliquus Sok., Favosites ex gr. amkardakensis Tchern.,
Palaeofavosites nimius Poltaveeva, rugose coarls Neopaliphyllum soshkini Zhelt., Coronoruga dentata Zhelt.; (loc. 2027, in 150 m
southward point 1300, / m) rugose coaris Neopali phyllum soshkini Zhell., Cyathactis tenuseptatus Soshk., tabulate coaris Multisolenia misera Sok. et Tes., M. tortuosa Fritz., Subalveolites subulosus Sok. et Tes., S. volutus Sok. et Tes., Seringopora scarba Sok.,
Palaeofavosites forbesiformis Sok
18. Limestone: black, clayey, laminated; with: (loc. 2003/2) табуляты Mesofavosites obliquus Sok., Halysites
pseudoorthopteroides Tchern., tabulate coaris Coronoruga dentata Zheit.; (Ioc. 2026/4) tabulate coaris Parastriatopora mutabilis (Tchern.); (Ioc. 2004/1) brachiopods Pentamerus sp., tabulate coaris Multisolenia misera Sok. et Tes., Palaeofavosites balticus (Rukhin), Halysites parvus Miron., Halysites densus Miron., Subalveolites subulosus Sok. et Tes., Stelliporella sp., Coenites sp.,
rugose coarls <i>Cyathactis tenuise ptatus</i> Soshk~60
19. Interbedded fine sandstone, siltstone, and sandy limestone, greenish-gray or gray; with (loc. 2026/3) tabulate corals
<i>Tramnoporetta</i> sp., (Ioc. 2004) trilobites <i>Encrinurus</i> sp., brachlopods <i>Tuvaetta rachkovskii</i> Tchern., <i>Howettetta</i> sp., rugose corais <i>Cyathactis tenuiseptatus</i> Soshk
20. Sandstone: greenish-grey with grey sandy limestone lenses. Recovered fauna includes (in stratigraphical order): (loc. 2056,
in 10 m from base of left slope of the ravine between points 1301,3 m and 1300,7 m) brachiopods <i>Tuvaella rachkovskii</i> Tchern.,
Howellella Sp., tabulate corals Palaeojavosites paulus Sok.; (loc. 2026) tabulate corals I namnoporella Sp., Palaeojavosites Sp.; (loc. 2026/1) tabulate corals Multisolania misara Sok, et Tes. Palaeofavosites naulus Sok, Equesites forhasi M Edw, et Haime Masofavosites
oblights Sok Fayosites mesofayositoides Chekh Thampoporella sp. Stelliporella sp. Fayosites crassimulis Poltayeeva
Parastritopora kureikiana Sok, et Tes., rugose corals Microplasma gothlandica (Dvb.), ?Calostylus sp.; (loc. 2053) brachiopods
Nalivkinia cf. grunewadtiaeformis (Peetz); (loc. 2054) brachiopods Nalivkinia cf. grunewadtiaeformis (Peetz), Delthyris sp., Ferganella
sp., табуляты Favosites forbesi M.Edw. et Haime, Parastriatopora kureikiana Sok., Thamnoporella sp., Palaeofavosites sp.,
rugose corals Neopaliphyllum soshkini Zhelt.; (loc. 2055) tabulate corals Subalveolites volutes Sok. et Tes., Heliolites sp., rugose
corals Tabulariaoblonga Zhelt., Microplasma gothlandica (Dyb.); (loc. 2517) trilobites Acernaspis sp., Bumastus sp., Proetidae,
орахионоды <i>Rhynchotrema cuneata</i> (Dalman), <i>Eokarpinskia</i> ct. <i>nalivkini</i> (Nikit.), <i>Gypidula</i> sp., <i>Zygospirella</i> sp., tabulate corals
<i>Intersojavosites dalchaschensis</i> (Poletaeva)
Formation (members 16 through 18) is about 400 m thick, and the Lower Chesnologika Formation (members 10 and 20)
exceeds 120 m.

3.2.2. Area of Cherny Anui Vlillage

Mayak Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Statigraphic Scale: Telychian, Sheinwoodian, Homerian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Polaty, Chesnokovka and Chagyrka regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Polaty, Chesnokovka and Chagyrka formations. Zones: spiralis graptolite zone. *Fauna:* tabulate corals, rugose corals, trilobites, brachiopods, crinoids, bryozoans, graptolites. A large fragment of the Silurian section occurs on the western slope of Mayak Mt. in the Karakol - Shinok interfluve (both are left tributaries of the Anui River). The succession uphill from the toe includes (Fig. 75): Thickness, m 1. Limestone: dark gray or light gray, slightly clayey, fine to coarse crystalline, dense, detrital, laminated (20-30 cm), with (loc. Other members are separated from member 1 by a fault and are exposed east of member 1 on the other side of a small ravine: 2. Limestone: highly clayey, fine crystalline, lumpy, locally beaded, with abundant tabulate corals and scarce rugose corals and 3. Limestone: dark or dark gray, highly clayey, containing layers of purer limestone and clayey-carbonate shale; with abundant 4. Mudstone: gray, clayey and clayey-carbonate, with limestone inclusions represented by colonies of tabulate corals; 5. Limestone: dark, dirty gray, or gray, fine, locally medium or coarse crystalline, detrital; clay material is localized in thin (0.5-6. Mudstone: dirty green, clayey, locally grading into clayey siltstone, with tabulate corals (loc. Yo-6627a); fossils occur in up to 3 m thick layers of gray clayey limestone; member base is distinct and guite sharp and the top is more diffuse at least 100 7. Interbedded clayey mudstone, clayey siltstone and fine sandstone, dirty green, locally with banding produced by light-to-8. Mudstone: clayey, dark gray to black, locally with greenish hue; with graptolites found in a 50-cm thick layer in themiddle of the member (loc. S-7312): Callograptus sp., Retiolites angustidens Elles et Wood, Monoclimacis sp., Monograptus sp., Oktavites The eight exposed members are followed up the hill by a buried interval with two more members exposed at its end: 9. Limestone: dark and gray, clayey, dense, fine crystalline, massive, with uneven bedding planes; fossils are scarce, mainly 10. Limestone: gray or light gray, dense, massive; fossils are scarce and include (loc. Yo-6628a) algae, stromatoporoids, tabulate corals, crinoids, and bryozoans. Member 10 grades smoothly from the underlying clayey limestone of member 9. > 80 According to their lithologies and faunas, members 1 through 5 belong to the Polaty Formation, members 6-9 belong to the Chesnokovka Formation, and member 10 belongs to the Chagyrka Formation. The incomplete thickness of the Syrovaty Formation in the section is about 200 m, the Chesnokovka Formation is 245 m thick, and the incomplete

Turata Section

thickness of the Chagyrka Formation exceeds 80 m.

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Telychian, Sheinwoodian, Homerian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions:* Syrovaty, Polaty, Chesnokovka and Chagyrka regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions:* Syrovaty, Polaty, Chesnokovka and Chagyrka formations. *Fauna:* tabulate corals, rugose corals, brachiopods, crinoids.

Another large fragment of the Silurian section in the area of Cherny Anui Village crops out on the right bank of the Anui River at the Muta River mouth near Turata Village where the uphill succession is (Figs 76-78):

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Other groups
Homerian	Chagyrka		10	>80		Yo-6628a		Bryozoans • Algae •
in- dian			9	14	<u> </u>			s • Stro
She		-?-	8	30		S-7312	e od e od sp. e (Z	Crinoid
	s n o k o v k a		7	100			Callograptus s Retiolites angustidens Elles et Wo Monodrimacis s Monograptus s Oktavites spiralis (Geini	
ал	Ches	i s	6	100		Yo-6627a		
i 4								
			5	12		Yo-6627		• •
0		L	4	20				
e l y	at y	p i	3	70		Yo-6626		•
F	0 1 6	S	2	25		Yo-6625		● spc
	ď		1	80		Yo-6624		Tabulate corals e Rugose cor Brachiopr



3. Siltstone: light greenish-gray, limy-clayey, banded; with brachiopods found in lower 20 m (loc. S-929-2/0-20) and at 35-40 m above member base (loc. S-929-2/35-40=2070/1): <i>Eospirifer chingizicus</i> Borris., Septatrypa sp., <i>Brachyprion</i> sp., tabulate corals <i>Holophragma mitrata</i> Schloth., <i>Multisolenia nikiforovae</i> Sok. et Tes., <i>Mesofavosites obliquus</i> Sok., <i>Mes. fleximurinus</i> Sok., <i>Halysites nseudoorthopteroides</i> Tchern., <i>Seringopora novella</i> Klaman
4 Limestone: gray clayey ($1-3$ cm) grading on strike into calcareous siltstone 5
5 L imestone: gray or black slightly clavey: with tabulate corals in upper layers (loc $S-929-4/15-20 = 2070/2$): Multisolenia
tortuosa Fritz Palaeofavosites alveolaris (Goldfus)
The section continues after a small sodded interval:
The section continues after a small source interval.
6. Sitistone: ingregray and greenish-gray, calcareous, with the sandstone in upper layers, member contains brachiopods in its $1000000000000000000000000000000000000$
iower nan (ioc. 5-929-6/0-3-20/1): Eospirijer chingizicus Borris, Meristella Ci. parva Nikii. 8
7. Elimestone: clayey, of uncertain bedoing with mud patches, containing brachiopods (loc. 5-929-//1-20/1/1) Eospiriter
<i>chingizicus</i> Borris., <i>Meristeita</i> cr. <i>parva</i> Nikii, tabulate corais <i>lecipora</i> sp. 22
8. Sandstone: silty greenish-gray, signity calcareous, and the polymictic sandstone
9. Limestone: gray, as concretions (up to 50 vol.%) in a matrix of calcareous siltstone
10. Siltstone: light greenish-gray, calcareous, of uncertain bedding
11. Limestone: clayey, with clay interbeds, crinoidal; crinoids (1–3 mm in diameter) occupy up to 50–70 % of rock volume
12. Sandstone: silty, dark green, clayey
13. Limestone: gray cavern with 0.5 m interbeds of massive limestone, without clay component, with (upper layers, loc. S-
929-13/10=2072) rugose corals <i>Alta ja gracilis</i> (Billings)
14. Limestone: light gray or white, massive
15. Limestone: dirty yellow-gray, clayey, lumpy
16. Limestone: black or dark gray, thick-bedded (3–5 m), with (upper layers, loc. S-929-16/10-15=2072/1) tabulate corals
Mesofavosites insuetus Smirn., rugose corals Holophragma sp
17. Sodded interval
18. Limestone: gray or yellow-gray, with minor sand and clay
19. Siltstone: greenish-gray, calcareous, of uncertain bedding; with brachiopods (lower layers loc. $S-929-19/2 = 2073$):
Protatrypa cf. lepidota Nikif. et Modzal., Eospirifer sp
20. Sandstone: green-gray, fine
21. Limestone: gray, with dark olive mud patches; with tabulate corals (lower layers, loc. S-929-21/3=2073/1): Mesofavosites
fleximurinus Sok., Paleofavosites ex gr. paulus Sok., Heliolites sp
22. Limestone: clayey, honecomb (1-3 cm), with mud patches (small lenses, 1-5 cm) with tabulate corals Favosites forbesi
(M. Edw. et Haime), F. gothlandicus Lamark and crinoid fragments
23. Siltstone: green-gray, clayey, slightly calcareous
24. Limestone: gray, clayey, lumpy over 7
Siltstone of member 23 and limestone of member 24 contain brachiopods: Schizonema sp., Mendacella sp., corals Cystiphyllum
siluriense Lonsdale, Entelophyllum articulatum (Wahl), Tryplasma aequabile (Lonsdale), Ptychophyllum tenuiseptatus Ivnvs., Zelophyllum intermedium Wedekind, Phaulactis cyathophylloides Ryder, Cyathactis tenuiseptatus Soshk., Multisolenia tortuosa
Fritz, Propora salairica Milfon.
25. Sodded mierval
20. Silisione: green-gray, clayey
27. Sodded merval
section and sandstone grades into silty sandstone; member contains tabulate corals (lower layers, loc. S-929-28/5-15=2074/1):
Crassielasma curtise platum IVIIVSK., Multisolenia misera Sok. et 1 es., Multisolenia sp., Favosites gothiandicus Lamark, Favosites
sp., <i>Palaeojavosites balticus</i> Rukhin, <i>Stelliporella</i> sp. Sandstone grades along strike into silty sandstone and into calcareous siltstone with limestone nodules, with corals. Thickness 25 m.
29. Sodded mierval
50. Inter bedged (0.1-0.15 iii) fine sandstone and clayey shistone, greenegray, with (lower layers, loc. 5-929-500-5-2013) tobulate agrege Beggeraddiae beggeraddiae in the sandstone and clayer shistone, greenegray, with (lower layers, loc. 5-929-500-5-2013)
21. Siltetener graenich grav gelegraphe weethered to herecemb structure produced by earbarate rich head like levere
31. Shistone: greensh-gray, calcareous, weathered to nonecomo structure produced by caroonate-rich bead-like layers,
member contains tabulate corais (lower hall, loc. 5-929-31/0-3-20/37)). Barranaeolites bowerbankti (M.Edw. et Halm.), Mesojavosties
22 Siltatana (dahaia)) dark aliya arailyar aray alayayan daliyaka salarayara
52. Sitistone (deoris): dark onve or silver-gray, clayey and siightly calcareous
5.5. Shitstone: similar to that in member 32, with tabulate corals (loc. S-929-33/0-3=20/5/2): <i>Favosites forbesi</i> (M.Edw. et
Haime), naiysites opimus Koval., Stelliporella sp., Heliolites sp., rugose corais Holophragma mitrata (Schloth), Pseudophaulactis
<i>gievensijormis</i> Lheit
54. Shistone: greenish-gray or gray, clayey, with (loc. 5-929-34/10= 20/5/3) brachiopods Leptaena cf. depressa (Sow.),
Strophonetta ci. euglypha (Daim.), Eospirijer sp., Priotatrypa sp
Multisolenia tortuosa Frits, Mesofavosites obliquus Sok., Taxopora sp., rugose corals Pseudophaulactis glevensiformis Zhelt. sp. n.,

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Tabulate corals						
Shein- Home-	Chagyrka	35	>50		S-929-35/1-10 =2076	ŢŢ						
	a	34	35		S-929-34/10 =2075/3	х м	axopora si					
	×	33	3		S-929-33/0-3 =2075/2	Hin Svie	2					
	k o v	32	30		2010/2	icus (Lami septatum N Sok. et T						
	0	31	10		S-929-31/0-5	and wrth sere						
	c	30	18		=2075/1	a spinar of spin						
	S	20	5		S-929-30/0-5 =2075	tes ç elass lenis larves larv						
	Ð	29				Sok. Sok. Intiscentiation Prant						
_	۲ ۲	28	25		S-929-28/5-15							
	0	27	50	****	=2074/1	sp						
		26	>5	¥¥¥¥¥		ex g ii (N						
		25	40	*****		llipo						
	j	24	7	<u>Čeže</u> ž		svos avos avos Smi						
		23	15			sofice of starts soft						
		22	10		S-929-21/3	Miro Me Miro Me Pa He He Difte						
느		20	12		=2073/1	liqu. Tres i Inde						
		19	8		S-929-19/2	salai, et h						
ပ	Σ	18	10	¥ ¥ ¥	-2073	Ssite						
	-	17	10	<u> </u>	S-929-16/10-15	ofavo Propo						
~	-	16	18		=2072/1	besi						
	g	15	15			s for						
-		14	8	7-7-7-7		Sifes						
	-	13	10		S-929-13/10 =2072	s alv s alv s alv sp.						
e	_ 3	12	10			tero aam site: site: oora						
	0	10	5			ave # Kop # Kic # fecif.						
		7	2		S-929-7/1 =2071/1							
	ш.		5	****	5-929-6/0-5 =2071	seuite a nik						
		5	20		=2070/2	es por						
		4	5			ulttisc alystic 						
					S-929-2/35-40	₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩						
		3	50		=2070	ia tc						
					S-929-2/0-20	soler						
						Aultis						
	Nor	2	15	- 1 - 1 -	S-929-1/5-10							
	S	1	>5		20,0							

Fig. 78. Ranges of fossil taxa from Turata section.

Bed	Location of fossils	Rugose corals		Brachiopods	Other groups
29 28 27	Location of fossils S-929-35/1-10 =2076 S-929-34/10 =2075/3 S-929-33/0-3 =2075/2 S-929-31/0-5 =2075/1 S-929-30/0-5 =2075 S-929-28/5-15 =2074/1	Wilum siluriense Lonsdale hyllum articulatum (Vahi) ma aequabile (Lonsdale) hyllum intermedium Vkedekind tis cyathophylloides Ryder tis tenuiseptatus Soshk	Ptychophyllum sibirius lunsk.	kif. et Modzal. nema sp. cella sp. Strophonella cf. <i>euglypha</i> (Dalm.) • Strophonella cf. <i>euglypha</i> sp. • Prtotartypa sp. •	Other
26 25 24 23 22 21 20 19 18 17	S-929-21/3=2073/1 S-929-19/2=2073 S-929-16/10-15	Billings) Holophragma sp. • Cystiphyl • Tryplasm • Praulact • Cyatha cd	2	is. • <i>Protatry pa cf. lepidota Niki</i> • <i>Schizon</i>	 Crinoids
16 15 14 13 12 11 10 9 8	=2072/1 S-929-13/10=2072 S-929-7/1=2071/1	• Altaja gracilis (hern. • Eospi <i>rifer chingizicu</i> s Borr • <i>Meristell</i> a cf. <i>parva</i> Nikif. Eos	
6	S-929-6/0-5=2071 S-929-4/15-20 =2070/2			iensis Tc	
4	2010/2	soshk.		angach e ttrypa s iyprion	
2	S-929-2/35-40=2070	na sp. lypus S		crhella « sp. ontidae Septa Brach	
3	S-929-2/0-20	atactis		gerhyr welella opheod	
2	S-929-1/5-10=2070	800 •		● Sfc + Ho ● Str	



Fig. 77. General view of the Turata section (Silurian Polaty Formation, members 2-11).



Fig. 82. Red fine-grained sandstones from the Silurian Cherny Anui Formation, Cherga section, member 5.

Ptychophyllum sibiricus Ivnsk, brachiopods>50

The thicknesses of the formations are more than 5 m for the Upper Syrovaty Formation (member 1), 400 m for the Polaty Formation (members 2 through 25), 210 m for the Chesnokovka Formation (members 26 through 34), and over 50 m for the Chagyrka Formation (member 35).

Cherny Anui Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Ludfordian, Pridoli.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Kuimov and Cherny Anui regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Kuimov and Cherny Anui formations.

A small fragment of the Upper Silurian section is known at the eastern end of Cherny Anui Village, on the right bank of a ravine which opens into the village central

Thickness, m

part, 300-400 m far from the place where the ravine enters the Anui River terrace. The stratigraphic succession along the divide between the ravine and the Cherga Brook is (Fig. 79):

2. Mudstone: gray, clayey and clayey-carbonate~120

3. Mudstone: gray, clayey-carbonate, with abundant bryozoans which impart a limestone: habit to the rock ~ 2

4. Mudstone and clayey siltstone, cherry-red 2

The lower three members belong to the Kuimov Formation and member 4 belongs to the Cherny Anui Formation. Incomplete thickness of the Kuimov Formation is 300 m and that of the Cherny Anui Formation is more than 2 m.

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	Other fauna
ido- lian	Anui	4	>2	33333 <u>5</u>			
ď.	lo /	3	2				• ທ
d fordian	Kuimov	2	120			is sp. a sp. um sp.	Rugose corals Tabulate corals Bryozoans
L u		1	180		Yo-6617	 Protathyn Lyssatrip Conchidi 	• • •

Fig. 79. Ranges of fossil taxa from Cherny Anui section.

Cherga Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Ludfordian, Pridoli. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions:* Kuimov and Cherny Anui regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions:* Kuimov and Cherny Anui formations. *Fauna:* stromatoporoids, rugose corals, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods.

The stratotype section of the Cherny Anui Formation occurs in the western limb of a box syncline on the left bank of the Cherga Brook, the Anui right tributary (Fig. 80). Rocks of the Kuimov and Cherny Anui formations form the core of a small anticlinal fold in two fault blocks on the right side of an unnamed ravine which descends left of the Cherga Brook about 3 km far from its mouth. The section includes (Fig. 81):

Thisburger
1 nickness, n
I. Limestone: dirty gray, highly clayey, lumpy, bioclastic, with rare thin interbeds of clayey-carbonate shale; limeston
contains (loc. Yo-6630) brachiopods Atrypella operosa (Kulk.), Janius exsul (Barr.) and trilobites Warburgella obscura Yolkin~2
2. Sandstone: red, fine to outsized, locally grading into gravelstone
3. Sodded interval
4. Sandstone: gray or reddish-gray, limy, quartz, dense, fine and coarse, commonly of uncertain bedding or massive, locally
with scattered fine quartz pebble
5. Sandstone: gray-pinkish, quartz, fine; less often some layers may be pale cherry-red; locally limy sandstone, with dispersed
fine quartz pebble, of thick or uncertain bedding, commonly massive; distinct thin banding on weathered surfaces may be produce
either by grain size change or by distribution of carbonate material (Fig. 82)
6. Sandstone: similar to that in member 4 but with more frequent cherry-red layers and wavy bedding
7. Limestone: greenish-gray, clayey, dense; clay is more or less evenly spread and imparts greenish hue to limestone; membe
contains trilobites: Warburgella waigatschensis (Tschern. et Yak.)
8. Limestone: dark, dirty gray or gray, clayey, dense, locally detrital or oolitic; limestone is in places silty or less often sand
with evenly spread sand and silt components which is especially evident on weathered surfaces; member contains abundant bu
poorly diverse fossils (loc. Yo-6619), including stromatoporoids Plexodictyon ex gr. katriense Nestor, Densastroma ex gr. podolicum

(Yavor.), Parallelostroma typicum (Rosen), rugose corals Phaulactis sp., Spongophylloides nikiforovae (Bulv.), Stereoxylodes gracilis

ORDOVICIAN-SILURIAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY AND PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI



Fig. 80. Sketch map of the location on the left bank of the Cherga River mid-stream (left tributary of the Anui River) (modified from Yolkin et al., 1974).

Zhelt. sp. n., Mucophyllum sp., trilobites Warburgella waigatschensis (Tschern. et Yak.), ostracods Neobeyrichiina anuica Pol., (loc.
Yo-6620) rugose corals Phaulactis sp., trilobites Warburgella waigatschensis (Tschern. et Yak.), ostracods Neobeyrichiina anuica
Pol., Ochesca phella altaica Pol
9. Limestone: gray or dirty gray, highly sandy, dense, thick-bedded; sand is mainly of coarse grain size and quartz composition,
evenly spread 20
10. Limestone: up to 2 m thick layers, dirty gray, clayey-sandy (more clayey than sandy), detrital, alternating with 5-8 m thick
layers of sandstone, yellowish-gray, quartz, dense, fine; member upper layers consist mainly of sandstone and the lower layers are
mostly of limestone with fragments of brachiopods and tabulate corals~ 60
11. Sandstone: yellowish-gray, quartz and quartz-feldspar, thick-bedded, dense, fin
12. Sandstone: reddish-gray or pale cherry-red, with abundant angular clasts (up to 3-4 cm but most often 0.5-1.5 cm); they
are more or less evenly spread but locally accumulated in layers or lenses of gravelstone or fine conglomerate breccias; pebbles and
debris are composed of quartz, jade, chert, or less often sandy limestone and limy sandstone
Rocks of member 12 build the top of a hill but are not the section top. Stratigraphically higher layers crop out
further to the southeast in the core of a synclinal fold on the divide between the Cherga Brook and a broad ravine which

further to the southeast in the core of a synclinal fold on the divide between the Cherga Brook and a broad ravine which rises up the Anui River and descends to Turata Village. The section includes easily recognizable rocks of members 9, 10, and 11, and member 12 is followed upsection by

Member 1 belongs to the Kuimov Formation and members 2 through 12 belong to the Cherny Anui Formation making its stratotype section; member 13 at the section top is most likely Lower Devonian. The incomplete thickness of the Kuimov Formation in the section is about 20 m and the Cherny Anui Formation is 390 m.

The Cherga Section displays a three-stage sedimentary cycle, with terrigenous rocks below, mainly limestone in the middle, and again terrigenous sediments above. The three units show regular transitions: upsection fining of rocks which overlaid by limestone, then again overlaid by fine terrigenous rocks, and, finally – by mostly coarse material on the top. Taken together, the rocks make up a classic sedimentary sequence. The boundary between the lower and middle units is rather sharp being marked by rapid change from variegated terrigenous rocks (member 6) to carbonates (member 7). The middle and upper units are divided by a smoother boundary (interbedded carbonate and terrigenous sediments) which is defined by disappearance of limestone at the base of member 11.

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Stroma- toporoids	Rugose corals	Brachi- opods	Trilobites	Ostracods	Other groups	
		13	>30		S-77131		let. ●	¢	det. ●			
		12	25	00			et sp. ind		et sp. inc			
ц		11	80			-	Gen		ichen. et Yak.) Gen.			
i a	Anu	10	60			gr. podolicum (Yavor gr. <i>katnense</i> Nestor ty <i>picum</i> (Rosen)	<i>acilis</i> Zhelt. sp.n. s <i>nikifo</i> rovae (Bulv.) ; sp.	sp. indet. •	lla waigatschensis (Ts	<i>chiina anuica</i> Pol. <i>bhella altaica</i> Pol.	ite corals ●	
0	У	9	20	······································		oma ex yon ex stroma i	odes gr hylloide: llum sp. iaulactis	Gen. et	arburgei	eobeynic chescap	Tabula	
σ	Ē	8	35		Yo-6620	Densastı Plexodic Parallelo	stereoxy spongop Aucophy		M •	20 • •		
		7	1.5		Yo-6619	• • •						
	e	6	18									
Ч	СС	5	60									
		4	45	лг "Г				(Kulk.) .)	<i>ıra</i> Yolk.			
		3	30	$ \begin{array}{c} + & + \\ + & + & + \\ + $				a operosa xsul (Barı	jella obscı			
vian	2	2	15					trypell: anius e	'arburg			
Ludlov	Kuimo	1	20		Yo-6630			● Ai ● Jé	• 2			


3.3. CENTRAL GORNY ALTAI

3.3.1. Area of Inya Village

Verkhnyaya Karasu Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Sandbian, Katian, Himantian, Rhuddanian, Aeronian, Telychian, Sheinwoodian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten', Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty and Chesnokovka regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten', Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty and Chesnokovka formations.

Zones: exiguus, tuvaensis, linnaei, spiralis graptolite zones.

Fauna: tabulate corals, rugose corals, bryozoans, crinoids, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, gastropods, graptolites, ichnofossils.

Ordovician and Silurian strata including the Ordovician Bugryshikha, Khankhara, and Tekhten' formations and the Silurian Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty, Polaty, Chesnokovka, and Chagyrka formations crop out in a section along the Verkhnyaya Karasu River (right tributary of the Inya River) (Fig. 83).

The section begins on the right bank of the Inya River 200 m downstream of the Verkhnyaya Karasu inflow and continues uphill along the Verkhnyaya Karasu right bank (section S-8413) (Figs 84, 85):

There are two fauna localities in interbedded clayey mudstone and siltstone, equivalent to member I or possibly slightly (300 m) stratigraphically lower, found at 1.5 km down the Inya River from the Verkhnyaya Karasu inflow: loc. 5050 with trilobites Jaboganellus perrectilimbus Petrun. sp. n. and loc. 5050/1 with brachiopods and trilobites.

	2. Limestone: white, locally oolitic, with conchoidal fracture, enclosing sporadic 0.5 m thick and 1 m long lenses of gray clay	ey
siltstor	ne	. 2
	3. Rocks as in member 1	40
	A Line stance shows a larger to win start to sall a sa	2

 I0. Limestone: gray, massive
 15

 11. Siltstone: gray or yellowish-gray, limy-clayey; less often flaggy silty sandstone, with brachiopods found at 3 m above member base
 15

12. Limestone: gray, slightly to highly clayey, thin-bedded in lower layers (5–10 cm) and thick-bedded (to 1 m) in upper layers



Fig. 83. Sketch map of the Verkhnyaya and Nizhnyaya Karasu Rivers interfluve (right tributaries of the Inya River).

15. Limestone: clayey, flaggy (5–15 cm), with tabulate corals at 10 m above member base: Lyopora altaica Dziubo, Paleofavosites
sp., Mesofavosites sp
16. Siltstone, greenish-gray or gray, clayey, with silty sandstone and fine polymictic sandstone in upper layers; with tabulate
corals at 10 m above member base: Cyrtophyllum kaniensis Dziubo Cyr. karasuensis Dziubo, gastropods
17. Limestone: gray or light gray, flaggy (5-10 cm) 12
18. Interbedded lumpy clayey siltstone and silty sandstone
19. Interbedded yellowish- or greenish-gray clayey siltstone (over 70 % vol.) and laminated clayey limestone; with tabulate
corals Cyrtophyllum samyshiensis Dziubo
20. Limestone: gray, massive, in a 20 m long lens; with brachiopods Strophomena aff. lebediensis Severg from 1 to 7
21. Alternating fine polymictic sandstone, silty sandstone, and clayey or less often highly calcareous siltstone; with tabulate
corals at 10 m above member base: Propora parvotabulata (Kiaer), Khangailites sp., Eofletcheria (?) sp
22. Limestone: gray or dark gray, clayey 25
23. Interbedded (5-20 cm) clayey siltstone, silty sandstone, and fine polymictic sandstone, greenish-gray 250
24. Limestone: gray, with faunas at 5 m above member base: brachiopods, gastropods, tabulate corals Mesofavosites subfallax
Dziubo, Paleofavosites alveolaris (Goldfuss), Cyrtophyllum sp., Aulopora sp., Favosites sp., Lyopora minima Dziubo, Baikitolites
karasuensis Dziubo, Baikitolites sp

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Tabulate corals
		35 34 33 32	250 8-15 0-30 3		S-8413-35/30	٩
		31 <u>30</u> 29	55 3		æ r.	
		28	30			
		27	80			
		26 25	8		S-8413-25/5	et Tes. •
	ø	24	35		S-8413-24/5	8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
-	L	23 22	250 25			lax Dziu (Goldfue <i>ihyllum</i> : <i>vostes</i> : <i>vostes</i> : <i>sitolites</i> : <i>corinatu</i> <i>corinatu</i>
ø	в	21 20 19	35 1-7 18	<u></u>	S-8413-21/10	 • /ul>
	ч	18 17	135 12			is Dziubc bulata bulata (thend hand (thend cofavosites a kitolites f aleof avvos 2aleof avvos
t	×	16	140	***	S-8413-16/10	-• nyshiens nyshiens nyshiens nyshiens Eofie Mes Paleofar Pa
	L	15 14	30 35		S-8413-15/10 S-8413-14/20	ziubo ●- es sp. ● ss sp. ● ss Sp. Ubiu filum san Propore
a	а	13b	115			of avosite of avosite Kaniensk Cyrtophy
×	Ч	13a	70		S-8413-13a/40 <u>S-8413</u> -13a/20	-• <i>Yopora &</i> <i>Pale</i> <i>Mess</i> <i>Mess</i> <i>Phyllum</i>
	x	12 11 10	15 15		S-8413-11/3	Cyrtt c
		9	30		S-8413-9/5	Gen
					S-8413-8/20 S-8413-8/10	ater • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
		7	50 120		S-8413-6/60	ullosa Kii kilaan Siaan Si sis Dziu agnellia: araa Dziu uensis D uensis D
		5	125	* * * * *	S-8413-6/40	inidae • Ia vesic Pri arasuei Pri Pri Arasti 1 karasti
-?-	kha	4	3	¥ * * * *		Propc oporel.con bugry.pora k Pragna hyllun
ndbiai	gryshil	2	40		S-0715	Plasmi Pl. Vormsi, Propora Cyttop
Sal	Bug	1	150		00110	<u> </u>

Fig. 84. Ranges of fossil taxa from Verkhnyaya Karasu section.

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brach	niopods	Tabulate corals	Trilobites	Grapto- lites	Rugose corals	Other groups
		7	100	***								•
		6	60		S-8414-6			● .ds se			indet. •	Gastropods
	- u	5	50					esofavosite			Gen. et sp.	
	t e	4	40			:	ndet.	W				
	٩	3	50		S-8414-3/20		n. et sp. i	let. •				
	×	2	20		S-8414-1/250	(● Ger	t sp. inc			eff en)	
	⊢	1	300					Gen. e	ĽĽ.		<i>um</i> (Sch	
		4	40					uetus K	etrun. s o. n. en. ets	Obut	milunatu	
		3	50- 60					letolites ins	<i>ctilimbus</i> P. a Petrun. sp sa Petrun g	f. <i>marinae</i> (ewigkia sei	
-	_?_	2	20- 30		S-919-2			ubo • Ag	is perre p. katunic. a deter	a <i>ptus</i> af sp.	• 6	
a,		1	40- 50			a sp.	et sp. Indel everg.	altaica Dzi	aboganell Chaspops s Harpes sp. Sceptaspis	olygonogr		
		6	30	***	S-916-6/110	phomer	b Gen. Ik. et S sp. ● sp. ●	<i>agemia</i> ubo		••		oids • ods •
	0 _		~		S-916-5/130	 Stroj 	ncta Ku ngerina alairella	 Kara Kara Kara 				Crin Crin Gastrop
+	h a	5	140	****			Eospi	shichiel				
	×	4	90			ga sp.	oirella ci	la bygry				
9	a	3	80		0.010.0100	s) sp. Catazy	Zygos,	noporeli				
×	ч У	2	25		S-916-3/20 S-916-2/3	Aarionite	•	• Plasn				•
		1	90	***	5-91 6-1/30	ostella (A						ryozoans
		2	>10			Aultic						Ξ
		1	100	****	S-91 8-1/60	4		•				

Fig. 84. Continued.

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	
	vka	piralis	20	100	***	S-8412-20/90 S-8412-20/85 S-8412-20/80 S-8412-20/30 S-8412-20/30		
	05	S	19	15		S-8412-19/10 S-8412-19/8 S-8412-19/8	÷	
E	at /		18	>50		0-0412-19/3		
chia	b B G				***	S- 8412-17B/140 S- 8412-17B/135 S- 8412-17B/68		
ely		_	176	160		S-8412-178/05 S-8412-178/46 S-8612-178/40 S-8412-178/36		
		laei	170	100		S 8412-178/30 S 8412-178/24 S 8412-178/22		
	aty	Minr				\$ 64 12-178/16 \$ 64 12-178/7 \$ 64 12-178/7 \$ 64 12-178/4	• • • • •	
	l õ	e s				S-8412-17A/110 S-8412-17A/102	•	
an-	ŝ	ens	17a	120		S-8412-17A/30 S-8412-17A/30 S-8412-17A/20	de li	
Ioni						S-8412-17A/10 S-8412-17 5	ean Gu	
Ae						S-8412-16/35-36	•	
1-	yos		16	40		S-8412-16/23		
ppn	15 E				Ø	S-8412-16/10 S-8412-16/10		
42.e		1	15	10		3-8412-15/5	e adz. Babaron and an and an	
13						S-8412-14/130 S-8412-14/115	tte ssp.e ssp.e ssp.e trinis sis (lsoi ptat	
臣			14	135		S-04 12-14/90	e inde na? nar heris heris aens ggise	
H						S-8412-14/10	sp. dae a Nijka Po Do Do Do Do Do	
11							S-841 13/50	n neric nina neric nina Per Per Per lasss bius cf
11			13	55			Go (G)	
11							(Sa Sp Sp Pe Pe trype trype	
1 = 1							Pe E E F	
1 3	-	1				0.0440.40/00		
4 J	90					S-8412-12/60		
\geq			12	78			Mone and a construction of the construction of	
Le.						S-8412-12/20	v et	
						S-8412-12/15 S-8412-12/10		
11						S-8412-11/60	Nikif Aodz Sfeg	
111						5-8412-11/40	et A Saraha	
			11	64		;	grae likif. ensi	
						/	vVair vota N rthis	
1				10		S-8412-11	Allis ang Isoo	
1			10	1∠ 0,5-3,2	*******	8-8412-10/1 S-8412-9	tt. • Parker •	
			8	14			s skill s s s s s skill s n s n s n s n s n s n s n s n s n s n	
L C			7	10			l shirii shire sa Maria ls ls ls ls ls ls ls ls ls ls ls ls ls	
ti			6	170			grac marve n. elsiki n. elsiki Saiki Saiki Saiki	
lirnan	Ē		5	0,5	· · · · ·	_	a cf. enta e fes p da ku Gee Cus	
	t e			190			P Tax Tax avysi avysi avysi avysi appor mani	
	×		4	100			Al, Historia Historiation Jalon	
jan	⊢ ⊢		2	30	Ð	S-8412-3/25	we Me aras	
at			3	50			nia s P 2001	
<u>×</u>			2	3		S-8412-2/1		
1.1			1	15			0	

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Trilobites	Graptolites
20	100	S-8412-20/90 S-8412-20/85 S-8412-20/80 S-8412-20/30 S-8412-20/25 S-8412-20/25 S-8412-19/10 S-8412-19/10 S-8412-19/18	•	ttz) (but) twood) ut et Sob.
18	>50	S-8412-19/3	N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	eini Cca Dob
17b	160	S 6412-17E/140 S 6412-17E/135 S 6412-17B/68 S 6412-17B/68 S 6412-17B/65 S 6412-17B/65 S 6412-17B/65 S 6412-17B/36 S 6412-17B/36 S 6412-17B/26 S 6412-17B/26 S 6412-17B/26 S 6412-17B/16 S 6412-17B/16 S 6412-17B/16	• Jella cf. obscura Y	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
17a	120	S-8412-17A/102 S-8412-17A/102 S-8412-17A/45 S-8412-17A/30 S-8412-17A/20 S-8412-17A/10 S-8412-17A/5		us (Nich.) rri Perner aptus sp s (Carruthers) nae (Barrando Oktavi Oktavi Monogra
16	40	S-8412-16/35-36 S-8412-16/33 S-8412-16/23 S-8412-16/21 S-8412-16/10 S-8412-16/8		graptus exigu nograptus ma Monog ptus capillaris Rastrites lin
15	10	S-8412-15/5	tae maaie tae maaie tae maaie	yon
14	135	S-8412-14/130 S-8412-14/115 S-8412-14/90 S-8412-14/75 S-8412-14/50 S-8412-14/10 S-8412-14/10	 Index Howells Index Howells <	Stref n Paradiverso
13	55	S-8412-13/50	atus cf. vulsus h rreia ex gr. acyr aumastus cf. fai aumastus Petrun. suensus Petrun. vurab vorotus proprio proetus proprio proetus proprio nurus cf. hagshi nurus cf. hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi hagshi ha	
12	78	S-8412-12/60	Eurna Stenope docalyptus. Flex Flex Flex Eucrit Eucrit Eucrit etus) levicau (Jnyaetus) ¿	
		S-8412-12/20 S-8412-12/15 S-8412-12/10	v. ● Eudoce us (Karasu uliproetus	
		S-8412-11/60	la s la s Ung	
		0-0-12-11/00	agen	
11	64	5-8412-11/40	Podown s Petrun. (
	4.5	S-8412-11	ote:	
10	12	S-8412-10/1 S-8412-9	caly.	
8	14	0-0-12-0	udoc	
7	10		ц Ш	
	170		<u>и</u>	
5	0,5			
4	180			
3	30	S-8412-3/25		
2	3 15	S-8412-2/1		

Fig. 84. Continued.

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Tabulate corals
20	100	S-8412-20/90 S-8412-20/85 S-8412-20/80 S-8412-20/30 S-8412-20/25	
19	15	S-8412-19/10 S-8412-19/8 S-8412-19/3	;
18	>50	S-841 2-17 B/140	
17b	160	5.5412.178/155 5.8412.178/156 5.8412.178/156 5.8412.178/156 5.8412.178/1	•
17a	120	S-8412-17A/10 S-8412-17A/102 S-8412-17A/45 S-8412-17A/30 S-8412-17A/20 S-8412-17A/10 S-8412-17A/5	•
16	40	S-8412-16/35-36 S-8412-16/33 S-8412-16/23 S-8412-16/21 S-8412-16/10 S-8412-16/8	s. Masp. e rasp. e
15	10	S-8412-15/5	sipoi
14	135	S-8412-14/130 S-8412-14/90 S-8412-14/90 S-8412-14/75 S-8412-14/50 S-8412-14/10 S-8412-14/2	oh. • oh. • oh
		S-8412-13/50	● Mirconstant Mirconstant Ssent
13	55		i Mirconica Santa
			s gig murvus nodal noda nodal noda nodal nodal noda noda noda noda noda noda noda noda
-			es pie ses pie sites avoss favo favo favo favo
		S-8412-12/60	ilysiti fravo sche Sche Sche
12	78		Mesod Resoft
		S-8412-12/20	
		S-8412-12/13	
		S-8412-11/60 S-8412-11/50	• 0.0 • 0.0 • 0.0
		S-8412-11/40	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
11	04		zlubc So kilo 30 av
		S-8412-11	
10	12	S-8412-10/5 S-8412-10/1	Shint) Shint) Shussinus Shussinus Censi Ger a mi Ger a mi
9	0,5-3,2	S-8412-9	K Sook Soo
7	10		enia enia enia enia enia tiortu tricus censi censi censi censi calis cosift imori imura nultis cosift ites a nultis cosift
6	170		rgibili ra x s calk lenia s calk lenia s calk n n ricus s s cotar n ricus s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s
5	0,5		ct. le rz zkop inicu k inicu k
4	180		ila?: Ta?: oma oma oma oma sites: sisis: f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f
Ļ		0.0440.0405	astri ass jal Pale Pale Pale Pale Pale Pale Pale Pa
3	30	5-8412-3/25	ismo onite Favc Co A A A
2	3	S-8412-2/1	Pla Pla Donižt
1	15		ŏ

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Tabulate corals	Rugose corals		Stromato- poroids	Other groups
20	100	S-8412-20/90 S-8412-20/85 S-8412-20/80 S-8412-20/30 S-8412-20/25 S-8412-19/10	•		•		stropods• lecypods•
19	15	5-8412-19/3	o k.	Ī	sp.	•	Pel
17b	160	80412:178/140 605417:178/158 505417:178/158	● ● vosites aff. tenuis S		• Cyrtophyllum	Gen. et sp. inde	
17a	120	S-8412-17A/102 S-8412-17A/102 S-8412-17A/45 S-8412-17A/30 S-8412-17A/30 S-8412-17A/10 S-8412-17A/10 S-8412-17A/5	Diploepora sp Paleofa		as Whiteaves dricum Ivnsk		
16	40	S-8412-16/35-36 S-8412-16/33 S-8412-16/23 S-8412-16/21 S-8412-16/10 S-8412-16/8	vus Miron. ●- es Tchern. ● rica Miron. ● rica Miron. E	 p. Zhett. ● 	ıs guelphens hyllum cylin		
15	10	S-8412-15/5 S-8412-14/130	par proid salaii salaii	um s allita intric	pilop		
14	135	S-8412-14/115 S-8412-14/90 S-8412-14/90 S-8412-14/75 S-8412-14/75 S-8412-14/10 S-8412-14/2	Halysites audoorthopte stella ex gr. s blites ex gr. s	 Zhelt. Zhelt. Zhelt. Zhelt. Soshk. Soshk. Calostylus signation methods Mucrophyll. Mucrophyll. Mucrophyll. Calostyla signation methods 	Pycno Proto		
13	55	S-8412-13/50	Halysites cf. pse Aulocys Heli	mitrata Stchloth mitrata Stchloth Altaja gracilis (Cyathactis typus Cyrtiphyllum sti Microl			
12	78	S-8412-12/60		Holophragma Entelop			
		S-8412-12/20 S-8412-12/15 S-8412-12/10		4			
		S-8412-11/60				•	
		S-8412-11/50					
11	64	S-8412-11/40		ndet.		nidt) •	
		S-8412-11		• • • •		Schr	
10	12	S-8412-10/5 S-8412-10/1		nett.		71 (F.	•
9	0.5-3.2 14	5-8412-9		sp. ● 11/1 ta Z 1asm. Ge		ilatu	oans
7	10			actis cora isepti rassii rassii		man	3ryo z
6	170			Cyath: micro crasss C		on cf.	ш
5	0,5			diella diella		dicty	
4	180			Micul		Slelo	
3	30	S-8412-3/25		Milum			• eids
2	3	S-8412-2/1		(dop)			Crinc
1	15			Ente			

Fig. 84. End.

25. Alternating clayey siltstone and silty sandstone, dark olive and greenish-gray, with rare thin (1-3 cm) gray limestone interbeds in lower layers; with tabulate corals found at 5 m above member base: Mesofavosites subfallax Dziubo, Paleofavosites alveolaris (Goldfuss), Cyrtophyllum sp., Ailopora sp., Favosites sp., brachiopods Strophomena sp., gastropods, bryozoans .. 120 26. Limestone: gray or dark gray, with tabulate corals Baikitolites karasuensis Dziubo, Lyopora altaica Dziubo, Paleofavosites 33. Siltstone, clayey, with silty sandstone, and fine sandstone, greenish-gray, in a ~200 m long lens from 0 to 30 34. Limestone: gray or dark gray; with brachiopods in upper layers: Proconchidium cf. tchuilensis Rukav. et Sapel. 8-15 35. Alternating limy-clayey siltstone and fine polymictic sandstone, greenish-gray; at 30-35 m above member base there is a lens (10 m long and up to 5 m thick) of gray limestone; at 120 m above member base there are a few 10 cm thick layers of light gray sandy limestone; sandstone become lightr colored in upper layers; siltstone at 30 m above member base contains brachiopods The top of member 35 is truncated by a fault. Then the section continues as S-918 on the right bank of the Verkhnyaya Karasu River, along a ravine with its head 900 m downstream of the confluence of the left and right Verkhnyaya Karasu; the section begins 100 m far from the ravine head, on its left side, and includes: 1. Alternating clayey flaggy (3-5 cm) siltstone, silty sandstone, and fine sandstone, greenish-gray, light gray or cream-colored; with brachiopods at 60 m above member base: Multicostella (Marionites) sp., tabulate corals Karagemia altaica Dziubo. ~ 100 2. Sandstone: highly calcareous, fine and mediumover 10 Members 1 and 2 of S-918 are equivalent to member 35 of S-8413. The section continuation (S-916) is exposed on the left side of the Verkhnyaya Karasu valley, along the right side of a ravine that descends from 1575.0 m mountain and then runs between 1129.4 m and 1092.1 m hills; the members from the ravine head toward point 1575.0 m are: 1. Siltstone: greenish-gray, calcareous, with 5×3 cm concretions of gray silty sandstone; member contains brachiopods at 30 2. Limestone: gray or yellowish-gray, clayey, locally flaggy (2-7 cm), crinoidal, with thin (1-3 cm) calcareous siltstone interbeds which become more frequent in upper layers; member contains tabulate corals at 3 m from its base: Plasmoporella 3. Siltstone, limy-clayey, flaggy (5-40 cm), and silty sandstone, yellowish-dirty gray, with 10×3 cm concretions of gray 5. Siltstone, calcareous, and silty sandstone, light gray or yellowish; with brachiopods at 130 m above member base: 6. Siltstone: clayey, flaggy (3–15 cm), with scarce 5–15 cm layers of fine sandstone; member contains brachiopods at 60 m and at 110 m from its base; the latter locality (loc. 1471=S-916-6/110) is 300 m below point 1575.0 m: Eospirigerina sp., Salairella sp., trilobites Jaboganellus perrectilimbus Petrun. sp. n., Chaspops sp., Harpes sp., Sceptaspis katunica Petrun. sp. n., Amplocularia detersa Petrun gen et sp. n., graptolites Polygonograptus aff. marinae Obut, Dictyonema sp., bryozoans, crinoids, gastropods, ichnofossils over 130 There are several other sections on the right bank of the Verkhnyaya Karasu River besides S-918 which is truncated by a fault. The strata above the fault (section S-919 on the right side of a ravine, 180 m far from its head located 820 m downstream of the confluence of the left and right Verkhnyaya Karasu) include: 2. Limestone: gray or dark gray (weathered to reddish), slightly clayey, flaggy (0.2--0.3 m), with rugose corals Grewigkia Member 1 of S-919 is equivalent of member 35 of S-8413, and member 4 of S-919 is equivalent of member 4 (or 6) of S-8414 (see below). The S-919 section is truncated by a fault upstream the Verkhnyaya Karasu River and is followed by S-8414 including 7 members listed geographically upstream:





Fig. 85. Fine-bedded, platy siltstones from the Ordovician Bugryshikha Formation, Verkhnyaya Karasu section, member 1 (S-8413-1).

Fig. 86. Relation of fine-bedded clayey limestones with intercalated siltstones and massive limestones from the Ordovician Khankhara Formation, Verkhnyaya Karasu section (members 9 and 10 of section S-8413).



Fig. 87. General view of the middle and lower parts of Verkhnyaya Karasu section (Ordovician Khankhara Formation, members 10–13, section S-8413).

5. Siltstone: gray, limy and clayey
6. Limestone: thick-bedded (massive), with tabulate corals Mesofavosites sp., rugose corals, and gastropods; the member
ccurs slightly downstream of the left and right Verkhnyaya Karasu confluence
7. Siltstone: limy-clayey and silty sandstone, greenish-gray; member occurs at the confluence of the left and right Verkhnyay
arasu and extends upstream the right arm ~ 10
S-8414 is likewise truncated by a fault and then the exposed strata continue as section S-8412 located 350 m nort
f the confluence on the left side of the right stream of Verkhnyaya Karasu R. toward point 1575.2 m (Fig. 88):
1. Sandstone: green-gray, limy, polymictic, fine
2. Limestone: gray, clayey, lumpy, with tabulate corals Palaeofavosites cf. legibilis Sok., Plasmoporella? sp. at 1st m above th
iember base

3. Siltstone: yellow, limy-clayey, cross-bedded; with brachiopods <i>Cliftonia</i> sp. and crinoids found at 25 m above member base
in a lens of dark gray limestone
4. Silty sandstone and fine sandstone, green-gray, thick-bedded (0.5-1.0 m) medium-grained and polymictic in upper layer
The top of member 4 is constrained by a small fault.

	5. Limestone: white, detrital; member top may be cut by a fault	0.5
upper	6. Sandstone: green-gray, quartz, fine, thick-bedded (0.2-0.5 m) and containing scarce (1-2 m) clayey siltstone interbed	eds in
	la vers	170
	7. Siltstone: gray, clayey, foliated	10

11. Limestone: mostly gray or silver-gray, algal-biohermal, $(2 \times 3 \text{ m})$ in a matrix of laminated clayey limestone; with brachiopods in basal layer of black slightly clayey limestone, rugose corals *Entelophyllum articulatum microcorallita* Zhelt, *Miculiella crassiseptata* Ivnsk., *Crassilasma* sp., tabulate corals *Multisolenia tortuosa* Fritz, *Paleofavosites balticus* (Ruchin), *Paleofavosites amkardakensis* Tchern., *Favosites hisingeri* M.Edw. et Haime, *Favosites gotlandicus* Lamark, *Coonites jalomanicus* Galen. sp. n., *Paleocoralites nivalis* Leleshus, *Paleocoralites multica* Galen. sp. n., *Mesofavosites tenuimurus* Miron., *Taxopora xenia* Sok., *Halysites parvus* Miron., *Stelliporella multica* Galen. sp. n., *Coonites jalomanicus crassus* Galen. sp. et subsp. n. At the top of the member in 40 m from the member base stromatoporoids *Slelodictyon* cf. *mamilatum* (F. Sch.), tabulate corals *Mesofavosites gotlandicus* Lamark, rugose corals, at 50 m – brachiopods H tabulate corals, and at 60 m – tabulate corals *Multisolenia tortuosa* Fritz, *Multisolenia misera* Sok. et Tes., *Favosites gotlandicus* Lamark, stromatoporoids *Stelodictyon* cf. *mamillatum* (F.Schmidt) were collected 64

13. Silty sandstone and limy-clayey siltstone, yellow-, or less often green-gray, containing scarce bioherms (2 × 3 m) of gray algal limestone; with trilobites Proetidae in limestone at 50 m above member base, tabulate corals *Halysites parvus* Miron., *Favosites gotlandicus* Lamark, *Mesofavosites dualis* Sok., rugose corals *Crassilasma* sp., brachiopods *Stegerhynchus* cf. *concinnus* (Savage) 55

15. Siltstone: yellow-gray, calcareous, with lenses (0.5–1.0 m) of gray clayey limestone, containing fragments of corals and crinoids; limestone at 5m above member base contains trilobites: *Stenopareia* ex gr. *acymata* Howells, brachiopods *Pentamerus* sp., tabulate corals *Taxopora xenia* Sok., *Multisolenia tortuosa* Fritz, *Paleofavosites simplex* Tchern., rugose corals *Calostylus* sp. ... 10

16. Mudstone, limy-clayey, and siltstone: gray and brownish-gray, with layers and lenses (from 3-5 to 10-20 cm thick) of gray crystalline limestone; member contains trilobites at 8 m above its base: *Bumastus* cf. *vulsus* Howells, *Bum*. cf. *taimyricys* Balash., *Eudocalyptus altaicus* Petrun. gen. et sp. nov., *Eudocalyptus karasuensis* Petrun. gen. et sp. nov., *Flexicalymene* cf. *frontosa* (Lindst.), *Warburgella* ? sp. ind., *Cyphoproetus proprius* Petrun., sp. n., *Cyphoproetus insuetus* Petrun., sp. n., *Eucrinurus* cf. *confusevarus* Howells, *Eucrinurus* cf. *hagshawensis* Lamont, brachiopods *Eospirifer* cf. *chinghizicus* Boriss., *Protatrypa lepidota* Nikif. et Modz., *Septatrypa* sp., *Meristina* sp., *Dolerorthis* sp., at 10 m – trilobites *Radiurus grandis* Petrun. sp. n., *Bumastus* cf. *vulsus* Howells, *Bumastus* cf. *confusevarus* Howells, *Bumastus* cf. *taimyricus* Balash., *Bumastus* sp., *Hemiarges longispinus* Petrun. sp. n., *Flexicalymene* cf. *frontosa* (Lindst.), *Eucrinurus* cf. *confusevarus* Howells, *Eucrinurus* cf. *hagshawensis* Lamont, brachiopods *Lospirifer* cf. *chinghizicus* Boriss., *Protatrypa lepidota* Nikif. et Modz., *Septatrypa* sp., *Meristina* sp., *Dolerorthis* sp., at 10 m – trilobites *Radiurus grandis* Petrun. sp. n., *Bumastus* cf. *vulsus* Howells, *Bumastus* cf. *confusevarus* Howells, *Eucrinurus* cf. *hagshawensis* Lamont., *Eucrinurus* sp., *Eudocalyptus altaicus* Petrun. gen. et sp. nov., *Flexicalymene* cf. *frontosa* (Lindst.), *Foetus* sp., *Cyphoproetus proprius* Petrun. gen. et sp. nov., *Proetus* sp., *Cyphoproetus proprius* Petrun. gen. et sp. nov., *Proetus* sp., *Cyphoproetus proprius* Petrun. sp. n., *Cyphoproetus insuetus* Petrun. sp. n., brachiopods *Eospirifer* cf. *chinghizicus* Boriss., *Protatrypa lepidota* Nikif. et Modz., *Septatrypa* sp., *Meristina* sp., *Dolerorthis* sp., tabulate corals *Taxopora xenia* Sok., *Protatrypa lepidota* Nikif. et Modz., *Septatrypa* sp., *Meristina* sp., *Dolerorthis* sp., tabulate corals *Taxopora xeni*



Fig. 88. General view of the upper part of Verkhnyaya Karasu section (members 1–8, section S-8412 – Ordovician Tekhten' Formation, members 9–14, section S-8412 –Silurian Polaty Formation).



Fig. 92. General view of massive reef limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation, near the mouth of the Chuya River.

17b. Siltstone: gray or dark-silver-gray, clayey, less often limy, with lenses (3–5 m long and up to 1–2 m thick) of gray slightly clayey limestone; member contains trilobites in one such lens at 4 m above member base, brachiopods *Protatrypa lepidota* Nikif. et Modz., *Isorthis* sp., *Leangella* sp., *Dolerorthis* sp., *Glassia* sp., *Leptaena* sp., rugose corals *Pycnostylus guelphensis* Whiteaves, *Protopilophyllum cylindricum* Ivnsk., tabulate corals *Halysites parvus* Miron., *Palaeofavosites* sp., *Diploepora* sp. at 16 and 135 m. Graptolites were recovered: at 4th m – *Streptograptus exiguus* (Nich.), *Paradiversograptus capillaris* (Carruthers), *Monograptus* sp., at 7th m – *Monograptus* sp., at 16th m – *Streptograptus exiguus* (Nich.), *Monograptus marri* Perner, *Rastrites linnae* (Barrande), *Paradiversograptus exiguus* (Nich.), at 18th m – *Streptograptus exiguus* (Nich.), *Monograptus marri* Perner, at 22nd m – *Streptograptus exiguus* (Nich.), at 24th m – *Monograptus marri* Perner, at 30th m – *Streptograptus exiguus* (Nich.), *Monograptus exiguus* (Nich.), *Monograptus marri* Perner, at 40th m – *Monograptus marri* Perner, *Streptograptus exiguus* (Nich.), *Oktavites* sp., at 46th m – *Oktavites* sp., at 65th m – *Monograptus* sp., at 68th m – *Monograptus marri* Perner, at 140 m – *Monograptus* sp.

More graptolites (*Monograptus tuvaensis* Obut) occur at two localities (loc. S-8410-11/10 and S-8410-11/19) in equivalents of member 17 located 300–350 m to the north, on the same ridge but in the other limb of the synclinal fold.

18. Sodded interval, with siltstone debrisover 50

The top and bottom of the Verkhnyaya Karasu section are constrained by faults; faults also divide the parts of the composite section but they do not disturb the stratigraphic succession. Member 1 of S-8413 belongs to the Bugryshikha Formation and members 2 through 35 of S-8413 belong to the Khankhara Formation; members 1 through 7 of S-8414 and members 1 through 8 of S-8412 are assigned to the Tekhten' Formation; members 9 through 15 occur in a large tectonic lens and belong to the Polaty Formation; member 16 of S-8412 belongs to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation, member 17a and lower member 17b of S-8412 belong to the Syrovaty Formation, upper member 17b and members 18 and 19 of S-8412 belong to the Polaty Formation, and member 20 of S-8412 belongs to the Chesnokovka Formation.

The following graptolite zone could be distinguished in the section S-8412: *exiguus* (middle 17a and lower 17b), *tuvaensis* (middle 17a), *linnaei* (lower 17b), and *spiralis* (member 20).

In the year 2007 P. Mannik collected limestone samples from the Verkhnyaya Karasu section. Chemical proceeding revealed conodonts (provisional identification): from the lower part of the section (member 10, loc. S-8413), sample N 5 - Panderodus sp.; from the middle part of the section (member 6, loc S-8414), sample N 6 - Panderodus sp., Oulodus? cf. panuarensis Bischoff; from the upper part of the section (member 14, loc. 8412), sample N 7-Panderodus sp.

The thicknesses of the Ordovician formations in the composite Verkhnyaya Karasu section are at least 150 m for the Bugryshikha Formation, up to 2000 m for the Khankhara Formation, and about 650 m for the Tekhten' Formation.

The thicknesses of the Silurian formations are about 160 m for the Vtorye Utyosy Formation, 250 m for the total of the Syrovaty Formation, from 80 m to 220 m for the Polaty Formation, and over 100 m for the Chesnokovka Formation.

Inva Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Telychian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Syrovaty and Polaty regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara, Tekhten', Syrovaty and Polaty formations. *Fauna:* algae, tabulate corals, rugose corals, crinoids, ostracods, brachiopods, gastropods. A Lower Silurian section crops out on the left bank of the Katun' River opposite Inya Village on the Chuya Roadway

(Fig. 89). The section (S-9041) includes (Fig. 90):

Thickness, m
1. Siltstone: hornfelsed over 50
2. Sandstone: slightly calcareous, fine; member contains indefinable rugose corals, tabulate corals, and brachiopods Strophomena
cf. lebediensis Severg. In lower (loc. 1367/1) and upper (loc. 1367/3) layers, indetermined rugose and tabulate corals
3. Interbedded (10–20 m) fine sandstone and siltstone
4. Interbedded (0.10.2 m) bioclastic sandy limestone and calcareous siltstone, with (loc. 1366) ostracods, tabulate corals
Paleofavosites sp., indetermined rugose corals, and indetermined brachiopods
5. Siltstone: thin-bedded
6. Interbedded (1-3 m) grayish brown limy sandstone and white marbled limestone
Further tectonic dislocation is observed. The terrigenous part (Rhuddanian, Aeronian and Lower Telychian)

belonge to the Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty formations dropped out of the section. The Syrovaty Formation section could be observed in 500 north-east, opposite old Katun' bridge, in 600 m from the the slope toe.

7. Limestone: gray or grayish brown, marbled, with sporadic algal caliptrae (small bioherms from 10-15 cm to 1 m in diameter) with a length/width ratio of 3/1; member contains indetermined rugose corals, tabulate corals, brachiopods (loc. 1364, 500 m upstream of the old bridge across the Katun' River, 80 m far from the slope toe). Fauna collected throughout the member thickness (loc. 9153): rugose corals Alta ja kasandiensis Zhelt. sp. n., Cyathactis tenuiseptatum Soshk., Miculiella crassiseptata Ivnvs., Tryplasma loweni (M.Edw. et Haime), Strombodes socialis (Soshk.), Diplophyllum (?) microcorallites Zhelt. sp. n., tabulate corals Multisolenia nikiforovae Sok. et Tes., Helioplasmolites sp., Halysites parvus Miron., Paleofavosites paulus Sok., Taxopora xenia Sok., Favositidae, (loc. 9155) tabulate corals Paleofavosites balticus (Rukhin), indetermined gastropods over 200

Members 1-3 belong to the Khankhara Formation, members 4 through 6 - to the Tekhten' Formation, members 7 to 9-to the Syrovaty Formation and member 10-to the Polaty Formation. Thus, the thicknesses of the Khankhara Formation in the section is over 150 m, Tekhten' Fm. - exceeds 160 m, Syrovaty Fm. - over 160 m, and Polaty Fm. - over 200 m.

Chuya Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Telychian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Syrovaty and Polaty regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Syrovaty and Polaty formations. Fauna: tabulate corals, rugose corals, bryozoans, crinoids, trilobites.

The documented Lower Silurian section along the Chuya Roadway near the Chuya River mouth exposed in bedrock outcrops and roadway excavations (S-9052) includes (Figs 91-93):

Thickness, m
1. Siltstone: clayey, thin-bedded, green-gray>50
2. Siltstone and sandy-siltstone: hornfelsed, gray, dark gray and brownish-gray>450
3. Siltstone, calcareous, banded, thinly interbedded (0.20.3 m) with limy mudstone and clayey limestone, green-gray or light
gray; limestone layers are lens-shaped and occur in lower member half; with (loc. 1242) tabulate corals Palaeofavosites sp., Coenites
sp., (loc. S-9052-2 = 1374) trilobites Podowrinella straitonensis Clarkson, Podowrinella sp., Warburgella insperata Yolk., Illaenacea,
brachiopods Stegerhynchella (?) angaciensis (Tchern.), Isorthis angaciensis Vlad., Amphistrophia striata (Hall.), Molearnites cf.
prosperus Kulk., indetermined rugose corals, bryozoans, crinoids
4. Limestone: dark gray, clayey, flaggy (0.20.3 m), with scarce thin layers and patches of gray mudstone contain (loc. S-
9052-7 = 1374/1) tabulate corals Favosites ex gr. forbesi M.Edw. et Haime. Thin beds and patches of gray mudstones



Fig. 89. Sketch map of the left bank of the Katun' River, vicinity of the Inya Village.

5. Limestone: dark gray, (0.5-1 m) laminated, locally with a honecomb structure produced by thin (2-5 cm) layers of gra	ay
wavy-bedded bioclastic limestone inside light gray thinly banded slightly clayey limestone	10
6. Limestone: dark gray, clayey	>5
7. Limestone: light gray, clayey, flaggy (0.2–0.3 m)	~ 3
8. Limestone: light gray, thick-bedded (5 m), bioclastic, with tabulate corals (loc. S-9052-7 = 1374/2) Multisolenia misera S	ok.
et Tes., Mesofavosites mediocrinus Miron., Mes. olbiquus Sok., Mes. dualis Sok., Halysites densus Miron ~	20

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brachio- pods	Rugose corals Tabulate corals	Other fauna
Telychian	Polaty	10	>200		9155 9153 1364	•	Gen. et sp. indet. s Zhelt. sp. n. • statum Soshk. • statum Soshk. • sur et Haime) • szhelt. sp. n. • s Zhelt. sp. n. • s Zhelt. sp. n. • s Zhelt. sp. n. • s zhelt. sp. n. • e Sok. et Tes. • farmolites sp. • parvus Miron. • s paulus Sok. • ra xenia Sok. • ra xenia Sok. • ra xenia Sok. • ra xenia Sok. •	Gastropods●
eronian	aty	9	80				taja kasandiensi athactis tenuisep athactis tenuisep ma loweni (M.Ec Strombodes soc Strombodes soc (?) microcorallite (?) microcorallite Heliop Heliop Paleofavosite Paleofavosite	
ian/A	r o v	8	>30		1363		Al Al Cyultas	
Phuddar	Sy	7	>50				eptatum Ivnv	
Hirnantian	ten'	6	80				rassilasma crassis	
	Tekh	5	50		Severg.	C leofavosites	tracods	
		4	30		1366	ediensi et. ●	• Fa	• Os
Katian	Katian hara		100			s <i>trophomena</i> cf. <i>leb</i> Gen. et sp. indŧ		
	Khankha	2	50		1367/3 1367/1	•		
		1	>50					

Fig. 90. Ranges of fossil taxa from Inya section.



Fig. 93. Ranges of fossil taxa from Chuya section.

1376

Sičn



Fig. 94. Stratal (A) and bunchy (B) stromatolites from limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation, upper part of Chuya section.



Fig. 95. Syngenetic slips healed with clayey material within massive limestones of the Silurian Polaty Formation, upper part of Chuya section.



Fig. 96. Rhythmical structure of the bedded limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation in the middle part of Chuya section.



Fig. 97. Detrital beds in massive limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation, middle part of Chuya section.



Fig. 98. Fine chert micro-beds in massive bedded limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation in the middle part of Chuya section.



Fig. 99. Syngenetic strike-slip folds in non-lithified limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation in the middle part of Chuya section.

9. Limestone: light gray, gray or silver-gray, massive, with thin (3-5 mm) layers of black chert at every 2-7 cm, each of thin
banding (0.5-1 mm); this chert may have been produced by silicification of algal films ~2
10. Limestone: dark gray, bioclastic, massive; with tabulate corals (loc. S-9052-7 = 1374/1) Mesofavosites dualis Sok.,
Halysites sp
11. Limestone: gray and light gray, massive, with 0.2-1.0 m layers containing tabulate or less often columnar (up to 0.1-0.15
m high) stromatolites
12. Limestone: gray or dark gray, massive
In the year 2007 P. Mannik collected limestone sample (N 4) from the Chuya section. Chemical proceeding revealed
condents (provisional identification): Panderodus ex gr greenladensis Armstrong Asnelundia? of expanse Armstrong

conodonts (provisional identification): Panderodus ex gr. greenladensis Armstrong, Aspelundia? cf. expansa Armstrong, Ozarkodina sp.

Members 1-3 belong to the Syrovaty Formation and members 3 through 12 belong to the Polaty Formation. The Polaty section is of a carbonate coral- and stromatolite-biohermal type (Figs 94–99).

3.3.2. Area of Bely Bom Village

Bely Bom Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, ?Hirnantian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Regional Stage (Horizon).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Formation. *Fauna:* tabulate corals, brachiopods.

Upper Ordovician strata crop out in the vicinity of Bely Bom Village on the right bank of the Chuya River; they are poorly characterized by faunas but contain one of region's largest reefal buildup of that age (Figs 100, 101).

Upper Ordovician rocks are exposed in sections S-9117 and S-9045 upstream of Bely Bom along an old roadway right near the contact with massive limestone and on toward the Satakular Brook mouth (Fig. 102):

Fig. 100. Sketch map of location of Bely Bom.





Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	Tab ulate corals	Other fauna
ıtian		7	20					
Hirnar		6	15					
<u>(</u> 3)		5	>50		S-9045-1			
		4	20		S-9045-2			
i a n	Tekhten'	3	>200			lerg.) (Severg.)	<i>ella</i> Smith. s <i>uensis</i> Dziubo	
K a t		2	70		1437	s cf. insignis (Severg.) Severginella altaica (Sev Lepidocycloides insignis	 Catenipora cf. parall Nyctopora sp. Wormsipora cf. kara 	
	Khankara	1	>70		483 1436	 Lepidocycloides 		 Rugose corals

Fig. 101. General view of Bely Bom section.

Fig. 102. Ranges of fossil taxa from Bely Bom section.

1. Sandstone: brown or pale yellow, rather quartz, fine, with calcareous cement; two 15-20 cm thick layers of gray and dirty gray sandy-clayey limestone spaced at 4 m, at 50 m from member top, contain brachiopods Lepidocycloides cf. insignis (Severg.) and rugose corals (loc. 1436, 50 m far from the old roadway and 1.5 km far from the Satakular Brook mouth); fine sandstone in upper layers coexists with calcareous siltstone 400 m far from the old roadway toward 1283.3 m mountain; it may be the member containing 2 Limestone grav or dark grav slightly clavey thin-bedded (3-5 cm): member contains tabulate corals (400m f

	2. Entestone. gray of dark gray, signify elayey, tim-bedded (5 5 cm), mentoer contains tabuate corais (400m from foc. 1457)
	3. Limestone: gray or light gray, massive
	4. Siltstone: gray or yellowish-gray, clayey; (loc. S-9045-2, on a low hill right above the Satakular Brook mouth on its left
bank)	
	5. Limestone: gray or light gray; massive; (loc. S-9045-1)>50

There the member was probably truncated by a fault and the following section includes:

6. Limestone: gray or silver-gray, clayey, flaggy (from 1-3 cm to 1 m), with 1 to 20 cm thick interbeds of clayey siltstone;

Then, possibly above a fault, there follow:

The member boundaries are marked by faults, and some parts of the section may repeat. Member 1 belongs to the Upper Khankhara Formation or to the Lower Tekhten' Formation; the other members rather belong to the Tekhten' Formation; the top member may already belong to the Lower Silurian Vtorye Utyosy Formation. Thus, the thickness of the Tekhten' Formation in the section may exceed 700 m.

3.3.3. Area of Bolshoi Yaloman Village

Yaloman-1 Section

.

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Rhuddanian, Aeronian, Telychian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty and Polaty regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty and Polaty formations.

Fauna: tabulate corals, rugose corals, graptolites.

Lower Silurian strata crop out upstream of Bolshoi Yaloman Village along the Yaloman River, in a section (S-894) on the river right bank, 3.1 km upstream of the mouth, on the right side of a ravine, opposite a bridge across the Yaloman R. (Fig. 103). It includes (Fig. 104):

Thickness, m

1. Mudstone and siltstone: silver to dark gray, clayey, with 0.2--0.3 m thick interbeds of gray fine polymictic sandstone in lower 25 m; rocks in lower 90-100 m are more massive than rocks above; member contains graptolites: at 45th m – Pseudoclimacograptus sp., Glyptograptus sp., Diplograptus (s.l.) sp., at 90th m – Monograptus sp., Glyptograptus sp., Diplograptus sp., Demirastrites sp., at 135th m – Pseudoclimacograptus sp., Diplograptus (s.l.) sp. indet., Monograptus sp., Pribylograptus sp., Petalolithus ex gr. ovatoelongatus (Kurck), at 142nd m – Monograptus sp., at 150th m – Diplograptus (s.l.) sp. indet., at 155th m – Glyptograptus

2. Mudstone and siltstone (70% vol.): dirty yellow-gray, laminated (0.1-0.3 m), with interbeds (up to 30 % vol.) of dark gray detrital clayey limestone, locally oolitic, and lenses of purer massive limestone; member contains tabulate corals at 3 and 5 m from its base. At 3rd m of the member (loc. S-894-2/3) indetermined tabulate corals and (loc. S-894-4/3) rugose corals Altaja minima Zelt., at 5th m (loc. S-894-2/5, loc. S-894-4/5) tabulate corals *Mesofavosites dualis* Sok., *Paleofavosites* sp. (varying along strike) from 2 m to 16

	010
3. Siltstone: light gray, clayey	0 m
4. Limestone: dark gray, highly clayey, flaggy, with tabulate corals at 5 m and brachiopods at 35 m above member base.	. 55

In the year 2007 P. Mannik collected 3 limestone samples from the member 4 (loc. S-894-4) of the Yaloman-1 section. Chemical proceeding revealed conodonts (provisional identification): sample N 1-Panderodus sp., sample N 2 – Panderodus sp., Aspidognatus sp. Oulodus? sp., Ozarkodina sp., Aspelundia sp., Belodella sp., sample N 3 – Panderodus sp.

The lower part of member 1 belongs to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation, and the upper part - to Syrovaty Formation. Members 2-6 are aligned with the Polaty Formation. Thickness of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation may exceed 100 m, Syrovaty Formation – about 90 m, Polaty Formation – 250 m.



Fig. 103. Sketch map of Yaloman River, mid-stream.

ORDOVICIAN PALAEOGEOGRAPHY AND PALAEOCLIMATE

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Tabulate corals	Rugose corals	Other groups
Rhudda-SAero-STelychian	Vtorye Syrovaty P o I a t y	6 5 4 3 2	091× 10 2-16		S-894-4/35 S-894-4/35 S-894-1/155 S-894-1/155 S-894-1/155 S-894-1/142 S-894-1/135 S-894-1/90 S-894-1/45	 Pseudoclimacograptus sp. Glyptograptus sp. Glyptograptus sp. Demirastrites sp. Demirastrites sp. Pribylograptus sp. Ribylograptus sp. Glyptograptus sp. Glyptograptus cunninis (Lapworth) Streptograptus sp. 	Gen. et sp. indet. ●● Mesofavosites dualis Sok. ●● Paleofavosites sp. ●●	Altaja minima Zelt. •	Brachiopods

Fig. 104. Ranges of fossil taxa from Yaloman-1 section.

Stage	Formation	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Tabulate corals	Rugose corals	Brachi- opods
Shein- woodian	Chesnokovka	5	>150		1037	aleofavosites paulus Sok. ok. ok. ch chern) adorna cosites pseudophorbesi Sok. evosites pseudophorbesi Sok. entina prisca Sok. a atraica Miron. e altaica Miron. e densus Miron. e densus Miron.	t Haime) kahi. <i>na sibiricum</i> Ivnsk. s ex gr. <i>typu</i> s Soshk.	
chian	y	4	>50		1036/2 1036/1	<i>ica</i> Galenko sp. n. <i>ilysites lavus</i> Miron. <i>nia tortuosa</i> Fritz osites cf. <i>legibilis</i> S. <i>ora elegans</i> Dziubo <i>s gotlandicus</i> Lamal <i>s hemisphericus</i> (1 <i>isstes dualis</i> Sok <i>bilis</i> Sok. <i>multisole</i> <i>Taxopori</i> <i>Subalviolitella</i> <i>Halysites</i> <i>Paleofavosites b</i>	na Ioveni (M.Edw. et Nyllum articulatum V • Cystilasn	(Sower.) • a (Barr.) • • (Daim.) •
Теіу	Polat	3	20 5		1036	Paleofavosites sp. Paleofavosites multi Paleofavo Multisole Paleofavo Paleofavo Favosite Mesofavo Mesofavo sma sp	 Tryplasn Enteloph 	chidium cf. knighti Sypidula cf. pelagic oathyńs cf. didyma
		1	>50		1035 9444/1			Con

Fig. 105. Ranges of fossil taxa from Yaloman-2 section.



Fig. 106. Fine rhythmical intercalation of calcareous mudstones and clayey limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation, Yaloman-1 section, member 2.



Fig. 107. Fine-platy clayey limestones from the Silurian Polaty Formation, Yaloman-1 section, member 4.



Fig. 108. Sketch map of the Katun' riverside, northern Gorny Altai (modified from Ermikov et al., 1979).

Yaloman-2 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Telychian, ?Sheinwoodian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Polaty and Chesnokovka regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Syrovaty and Polaty formations. *Fauna:* tabulate corals, rugose corals, brachiopods, crustaceans.

The Yaloman-2 section continues upstream Yaloman R. right bank, in 150 m far from the Ak-Kaya Ravine head, on the ravine's right side (S-895, S-896) (Figs 105–107): Thickness, m

1. Limestone: gray, massive, with tabulate corals (loc. 9444/1) *Paleofavosites paulus* Sok., *Paleofavosites* sp., (loc. 1035) *Paleocoralites multica* Galenko sp. n., *Paleofavosites* sp.

2. Limestone: gray, laminated, with (loc. 1036) rugose corals *Tryplasma loveni* (M.Edw.

et Haime), Entelophyllum articulatum Wahl., Cystilasma sibiricum lvnsk, tabulate corals Mesofavosites dualis Sok., Shedohalysites laxus Miron., Favosites pseudophorbesi Sok., Helioplasma sp., Multisolenia tortuosa Fritz, Paleofavosites paulus Sok., Paleofavosites cf. legibilis Sok., Wormsipora elegans Dziubo, Favosites gotlandicus Lamark, Tuvaelites hemisphericus (Tchern.)

3. Siltstone: gray or greenish-bluish-gray, calcareous 20

4. Limestone: gray clayey, with patches of calcareous siltstone. From the middle part of the member were recovered: tabulate corals *Mesofavosites dualis mirabilis* Sok., *Helioplasma* sp., rugose corals *Cystilasma sibiricum* Ivnsk, *Cyatactis* ex gr. *typus* Soshk., brachiopods *Conchidium* cf. *knighti* (Sower.), *Gypidula* cf. *pelagica* (Barr.), *Protathyris* cf. *didyma* (Dalm.),

crustaceans. At the upper part of the member (loc. 1036/2) tabulate corals Paleofavosites paulus Sok., Mesofavosites dualis Sok.,
Favosites pseudophorbesi Sok., Helioplasma sp. have been collected
5. Siltstone: clayey, rarely calcareous, dark-grey and grey, with (loc. 1037) tabulate corals Multisolenia prisca Sok., Taxopora
altaica Miron., Subalviolitella repentina Sok., Halysites densus Miron., Mesofavosites dualis Sok., Paleofavosites balticus (Rukhin),
Helioplasma sp>150
Members 1 to 4 belong to the Polaty Formation; and members 5 – to the Chesnokovka Formation. Thickness of
the Polaty Formation is more than 130 m, and the incomplete thickness of the Chesnokovka Formation exceeds 150 m.

3.4. NORTHERN GORNY ALTAI

3.4.1. Area of Kamlak Village

Kamlak Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Upper Cambrian, Tremadocian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Dobry and Tayanza regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Kamlak Formation (Lower, Middle and Upper Subformations). Zones: Cordylodus lindströmi – Iapetognathus fluctivagus conodont zones, osloensis – ramosus graptolite zone.

Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, conodonts, graptolites, chitinozoans.

Tremadocian strata are most completely represented and best constrained by faunas near Kamlak Village thus making a tie for Tremadocian correlations throughout the Gorny Altai. A small $(6 \times 7 \text{ km})$ Kamlak graben is filled with terrigenous-carbonate sediments folded in an asymmetric fold cut by faults. According to lithology and fauna patterns, the stratotype section includes three units of unequal thicknesses: the Lower, Middle, and Upper Kamlak Subformations (Figs 109, 110).



Fig. 109. Sketch map of the Maly Kamlak River, lower stream (modified from Ermikov et al., 1979).

Stage	⁻ ormation	Subfor- nation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	Graptolites	Conodonts	Chitino- zoans	Proble- matics
				30	>30						- 14	
			-2-	29	330		40777/4					
			loensis-	28	70	. 7-2	S-7663 S-7661 S-7664		e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e			-
			Iai	27	8		3306A 3306 906	ō	us s ogg onse onse onse t So t Su us s us s us s us s us s us s us s		aç k	
a n				25- 26	295		<u>8-7662</u>	<i>iformis</i> Sever g. is Severg.	Anisograpt Anisograpt ff. ramosus Br aff. kjerulfi Lap aff. kjerulfi Lap s osloensis M boreus Obut e Kiaerograpt Triogra Bryogra		' <i>typica</i> Eisena <i>rinacea</i> Eisena	
				24	35		910B 910A	verg dens ever erg. iens iens	us a ptus aptu /per		ninol or e	
с 0	a k	Upper		22- 23	220		S-7665	pphina altaica Sev eeluburgia arbuck rthis shortensis S this vicina (Valc. bula shorica Seve brina sp. Inburgia sp. rolina cf. kondom rtis asiatica Seve	Bryograpt Bryograp Troigr Aletograptus hy		Desmochitina m Desmochitina min	•
ad	- u			21	115- 170		S-7658 952 18777/4 970 961	 Syntro Syntro Apheor Apheor Syntrol Finke Pano Notho 		ice et Jones	Γ	av. et Obut +
e m	Ka			20	170					<i>at sonensis</i> Dru p.		jetocystis Zasl
L				17- 19	125	0 0 0 8 9 9)neotodus d)neotodus s _l		Ą
T		liddle		16	250		I-9812/12 988 979			indet. •		
		Σ		15	31					sp.		
				10- 13	103	Q. 0. 0. Q. 0. 0				Gen. et		
				9	34		972A 972 S-7648					
Batyrbaian.		Lower		8	>20 117		984a 984 985 987a 987a 986a 986a 986a					

Fig. 110. Ranges of fossil taxa from Kamlak section.

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Trilobites
30	>30		
29	330		
28	70	19777/1 S-7663 S-7661 S-7664 S-7664	Euloma sp.
27	8	3308A 3308 906 S-7662	
25- 26	295		<i>Traptus</i> sp. <i>Traptus</i> sp. <i>Traptus</i> sp. <i>Traptus</i> sp. <i>trantus</i> sp. <i>trantus</i> (Sars
24	35	910B	trun. Saliog Saliog
		S-7665	la Pe e sp.
22- 23	220		a platycepha Shumardi Shumardi Kaltykelin Macropyg us atraicus Pe Lel
21	115- 170	S-7658 952 18777/4 970 961	a Petrun. ds.) Hysterolen Borogothi
20	170) robustipin Max. Ssoni (Troee strun. Petrun. Zuy. Zuy. Apatokephi Apatokephi
17- 19	125		n. ella (Batyrinié ella (Batyrinié za coronatus Z. des cf. ander des cf. ander des cf. ander auts cenatas P. Bijaspis Paraptiom
		1-9812/12	s Petrui Petrun. Iffmann trus cf. Vypelfoi bella de bella de bella de
16	250	988 9 7 9	etrun. run. run. siss Petrun. aj improvisus is Petrun. bustipinat F bustipinat Aau Petrun.
15	31		ins P. a Petta S. Pet
10-	103		s exim na lat polidic s Petia : a con Maxim Maxim is Petia s ang tytelin is ang bi des bi des hi des
13	100	972A	loides penas p
9 8	34 >20	972 S-7648	Ampic licross obs rem roces ampa ampa ampa ampa ampa ampa ampa amp
1-7	117	984A 984 985 987A 987 986A	Bilacunas L Bilacunas L Actin Shpeln Shpeln



Fig. 111. Massive limestones from the Ordovician Middle Kamlak Subformation, Kamlak section, member 16.



Fig. 112. Rhythmical intercalation of siltstones and mudstones from the middle part of the Ordovician Upper Kamlak Subformation, Kamlak section.



Fig. 113. Massive conglomerates from the Ordovician Lower Kamlak Subformation, Kamlak section, member 24.



Fig. 114. Clayey massive bedded limestones from the Ordovician Upper Kamlak Subformation, Kamlak section, member 27.

The Lower Kamlak Subformation crops out in the middle reaches of the Maly Kamlak River where the base of the Kamlak Formation conacts, along a fault, with the volcanic rocks of the Middle Cambrian Ust'-Sema Formation. The Lower Kamlak Subformation section includes:

Thickness, m

 Limestone: light gray, locally pinkish- or brownish-gray, thick-bedded, with trilobites in 1-m thick layers (loc. 986): Harpidoides eximins Petrun., Acrocephalina lata Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., Bilacunaspis repentis Petrun., Niobella altaiensis Petrun., (loc. 986a) trilobites Proapatokephalops altaicus Petrun., Plethopeltides (Maximovella) improvisus Petrun., Lusampa tenuis Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Acrocephalina lata Petrun., Acrocephalina contracta Petrun., (loc. 987) trilobites Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Bilacunaspis cf. repentis Petrun., Acrocephalina lata Petrun., Acrocephalina contracta Petrun., Proapatokephalops altaicus Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., Lusampa tenuis Petrun., (loc. 987a) trilobites Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Proapatokephalops altaicus Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., Lusampa tenuis Petrun., Ioc. 987a) trilobites Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Ishpella repentina Petrun., Kaufmannella (Butyrinia) robustipinata Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., Acrocephalina contracta Petrun., Schoephalina contracta Petrun., Caufmannella (Butyrinia) robustipinata Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., Acrocephalina lata Petrun., Acrocephalina contracta Petrun., Caufmannella (Butyrinia) robustipinata Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., Caufmannella (Butyrinia) robustipinata Petrun., Lusampa cu
3. Limestone: lilac- or pinkish-gray, of uncertain banding, crinoidal; a 50-cm thick layer (loc. 985) contains trilobites <i>Lusampa</i> temuis Petrun., Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Harpidoides eximins Petrun., Acrocephalina lata Petrun., Kaltykelina altaica Petrun. etc. 6-8
4. Siltstone: lilac-gray, calcareous, of uncertain bedding
5. Limestone: pinkish-gray, massive, locally thin-bedded; a 50-cm thick layer (loc. 984) contains trilobites Niobella altaiensis
Petrun., Bilacunaspis cf. repentis Petrun., Acrocephalina lata Petrun., Acrocephalina contracta Petrun., Harpidoides eximius Petrun.,
Lusampa cupoides Petrun., (loc. 984a) trilobites Kaufmannella (Batyrinia) robustispina Petrun., Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Bilacunaspis
cf. repentis Petrun., Bilacunaspis angusta Petrun., Proapatokephalops altaicus Petrun., Kaltykelina altaica Petrun., Acrocephalina
lata Petrun., Harpidoides eximius Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun. etc
6. Siltstone and slightly calcareous mudstone: lilac or brown-red, with layers of gray fine massive rather quartz-feldspar
7 Conclomerate: fine with well, and rather well rounded nebble of black and red quartizite and grapite in a sandy clayer, limy
cement
The total thickness of the Lower Kamlak Subformation is about 120 m.
The Lower and Middle Kamlak subformations are divided by a fault. The Middle Kamlak Subformation comprises:
8. Siltstone: gray or purple-gray, with 1-3 cm thick silty sandstone interbeds>20
9. Limestone: light gray, massive, crystalline, with 2-4 m thick layers and lenses of purple-red limestone at member base;
a 50-cm thick limestone layer (loc. 972, 972a) contains trilobites Kaufmannella (Batyrinia) robustispina Petrun., Niobides cf.
armatus Harr. et Leanza, Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Kaltykelina altaica Petrun., Platypeltoides cf. anderssoni (Troeds.), Platypeltoides
cf. wimani (Troeds.), Macropyga urceolata Petrun., Apatokephalus kamlakensis Petrun., Euloma sp., Harpidoides assoensis Petrun.,
Glaphurus cf. coronatus Z.Max., brachiopods Finkelnburgia arbucklensiformis Severg., Syntrophina altaica Severg., Nanorthis
shoriensis Severg., Apheorthis vicina (Walc.). Chemical proceeding of rock samples revealed (loc. S-7648) conodonts Oneotodus
datsonensis Druce et Jones from the member base
10. Conglomerate: fine to medium, with well rounded but poorly sorted pebbles of diverse quartzite, porphyry, less often
schists, gneisses, and limestone in a limy-sandy cement
11. Siltstone: lilac-gray, brownish-gray or greenish-gray
12. Conglomerate: fine to medium, compositionally similar to that in member 10
13. Sandstone: variegated, rather quartz-feldspar, outsized, with minor amounts of disseminated "jasperiods" 12
14. Conglomerate: fine to medium
15. Sinstone: Inac or prown-red
10. Limestone: light gray, massive, crystalline, with lenses and layers (1-5 m) of reduish and gray isn-brown timestone in lower
7 Max Nichella sp. Ishnella platua platua platua Macropuga uracelata Petrup. A patokanhalus kamlakansis Petrup. Laja anostus
cf migualli Sdruy Harnidoidas assoansis Petrup Glanburus of coronatus 7 Max Platuraltoidas of andarssoni (Troeds)
Platypeltoides of wimani (Troeds) Hystricurus sp. Fulama sp. brachiopods Syntrophina altaica Severa conodonts (loc 988)
trilobites Kaufmannella (Batvrinia) robustispina Petrun. Platvneltoides cf. anderssoni (Troeds.). Platvneltoides cf. wimani (Troeds.).
Macropyga urceolata Petrun., Apatokephalus kamlakensis Petrun., Niobella sp., Hystricurus sp., Harpidoides assoensis Petrun.,
Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet., (loc. I-9812/12) conodonts Oneotodus datsonensis Druce et Jones, Oneotodus sp
The total thickness of the Middle Kamlak Subformation is about 440 m.
The Middle and Upper Kamlak Subformations are divided by a fault. The Upper Kamlak Subformation comprises:
17. Sandstone: gray or reddish-gray, fine to coarse, with siltstone interbeds
18 Conglomerate: fine_grading on strike into sandstone.
19 Sandstone: oray or reddish-oray fine to coarse, with anoular clasts of brown-red siltstone in detrital material
20. Siltstone and mudstone, brown-red (Fig. 112)

21. Conglomerate: fine and medium, with poorly sorted quartzite, quartz, granite, volcanic, and limestone pebbles of high or

>20
 24. Fine and medium conglomerate (Fig. 113), with trilobites found in a limestone layer in the middle of the member (loc. 910a): Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet., Platypeltoides sp., Hysterolenus verus Petrun., Kaltykelina sp., Macropyga sp., Shumardia sp., Eulonia sp., (loc. 9106) trilobites Borogothus altaicus Petrun., Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet., Platypeltoides sp., Hysterolenus verus Petrun., Kaltykelina sp., Macropyga sp., 35

 25. Siltstone and mudstone: brown-red
 165

 26. Siltstone: brown-red, with lenses and layers of red nodular limestone
 130

According to B.D. Erdtmann who looked through the data, some graptolite forms found in member 28 and identified as *Triograptus osloensis* Monsen and *Aletograptus hyperboreus* Obut et Sob. may belong to genus *Psigraptus* Jackson. These forms are rhabdosomes buried in sandstone, and their preservation leaves unknown the intravital direction (upward or horizontal?) of branches off the sicula. On the other hand, the Altai morphs lack occluded autothecas typical of *Psigraptus* and thus may be transitional from the *Triograptus* Monsen and *Aletograptus* genera to *Psigraptus* Jackson. The graptolite assemblage from locs S-7662, S-7664, and S-7661 generally corresponds to the *osloensis* – *ramosus* zone.

Locality 19777/1, which occurs 1 km to the northwest of the Takoshkin Brook mouth and possibly belongs to the same member 28, contains trilobites *Platypeltoides* sp., *Hysterolenus verus* Petrun., *Kaltykelina* sp., *Macropyga* sp., *Borogothus altaicus* Petrun.

In the year 2007 P. Mannik collected limestone samples from the Kamlak section. Chemical proceeding revealed conodonts (provisional identification): from the lower part of the Middle Kamlak Formation, member 9, sample N 10 and from the upper part of the Middle Kamlak Formation, member 16, sample N 9 - *Variobiliconus* sp.

The Upper Kamlak Subformation has a total thickness of about 1400 m and is of a Late Tremadocian age according to the faunas.

The subdivision of the Kamlak Section into subformations is based on lithology and faunal control, mainly from trilobites. Members are aligned according to lithology and trilobite, graptolite, and brachiopod assemblages.

The composite section of the Kamlak Formation can be correlated with the International Stratigraphic Chart on the basis of few species of conodonts and graptolites. The conodont species *Oneotodus datsonensis* Druce et Jones found in members 9 and 12 in the lower half of the Middle Kamlak Subformation is known in the Datsonian and lowermost Warendian groups of Australia that span a stratigraphic interval of the *Cordylodus proavus, Hirsutodontus simplex, Cordylodus prolindstromi* and *Cordylodus lindstromi* zones (Dubinina, 2000). One may expect to find a transitional assemblage between the *Cordylodus lindströmi* and *Iapetognathus fluctivagus* zones in the Lower Middle Kamlak Subformation. The graptolite assemblage found in member 28 of the Upper Kamlak Subformation corresponds to the

osloensis – ramosus zone. Earlier data on trilobites from the Lower Kamlak Subformation defined its Early Tremadocian age (Ermikov et al., 1979; Petrunina et al., 1984). The present view is that the Lower Kamlak Subformation must rather correlate with the uppermost Cambrian, proceeding from the revised condont-based age and stratigraphy of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary strata (Webby et al., 2004) and from the correlation of the Mansian and Loparian regional stages of the Siberian Platform with the Late Cambrian (Kanygin et al, 2007). The trilobite and graptolite data suggest a Late Tremadocian age of the Upper Kamlak Subformation. Thus, the Middle Kamlak Subformation may correlate with the Lower Tremadocian. The trilobite assemblage from the Middle Kamlak Subformation differs from those in both the Lower and Upper Kamlak subformations.

3.5. NORTHESTERN GORNY ALTAI

3.5.1. Area of Verkh-Biysk Village

Pereval Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Tremadocian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tayanza Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Ishpa Formation. Zones: tenellus – kiaeri graptolite zone. Fauna: trilobites, graptolites.

A small fragment of the Ishpa Formation (S-0726) is exposed in a quarry on a pass along the left side of the roadway from Gorno-Altaisk to Verkh-Biysk Village (distance mark 105/9) (Figs 115–117):



Fig. 115. Sketch map of the lower and middle stream of the Biya River (modified from Petrunina et al., 1984).



Fig. 116. General view of Pereval section (upper part of the Ordovician Ishpa Formation, member 1, section S-0727).



Fig. 120. General view of Tuloi section (upper part of the Ordovician Tuloi Formation, members 15 and 16).

1. Sandstone: dark olive, rather quartz, fine to coarse, polymictic, alternating with dark olive clayey siltstone, often with conchoidal cleavage; both sandstone and siltstone layers are 1 m thick; sandstone is of high and medium roundness and shows good 1-2 cm sorting from fine to medium and on to coarse grain sizes; locally there are syndepositional lenses (from 1-3 cm to 5-7 cm long

Another fragment of the Ishpa Formation (S-0727) is exposed 2 km to the east in a quarry on the left side of the roadway from Gorno-Altaisk to Verkh-Biysk Village, 100 m far from distancemark 107/7:

1. Sandstone: greenish-gray, fine to medium, well sorted, and tuffaceous sandstone, with scarce thin (to 10 cm) layers of greenish-gray clayey siltstone; sandstone shows 1.5 m cleavage and 20-30 cm flaggyness; thin (1-3 cm) layers of fine sandstone are of cross bedding; fine sandstone encloses lens-shaped (10-15 cm long and 0.5-1 cm thick) medium to coarse sandstone and scarce

Green sandstone is thrust on yellow siltstone in the eastern end of the quarry (S-0727).

Dark olive-gray siltstone in bedrock exposures along the right side of the roadway between the two quarries (S-0726 and S-0727) contains graptolites (loc. S-78146) Adelograptus aff. tenellus (Linnarsson), Kiaerograptus kiaeri (Monsen), and sanstone (loc. 205) contains trilobites Symphysurus sp., Geragnostus sp., Raphiophoridae; graptolites Anisograptus sp. are found at loc. 4062a/1668 in the same area. According to rock lithology and faunas (trilobite and graptolite assemblages), the section fragment belongs to the Ishpa Formation. Graptolites correspond to the Tremadocian Adelograptus tenellus and Kiaerograptus kiaeri zones.

The total thickness of the Ishpa composite section (S-0726, S-0727, S-78146) may reach no less than 100 m.

Mengalevsky Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Tremadocian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tayanza Regional Stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Ishpa Formation .

Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods.

At the top of the Ishpa section there is a 100-m thick member of yellow, dark olive-gray, and grayish-brown siltstone with thin layers of gray limestone. The member crops out near Verkh-Biysk Village along the Mengalevsky Brook and contains rich trilobite assemblages in 5-cm layers spaced at 10 m Apatokephalus ex. gr. serratus (Sars), Symphysurus sp., Ceratopyge mengalensis Petrun. sp. n., Shumardia optima Petrun., Glaphurus cf. coronatus Z. Max., Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet., Am. obliqua Petrun., Hystricurus sp., Pseudagnostus sp., Euloma cf. shorica Petrun. sp. n., Hospes sp., Miraspis sp., Illaenus sp., Geragnostus sp., Nyaya sp. etc. Among brachiopods are: Finkelnburgia aff. delicatula Cooper, Fin. arbucklensiformis Severg., Nanorthis shoriensis Severg. (locs 160, 160a, 162, 163). The member is conformably overlain by the Tuloi Formation. Trilobites found at the Mengalevsky Brook define a Late Tremadocian age of the sediments.

3.5.2. Area of Tuloi Village

Section Tuloi

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Floian, Dapingian, Darriwilian, Sandbian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Lebed', Kostinsky and Khankhara regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi, Karasa and Gur'yanovka formations.

Zones: approximatus, densus, angustifolius elongatus, gibberulus, hirundo, dentatus graptolite zones, Cyathochitina parvicolla, Cyath. calix chitinozoan biozones.

Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, orthoceratids, crinoids, gastropods, hyolites, graptolites, ostracods, chitinozoans.

The stratotype section of the Tuloi Formation extends along the right bank of the Biya River downstream of the Tuloi inflow and then upstream the Tuloi on its right bank (Fig. 118). According to graptolites, trilobites, and brachiopods, the Tuloi Formation spans the Floian, Dapingian, and lower Darriwilian. The formation overlaid conformably the Ishpa Formation and is underlain by the Karasa Formation.

The section includes (Fig. 119):

Thickness, m

1. Conglomerate, variegated, coarse, or less often conglomerated sandstone, with pebbles of granite, microgranite, porphyry granite, pegmatite granite, intermediate and basic porphyry, tuff, quartz, siltstone, sandstone, clayey and siliceous shale. Member

Stage	Formation	Zone	Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Trilobites
Tremadocian	l s h p a	tenellus - kiaeri	1	>25				
			60		4062a/1668 205 S-78146	 Adelograptus aff. tenellus (Linnarsson) Kiaerograptus kiaeri (Monsen) Anisograptus sp. 	 Symphysurus sp. Geragnostus sp. Raphiophoridae 	
			1	15				

Fig. 117. Ranges of fossil taxa from Pereval section.



5. Interbedded siltstone, silty sandstone, and fine polymictic sandstone, greenish-gray, dark olive-gray, locally dark gray ... ~700

A section exposed in a quarry on the pass (roadway from Turochak Village to Artybash Village, distancemark 195/ 42) consists of well washed and well sorted laminated (0.5-1.0 m) siltstone of thin (1 mm) banding; rocks show graded bedding from fine sandstone, with a straight distinct lower boundary, to siltstone and mudstone, in 15–20 cm rhythms; sandstone has thin cross bedding; some sandstone layers occasionally enclose flat (10-15-20 cm in diameter and 2-3-5 cm thick) "rolls" of silver-gray siltstone occupying 5–10 % vol.; there are divergent ripple marks (0.1-0.3 cm wideripples spaced at 0.5–1 cm).

Dark gray siltstone in member upper third on the right bank near the Tuloi River mouth contains graptolites (loc. LSS-401): *Paratetragraptus approximatus* (Nicholson), (loc. S-7514) – *Dichograptus* sp., *Tetragraptus* sp., *Paratetragraptus approximatus* (Nicholson), *Eotetragraptus* aff. *headi* (Hall).

9. Siltstone: gray or dark gray, occasionally silty sandstone, with chitinozoans (loc. H-78 = S-7517) Desmochitina minor Eisenack, Hercochitina sp., Rhabdochitina sp. and graptolites Isograptus gibberulus (Nicholson), Expansograptus hirundo (Salter), Isograptus sp., Expansograptus sp. 20

10. Sandstone: greenish-gray or dark olive-gray, fine, polymictic, alternating with silty sandstone, or less often siltstone, with graptolites in member lower third (loc. H-75 = S-7518): *Isograptus gibberulus* (Nicholson), *Tetragraptus sp., Tetragraptus bigsbyi bigsbyi* (Hall), *Tristichograptus ensiformis* (Hall), *Expansograptus sp., Isograptus sp., Expansograptus extensus* (Hall). From the upper part of the member graptolites (loc. LSS-422a) *Expansograptus sp., (loc.* LSS-423 = S-7512) - *Isograptus gibberulus* (Nicholson), *Isograptus sp., Expansograptus extensus* (Hall), *Tristichograptus sp., Expansograptus extensus* (Hall), *Tristichograptus sp., Expansograptus sp., (loc.* LSS-423 = S-7512) - *Isograptus gibberulus* (Nicholson), *Isograptus sp., Expansograptus extensus* (Hall), *Tristichograptus sp., Cryptograptus sp., together with chitinozoans Conochitina* aff. *parvicolla* Tougourdeau, (loc. H-91 = S-7513) *Isograptus sp., Phyllograptus sp., Acrograptus sp., have been found.* 230

12. Interbedded fine polymictic sandstone and silty sandstone, greenish-gray and gray, with scarce thin (to 2 cm) layers of dark gray calcareous siltstone; member contain graptolites in lower layers (loc. H-84 = S-7522): *Isograptus gibberulus* (Nicholson), *Expansograptus extensus* (Hall), *Expansograptus* sp., *Tristichograptus ensiformis* (Hall), *Pseudophyllograptus* ex gr. *angustifolius* Hall. 65

14. Silty sandstone: greenish-gray, less often greenish-gray fine polymictic sandstone, and dark gray siltstone (Fig. 120). Member contains graptolites in middle layers (loc. H-87 = S-7520): *Isograptus gibberulus* (Nicholson), *Corymbograptus holubi* Kraft, *Corym. deflexus* (Elles et Wood), *Expansograptus* sp., *Tristichograptus* sp., *Cryptograptus* sp.
| Stage | Formation | Zone | Bed | m | Litho-
logy | Location
of
fossils | Graptolites | | | |
|----------|-------------|---|-----|-----|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Sandbian | Gur'yanovka | | 25 | 56 | | LSS-408 | | | | |
| | | | 24 | 90 | | 1022 | | | | |
| | Karasa | dentatus | 23 | 125 | | LSS-409b=S-7525
LSS-409
H-104=S-7524 | | | | |
| | | | 22 | 95 | | H-103 | Lapworth)
(Brongnia | | | |
| iwilian | | | 21 | 150 | | H-102
H-92 | nbergi (
nmis Ru
fentatus (| | | |
| Darriv | | | 20 | 80 | | | share
si insectifi
ograptus cor | | | |
| | | | 19 | 165 | | LSS-415 | agrap
soggrap | | | |
| 2 | | | 18 | 10 | нинини | H-95 | macc
E coc | | | |
| | - | | 17 | 120 | | | doclii
A A | | | |
| | | | 16 | 40 | | H-88=S-7523
LSS-418=S-7511 | • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | | | |
| | T u l o i | hirundo | 15 | 90 | | H-87=S-7520 | Kraft ●
Kraft ●
lood) ●
lood) ●
lood) Shtus sp
arus ftus sp
irundo (Saltus s
mograptus s
mograptus s
mograptus s | | | |
| a n | | | 14 | 50 | | H-85=S7521 | holubi
es et W
Didy
Didy | | | |
| <u>і</u> | | | 13 | 45 | | | ●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
● | | | |
| p î n | | | 12 | 55 | | H-84=S-7522 | g)
g)
all
c Harris
(Harris
fri (Harris
fri (Harris)
fri (Harris
fri (Harris)
fri (Harri) | | | |
| a | | | 11 | 65 | | 11 01-0 7512 | us (Nici
Tullber
S Elles
S Elles
S Elles
S Elles
S Cobut
S Cob | | | |
| | | | 10 | 230 | | LSS-423=S-7513
LSS-423=S-7512
LSS-422a
H-75=S-7518 | oximati
odi (Hal
coicus (
coicus (
coicus (
coicus sp.
ssp.
us sp.
us .
us sp.
us sp.
us sp.
us sp.
us sp.
us sp. | | | |
| | | | 9 | 20 | | H-78=S-7517 | CC C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C | | | |
| | | oximatus angustifoljus elongatus gibberulus | 8 | 155 | ~~~~ | 282 | aptus
Jus sp.
graptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
raptus
r | | | |
| _?_ | | | 7 | 150 | **** | | etragr
grapti
aprice grapti
aprice aprice
exter
Tristofr
Crip
Dyrei
Crip
Dyrei
Crip | | | |
| | | | 6 | 230 | | H-81=S-7516
S-7514
LSS-401 | Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Dicho;
Di | | | |
| Floian | | | 5 | 700 | **** | | sp. •

 | | | |
| | | | 4 | 175 | **** | | raptus
expan
Tinisti
Expans
Xpans | | | |
| | | | 3 | 150 | *** | | Tetrag.
Is | | | |
| | | | 2 | 70 | | | | | | |
| | | appor | 1 | 130 | 0:000
0:000
0:000
0:000
0:000 | | | | | |

Fig. 119 A. Ranges of fossil taxa from Tuloi section.

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Chitinozoans	Trilobites			
25	56	LSS-408					
24	90						
23	125	LSS-409b=S-7525 =S-0724 LSS-409 H-104=S-7524	senack senack skaya skaya enack) skaya skaya skaya skaya	p			
22	95	H-103	et Zaslav et Zaslav et Zaslav et Zaslav et Zaslav	icybele s Petrun. sr Petrun. sr Petrun. sr Petrun. sr Petrun. sr Petrun. sr Poterrella n. et so Poterrella n. et so Poteriou lillaenus popyge (7) Otarion Ampixs Ampixs			
21	150	H-102 H-92	ittina oele chitina oele chitina si cuna Obuti na minor zula Obuti	Pilo Pilo			
20	80		Conoch Conoch Conoch Cono na bacil a tulovei a tulovei titina rec	linites s saphida saphida daspis ndaspis a (?) mi arvula P. arolinite arolinite sis (?) o			
19	165	LSS-415	onochiti tochitini Des	Encrin Raymol Ceraur A A A A A a A ray A a A ray A ray			
17	120	H-90	C C A	Sp. n. as sp. as sp. as sp. and i as sp. as sp. as sp. as sp. as sp. as sp. as sp. as			
16	40	H-88=S-7523 LSS-418=S-7511	* * * * * * * * *	etrun. hodoma n. et sp yrobele kegra F kegra F etrun. g			
15	90	H-87=S-7520		itaiensis F Lonci Vog Petrun. ge Ca obergia in C amplus P			
14	50			della la Eor pidicus			
13	45	H-85=S-7521	asp	opleun ergia o, egalas,			
12	55	H-84=S-7522		evirob M			
11	65						
10	230	H-91=S-7513 LSS-423=S-7512 LSS-422a H-75=S-7518					
9 8	<u>20</u> 155	H-78=S-7517 H-79					
7	150	282	ca Eise cochitin lochitin a Eisen a Eisen a Eisen ta Eisen ta Eisen ta Cochitin o chitin				
6	230	H-81=S-7516	or typic Herc Rhabd colla To mphore mphore mphore con con con con				
5	700	S-7514 LSS-401	ina mir a parvi minor a mochiti fraspin				
4	175		smochii nochitin chitina Lage litina in				
3	150		De Desmoi Conoct				
2	70		Ō				
1	130						

Bed	m	Location of fossils	Brachiopods	Other groups
25	56	LSS-408	• !	
24	90			
23	125	LSS-409b=S-7525 =S-0724 LSS-409 H-104=S-7524	eva	oids •-•
22	95	H-103	s sp. e s sp. sp. sp. sp. sp. sp. sp. sp. sp. sp	Crin Hyoli
21	150	H-102 H-92	 k e-e e-e e- /ul>	•
20	80	100.445	a Havlice nais (Dav icellula si lsc Nothambo. Nithambo. Nithambo. Nitachom Nitachom Isophra Isophra Isophra Inurina Parastr	
19	165	LSS-415	erg, erg, lane, flave, lane, erg, erg, erg, erg, erg, erg, erg, er	
18	10	H-95	g. er. e.	<u>ا</u> ا
17	120		Sever Coopp iensis manei Folio fychoj	tracod tropod seratid
16	40	H-88=S-7523 LSS-418=S-7511	raica ' gen c tulow sodal fula ey P	Ost Gast Orthoc
15	90	H-87=S7520	eorthis al a cf. exter s Severg. Me Rostricel	
14	50		Archa ohragm inentalis Idio	
13	45	H-85=S7521	Iso Welta o	
12	55	H-84=S-7522	Belc	
11	65			
10	230	H-91=S-7513 LSS-423=S-7512 LSS-422a		
9	20	H-75=57518 H-78=S-7517		1
8	155	H-79 282		
7	150			
6	230	H-81=S-7516		
5	700	S-7514 LSS-401		
4	175			
3	150			
2	70			
1	130			

Fig. 119 A. End.

Bed	m	Litho- logy	Location of fossils	Graptolites	Other groups
16c	>8				
16b	1,5				
16a	0,7			(II)	
1 <i>5</i> c	10		stus gibberulus (Nicholson) stus caduceus nanus (Ruedemar stus imitata (Harris) stus maximo-divergens (Harris) stus sp. stus sp. sograptus manubriatus (T.S. Ha sograptus sp.	spodo	
15b	5		S-0724	 Isograp Isograp Isograp Isograp Isograp Segrap Fetragrap Expans 	 Brachic
15a	3				

Fig. 119 B. Ranges of fossil taxa from Tuloi microsection (members 15–16).

The boundary between members 15 and 16 marked by a fault is exposed in a quarry (loc. S-0724) where the section includes:

15a. Mudstone and clayey siltstone, dark silver-gray or

16a. Sandstone: olive, slightly calcareous, fine to media	ım,
well rounded and well sorted	0.7
l 6b. Siltstone: gray	1.5

16c. Interbedded (at 0.3-0.5 m in lower layers and at 0.1-

0.3 m in upper layers), silver-gray well rounded and well sorted fine polymictic sandstone and dark gray clayey siltstone ... > 8

16. Interbedded greenish-gray fine sandstone and silty sandstone, with scarce thin (to 1 cm) layers of gray and dark gray siltstone; sandstone at member base (loc. LSS-418 = S-7511) contains graptolites *Expansograptus taimyrensis* Obut et Sob., *Expansograptus extensus* (Hall), *Expansograptus* sp., *Isograptus gibberulus* (Nicholson), *Tristichograptus ensiformis* (Hall), *Phyllograptus* sp., *Callograptus* sp. and chitinozoans *Desmochitina minor amphorea* Eisenack. Among graptolites, collected at the upper part of the member (loc. H-88 = S-7523) the following taxa were identified: *Isograptus gibberulus* (Nicholson), *Isograptus* sp., *Pseudisograptus manubriatus* (T.S. Hall), *Expansograptus* aff. *hirundo* (Salter), *Expansograptus* sp., *Paratetragraptus* sp., *Tristichograptus ensiformis* (Hall), *Didymograptus* sp.

23. Siltstone: greenish-gray, more rarely silty sandstone, with graptolites at member base (loc. H-104 = S-7524): *Pseudoclimacograptus sharenbergi* (Lapworth), *Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis* Ruedemann, *Amplexograptus confertus* (Lapworth) and trilobites *Plioicybele* sp. A 10–15 cm thick siltstone layer in member upper part abounds in diverse well preserved fossils (loc. LSS-409, LSS-409b = S-7525); the rock can be classified as trilobite-brachiopod coquina; it contains graptolites *Eoglyptograptus dentatus* (Brongniart), *Pseudoclimacograptus sharenbergi* (Lapworth), *Amplexograptus confertus* (Lapworth), trilobites *Encrinuroides tuloicus* Petrun. sp. n., *Ceraurinella latigenata* Petrun. sp. n., *Atractopyge sibirica* Petrun. sp. n., *Pliocybele*

sp., Raymondaspis altaicus Petrun. sp. n., Robergia sp., Robergiella (?) margofera Petrun. sp. n., Remopleurella sp., Harpidae, Tulonella parvula Petrun. gen. et. sp. nov., Sphaerexochus sp., Carolinites tardus Petrun. sp. n., Hemiarges sp., Trinodus sp., Calyptaulax sp., Stegnoipsis (?) orientalis Petrun. sp. n., Illaenus sp., Dimeropyge (?) sp., Otarion sp., Lonchodomas sp., Ampyx sp., Nilieus sp., etc., brachiopods Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Orthambonites tuloica Andreeva, Ptychopleurella oklachomensis asiatica Severg., Mcewanella sp., Scenidioides costatus sparsis Severg., Paucicrura tuloinensis Severg., Isophragma extensum Coop., Glyptomena karasuensis Severg., Christiania aff. subquadrata (Hall), Bellimurina aff. concentrica Coop., Punctolira cardilata (Ross), Tuloja karasuensis Severg., Parastrophina bilobata Coop. Also present ostracods, orthoceratids, crinoids, chiolites, and gastropods 125

24. Conglomerate: greenish-gray or purple-gray, fine, with pebbles of granite, sandstone, siltstone, siltstone, siltstone, siltstone, and medium to coarse sandstone
 90
 25. Siltstone, greenish-gray, calcareous, with silty fine sandstone and sandy limestone; with brachiopods (loc. LSS-408)

Members 1 through 19 belong to the Tuloi Formation, members 20 through 23 belong to the Karasa Formation, and members 24 and 25 - to the Gur'yanovka Formation. The total thickness of the Tuloi Formation in the section exceeds 2500 m, the Karasa Formation is 450 m thick, and the Gur'yanovka Formation is more than 150 m thick.

The graptolite zonation of the section is as follows: members 1 through 5 belong to the *apporoximatus* zone (loc. LSS-401a, S-75141); member 6 may conventionally correspond to the *densus* and *angustifolius elongatus* zones (loc. H-81), and members 7 and 8 are conventionally aligned with the *gubberulus* zone (loc. 282, H-79); the base of member 9 correlates with the *gibberulus*—*hirundo* boundary, and members 9 through 16 belong to the *hirundo* zone (loc. H-78, H-75, H-73, LSS-422a, LSS-423, H-91, H-84, H-85, H-87, LSS-418, H-88); members 17 through 22 contain no graptolites; members 18 through 22 correlate with the Darriwilian according to trilobites and brachiopods (loc. H-95, LSS-415, H-92, H-102, H-103); graptolites from member 23 (loc. H-104, LSS-409) correspond to the *dentatus* zone.

CONCLUSIONS

The abundant faunal assemblages in the Ordovician-Silurian reference sections from the Gorny Altai provide reliable ties for dating the sedimentary strata, for constraining the age and stratigraphic position of boundaries between regional units (stages), and for correlating the latter with stages (or often also substages) of the International Stratigraphic Chart. With this solid biostratigraphic background, global biologic and deposition events can be distinguished in the Ordovician-Silurian Altai-Salair basin.

The bed-by-bed descriptions of the reference sections include mostly the faunal groups that we collected and studied. However, it is almost impossible to tie the lengthy lists of fossils dispersed in numerous publications to specific stratigraphic layers in the sections.

Revision of earlier data and investigation into recent data on the Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai, including the reported reference sections, will provide the basis for a new regional stratigraphic chart.

Aknowledgements

The study was supported by grant 08-05-00729 from the Russian Foundation for Basic Research and was carried out as part of Scientific School Project SS-3822.2008.5 and as a Contribution to IGCP 503 Project.

REFERENCES

- Bublichenko N.L. [Бубличенко Н.Л.] (1936). Main tectonic lines of the Rudny Altai // Largest Altai. V. 2. Moscow: AS USSR. P. 59–112. (In Russian). [Основные тектонические линии Рудного Алтая // Большой Алтай. Т. 2. М.: Изд-во АН СССР.]
- Buslov M.M., Safonova I. Yu., and Bobrov V.A. [Буслов М.М., Сафонова И.Ю., Бобров В.А.] (1999). An exotic terrane of the Late Cambrian-Early Ordovician oceanic crust in the northwestern Gorny Altai (Zasurin Formation): structural position and geochemistry // Doklady RAN. V. 368, N 5. P. 650–654. (In Russian). [Экзотический террейн позднекембрийско-раннеордовикской океанической коры в северо-западной части Горного Алтая (засурьинская свита): структурное положение и геохимия // Докл. РАН.]
- Buslov M.M., Fujiwara Y., Safonova I.Yu., Okada Sh., and Semakov N.N. [Буслов М.М., Фудживара И., Сафонова И.Ю., Окада III., Семаков Н.Н.] (2000). The junction zone of the Gorny Altai and Rudny Altai terranes: structure and evolution // Russian Geology and Geophysics. V. 41, N 3. P. 377–390.
- Correlative stratigraphic charts. Trudy SNIIGGiMS, supl. V. 29. Data on stratigraphy of the Sayan-Altai Folded Area. (1964). (In Russian). [Корреляционные стратиграфические схемы. (Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Приложение к вып. 29). Материалы по стратиграфии Саяно-Алтайской складчатой области. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС. 9 прил.]
- Decisions of the Interdepartmental meeting on development of the uniform stratigraphic charts for Siberia. (1959). Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat. 91 p. (In Russian). [Решения Межведомственного совещания по разработке унифицированных стратиграфических схем Сибири. М.: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- *Decisions* of the All-Union stratigraphic meeting on Precambrian, Paleozoic and Quaternary Systems of Middle Siberia, Novosibirsk, 1979. (1983). Pt. I. Upper Proterozoic and Lower Paleozoic. Novosibirsk. 215 p. (In Russian). [Решения Всесоюз. стратигр. совещ. по докембрию, палеозою и четвертичной системе Средней Сибири, Новосибирск, 1979). Ч. І. Верхний протерозой и нижний палеозой. Новосибирск.]
- Dobretsov N.L. [Добрецов Н.Л.] (2003). Evolution of structures of the Urals, Kazakhstan, Tien Shan, and Altai-Sayan region within the Ural-Mongolian fold belt (Paleoasian ocean)//Russian Geology and Geophysics. V. 44, N 1–2. P. 3–26.
- *Documents* on stratigraphy of the Sayan-Altai Folded Area. (1964). Trudy SNIIGGiMS. V. 29. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGMS Publ. House. 161 p. [Материалы по стратиграфии Саяно-Алтайской складчатой области. Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 29. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС.]
- *Dubinina S.V.* [Дубинина С.В.] (2000). Conodonts and zonal stratigraphy of the Cambrian-Ordovician boundary deposits / Trudy GIN RAN. 517. Moscow: Nauka. 239 p. (In Russian). [Конодонты и зональная стратиграфия пограничных отложений кембрия и ордовика. М.: Наука.]
- Ermikov V.D., Zeyfert L.L., Petrunina Z.E., Puzyrev A.A., and Sennikov N.V. [Ермиков В.Д., Зейферт Л.Л., IIетрунина З.Е., Пузырев А.А., Сенников Н.В.] (1979). Tremadocian of the northern part of the Gorny Altai // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. V. 20, N 11. P. 21–34.
- *Gintsinger A.B.* [Гинцингер А.Б.] (1958). Ordovician, Silurian and Devonian stratigraphic chart for the Gorny Altai. Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat. Issue 61. Р. 24–39. (In Russian). [Стратиграфическая схема ордовика, силура и девона Горного Алтая// Материалы по стратиграфии Западной Сибири. М.: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- Gintsinger A.B. [Гинцингер А.Б.] (1964). Ordovician correlative stratigraphic chart for Altai, Salair and Gornaya Shoria. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. Issue 29. Р. 94–107. (In Russian). [Корреляционная стратиграфическая схема ордовика Алтая, Салаира и Горной Шории // Материалы по стратиграфии Саяно-Алтайской складчатой области. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС.]
- Gintsinger A.B. and Sennikov V.M. [Гинцингер А.Б., Сенников В.М.] (1967). Ordovician of the Altai-Sayan Area //Paleozoic stratigraphy of the Central Siberia. Novosibirsk: Nauka. P. 74–86. (In Russian). [Ордовик Алтае-Саянской области // Стратиграфия палеозоя Средней Сибири. Новосибирск: Наука.]
- Gutak Ya.M., Abushik A.F., Savina N.I., and Rodygin S.A. [Гутак Я.М., Абушик А.Ф., Савина Н.И., Родыгин С.А.] (2000). Cherny Anui Formation and problem of the Upper Silurian Pridoli Stage in the Gorny Altai // Contributions of the regional conference of geologists from Siberia, Far East and North-Western

Russian/ V. II. Pt. III. Paleontology and Stratigraphy. Tomsk: OGUP "Asinov Publ. House". P. 290–294. (In Russian). [Черноануйская свита и проблема пржидольского яруса верхнего силура в Горном Алтае. Материалы региональной конференции геологов Сибири, Дальнего Востока и Северо-Востока России. Т. II. Гл. III. Палеонтология и стратиграфия. Томск: ОГУП "Асиновская типография".]

- Ivanovsky A.B. and Kulkov N.P. [Ивановский А.Б., Кульков Н.П.] (1974). Rugose corals, brachiopods and Silurian stratigraphy of the Altai-Sayan Mountainous Area. Moscow: Nauka. 96 p. (In Russian). [Ругозы, брахиоподы и стратиграфия силура Алтае-Саянской горной области. М.: Наука.]
- Iwata K., Sennikov N.V., Buslov M.M., Obut O.T., Shokal'skii S.P., Kuznetsov S.A., and Ermikov V.D. (1997). Late Cambrian-Early Ordovician age of basalt-siliceous-terrigenous Zasur'ya Formation (northwestern Gorny Altai) // Russian Geology and Geophysics. V. 38, N 9. P. 1463–1479.
- Izokh N.G., Obut O.T., Iwata K., and Sennikov N.V. [Изох Н.Г., Обут О.Т., Ивата К., Сенников Н.В.] (2003). Conodont associations in the Ordovician of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area // Bull. of Tomsk State University. Ser. "Earth Sciences" (geology, geography, meteorology, geodesy). Supl. 3 (II), April 2003. Problems of geology and geography of Siberia: Contributions of the scientific conference dedicated to 125 anniversary of the TSU and 70th anniversary of the Geology -Geography Department, 2–4 April, 2003. P. 88–90. (In Russian). [Ассоциации конодонтов в ордовике Алтае-Саянской складчатой области // Вестн. Том. гос. ун-та. Серия "Науки о земле" (геология, география, метеорология, геодезия). Прил., № 3 (II), апрель 2003: Материалы научных конференций, симпознумов, школ, проводимых в ТГУ. Проблемы геологии и географии Сибири. Материалы науч. конф., посвященной 125-летию основания Томского государственного университета и 70-летию образования геолого-географического факультета, 2–4 апреля 2003 г.]
- Izokh N.G., Sennikov N.V., and Obut O.T. [Изох Н.Г., Сенников Н.В., Обут О.Т.] (2005). Discovery of a new level in the zonal Ordovician conodont scale of the Altai-Sayan Folded area // V.M. Podobina (Ed.-in-Chief). Evolution of Life on the Earth: Proceedings of the III Intern. Sympos., November 1–3, Tomsk. Tomsk: TSU Publishing House. P. 125–127. (In Russian). [Находка нового уровня в зональной конодонтовой шкале ордовика Алтае-Саянской складчатой области. Эволюция жизни на Земле: Материалы III Междунар. симпоз. Томск: Изд-во Том. гос. ун-та.]
- Kanygin A.V., Timokhin A.V., Sennikov N.V., Yadrenkina A.G., Gonta T.V., Sychev O.V., Obut O.T., and Kipriyanova T.P. (2006). Ordovician sequence of the Key Kulyumbe Section (Siberian Platform): Field excursion guidebook. International Symposium "Palaeogeography and Global Correlation of Ordovician Events". (IGCP 503 Project). Novosibirsk, Russia. 16 Aug., 2006. Novosibirsk: Publ. House of SB RAS, "Geo" Branch. 90 p. Kanygin A.V., Yadrenkina A.G., Timokhin A.V., Moskalenko T.A., and Sychev O.V. [Каныгин А.В., Ядренкина А.Г., Тимохин А. В., Москаленко Т. А., Сычев О. В.] (2007). Stratigraphy of oil and gas basins of Siberia. Ordovician of Siberian platform. Novosibirsk: Academic Publ. House "Geo". 403 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфия нефтегазоносных бассейнов Сибири. Ордовик Сибирской платформы. Новосибирск: Академическое изд-во "Гео".]
- Krivchikov A. V., Petrunina Z.E., and Severgina L.G. [Кривчиков А.В., Петрунина З.Е., Севергина JI.Г.] (1976). Ordovician System. Geological structure and relief of the East Altai: Stratigraphy. Novosibirsk. P. 29–44. (In Russian). [Ордовикская система. Геологическое строение и рельеф Восточного Алтая: Стратиграфия. Новосибирск.]
- Kulkov N.P. [Кульков Н.П.] (1966). About stratigraphy of the Silurian deposits from the Gorny Altai // Bull. Moscow Soc. Investigators of nature, geology depart. V. 41, issue 1. Р. 77–82. (In Russian). [К стратиграфии силурийских отложений Горного Алтая// Бюлл. МОИП. Отд. геол.]
- *Kulkov N.P.* [Кульков Н.П.] **(1967)**. Brachiopods and Silurian stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai. Moscow: Nauka Publ. House. 151 p. (In Russian). [Брахиоподы и стратиграфия силура Горного Алтая. М.: Наука.]
- Kuznetsov V.A. [Кузнецов В.А.] (1948). Stratigraphic description. Silurian System. Gorny Altai // Geology of the USSR, V. XIV. West Siberia. Pt. I, Geological description. Moscow; Leningrad: State Publ. House for Geol. Literat. P. 157–165. (In Russian). [Стратиграфическое описание. Силурийская система. Горный Алтай // Геология СССР. Т. XIV. Западная Сибирь. Ч. І. Геологическое описание. М.; Л.: Гос. изд. геол. лит.]
- Levitsky E.S. [Левицкий Е.С.] (1963). Middle Ordovician trilobites from the north-west Gorny Altai and their stratigraphic significance. Abstract of the PhD dissertation. Moscow: Moscow Prospecting Institute. 23 p. (In Russian). [Трилобиты среднего ордовика северо-запада Горного Алтая и их стратиграфическое значение. Автореф. днс. ... канд. геол.-мин. наук. М.:. Моск. геол.-развед. ин-т.]
- Loydell D.K. (1992). Upper Aeronian and Lower Telychian (Llandovery) graptolites from Western Mid-Wales. London: Monograph. Palaeontographical. Soc. Pt. 1. 55 p.

- Nikonov A.A. [Никонов А.А.] (1931). Sketch on geology and stratigraphy of the Tigerek-Chineta region in the Rudny Altai. Moscow; Leningrad: Geol. Publ. House of the Prospecting Management. P. 31–47. (In Russian). [Очерк геологии и стратиграфии Тигерецко-Чинетинского района в Рудном Алтае. М.; Л.: Геол. изд-во. глав. геол.-разв. упр. (Тр. глав. ГРУ ВСНХ СССР. Вып. 28).]
- Palaeogeography and Global Correlation of Ordovician Events (IGCP 503 Project "Ordovician Palaeogeography and Palaeoclimate"): Contrib. of Intern. Sympos. Novosibirsk, Aug. 5–7, 2006. (2006). Novosibirsk: Academic Publishing House "Geo". 85 p. [Палеогеография и глобальная корреляция ордовикских событий (Проект 503 МПГК "Ордовикская палеогеография и палеоклимат"): Материалы Междунар. симпоз. Новосибирск, 5–7 авг. 2006 г. Новосибирск: Академическое изд-во "Гео".]
- *Paleozoic* stratigraphy of the Middle Siberia. (1967). Novosibirsk: Nauka Press., 251 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфия палеозоя Средней Сибири. Новосибирск: Наука.]
- *Perfiliev Yu.S.* [Перфильев Ю.С.] (1959). New data on Lower Paleozoic stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai // Izvestiya of the High School. Geology and Prospecting. N 11. P. 20–30. (In Russian). [Новые данные по стратиграфии нижнего палеозоя Горного Алтая // Изв. вузов. Геология и разведка.]
- Petrunina Z.E. [Петрунина 3.E.] (1990). Some new Early Ordovician trilobites from the western part of the Altai-Sayan Mountainous Area// New in Paleozoic paleontology and biostratigraphy of the Asian part of the USSR. Novosibirsk: Nauka, Siberian Branch. Trudy of Inst. Geol. and Geophys. SB USSR AS.Issue 770, p. 21–58. (In Russian). [Некоторые новые раннеордовикские трилобиты западной части Алтае-Саянской горной области. Новое в палеонтологии и биостратиграфии палеозоя Азиатской части СССР. Новосибирск: Наука, Сиб. отд-ние. (Труды Ин-та геологии, геофизики CO AH CCCP.)]
- Petrunina Z.E. and Severgina L.G. [Петрунина З.Е., Севергина Л.Г.] (1962). On Ordovician stratigraphy of the north-western Gorny Altai // Materials on geology of the West Siberia. New data on paleontology and stratigraphy of the West Siberia. Tomsk: Tomsk University Press. P. 81–93. (In Russian). [К стратиграфии ордовика северозапада Горного Алтая // Материалы по геологии Западной Сибири. Новые данные по палеонтологии и стратиграфии Западной Сибири. Томск: Изд-во Том. гос. ун-та. (Тр. Том. гос. ун-та. Вып. 63).]
- Petrunina Z.E., Sennikov N.V., Ermikov V.D., Zeyfert L.L., Krivchikov A.V., Puzyrev A.A., Severgina L.G., Obut A.M., and Zaslavskaya N.M. [Петрунина З.Е., Сенников Н.В., Ермиков В.Д., Зейферт Л.Л., Кривчиков А.В., Пузырев А.А., Севергина Л.Г., Обут А.М., Заславская Н.М.] (1984). Lower Ordovician stratigraphy and fauna of Mountain Altai. Moscow: Nauka Publ. House. 124 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфия и фауна нижнего ордовика Горного Алтая. М.: Наука.]
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников Н.В.] (1976). Graptolites and Lower Silurian stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai. Moscow: Nauka Publ. House. 270 p. (In Russian) [Грантолиты и стратиграфия нижнего силура Горного Алтая. М.: Наука].
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников Н.В.] (1996). Paleozoic graptolites from the Middle Siberia (systematis, phylogeny, biochronology, biology, paleozoogeography). Novosibirsk: SB RAS, SRC UIGGM Press., 225 p. (In Russian). [Граптолиты палеозоя Средней Сибири (систематика, филогения, биохронология, биологическая природа, палеозоогеография). Новосибирск: Изд-во СО РАН, НИЦ ОИГГМ.]
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников H.B.] (1998). Manifestation of the global Ordovician-Silurian biotic crisis in the Central Siberian graptolite communities // Russian Geology and Geophysics. V. 39, N5. P. 565–574.
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников H.B.] (2003). Ordovician events in Altai-Salair-Kuznetsky and Tuva basins and their influence on the sedimentary facies and marine biota (Siberia, Russia) // Albanesi G.I., Beresi M.S., and Peralta S.H. (Eds.). INSUGEO, Serie Correlacion Geologica, 17. Ordovician from the Andes. P. 461–465.
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников Н.В.] (2006а). Geological events in Paleozoic of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area and their reflection in paleogeographic and sedimentary environments and paleobiota// Evolution of the biosphere and biodiversity. 70th anniversary A.Yu. Rosanov. Moscow: KMK Publ. House. P. 506–526. (In Russian). [Геологические события в палеозое Алтае-Саянской складчатой области и их отражение в палеогеографических и седиментационных обстановках и в палеобиотах // Эволюция биосферы и биоразнообразия. К 70-летию А.Ю.Розанова. М.: Товарищество научных изданий КМК.]
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников H.B.] (2006b). Ordovician events and palaeogeographic sedimentary environments in the Altai-salair paleobasin (Western part of the Altay-Sayn Folded Area, Russia) // Intern. Sympos. "Palaeogeography and Global Correlation of Ordovician Events". (IGCP 503 Project). Contributions. Novosibirsk, Russia. August 5–7, 2006. Novosibirsk: Publishing House of SBRAS, "Geo" Branch. P. 50–52.
- Sennikov N.V., Puzyrev A.A., and Russkikh V.G. [Сенников Н.В., Пузырев А.А., Русских В.Г.] (1979). Ordovician and Silurian of the Ust'-Chagyrka Village area // Problems of stratigraphy and tectonics of Siberia.

(Trudy Inst. Geol.Geophys. SB AS USSR). Novosibirsk. Р. 30–45. (In Russian). [Ордовик и нижний силур района с.Усть-Чагырки (Горный Алтай) // Проблемы стратиграфии и тектоники Сибири. (Труды Ин-та геологии и геофизики СО АН СССР. Новосибирск.]

- Sennikov N.V., Ermikov V.D., Petrunina Z.E., Puzyrev A.A., and Severgina L.G. [Сенников Н.В., Ермиков В.Д., Петрунина З.Е., Пузырев А.А., Севергина JI.I.] (1982). On the age of the basal strata of the Ordovician to Middle Devonian complex in the Northwestern Altai region // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. V. 23, N 8. P. 51–56.
- Sennikov N.V., and Russkikh V.G. [Сенников Н.В., Русских В.Г.] (1982). Standart for Llandoverian graptolite zones in Gorny Altai // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. V. 23, N 2. P. 23–28.
- Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., Gladkikh L.A., Ermikov V.D., Zinov'eva T.V., Mamlin A.N., and Shokal'skii S.P. (1984). New Ordovician-Silurian boundary cross-sections in Gorny Altai // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. V. 25, N 7. P. 18-22.
- Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., and Savitsky V.R. [Сенников Н.В., Петрунина З.Е., Савицкий В.Р.] (1995). About Ordovician Savel'evka and Bulukhta formations of the Gorny Altai // New data on geology and natural resources from the western part of the Altai-Sayan Area. Novokuznetsk: GGP "Zapsibgeologia". Р. 63–66. (In Russian). [О савельевской и булухтинской свитах ордовика Горного Алтая // Новые данные о геологии и полезных ископаемых западной части Алтае-Саянской области. Новокузнецк: ГГП "Запсибгеология".]
- Sennikov N.V., Kazansky A.Yu., Ermikov V.D., Iwata K., Mikhaltsov N.E., Obut O.T., Izokh N.G., and Khlebnikova T.V. [Сенников Н.В., Казанский А.Ю., Ермиков В.Д., Ивата К., Михальцов Н.Э., Обут О.Т., Изох Н.Г., Хлебникова Т.В.] (2000). Comparative analysis of sedimentary, paleozoogeographic and paleoclimatic data on Ordovician and Silurian of Altai and Tuva // 300 years of the Russian prospecting geological survey: history of the prospecting, geological structure and natural resources of Altai. Barnaul: Altai State University Publ. House. P. 195–200. (In Russian). [Сравнительный анализ седиментационных, палеозоогеографических и палеомагнитных данных по ордовику и силуру Алтая и Тувы// 300 лет горногеологической службе России: история горнорудного дела, геологическое строение и полезные ископаемые Алтая. Барнаул: Изд-во Алтайского гос. ун-та.]
- Sennikov N.V. and Petrunina Z.E. [Сенников Н.В., Петрунина З.Е.] (2000). Sedementological featuries and biostratigraphical position Lower and Middle Ordovician stratones in the nourth-east of Altai // 300 years of the Russian Mining-geological Survey. Barnaul: Altai University Publishing House. P. 189–194. (In Russian). [Седиментационные особенности и бностратиграфическое положение нижне-среднеордовикских стратонов Северо-Востока Алтая// 300 лет горно-геологической службе России: история горнорудного дела, геологическое строение и полезные ископаемые Алтая. Барнаул: Изд-во Алтайского гос. ун-та].
- Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., and Gladkikh L.A. [Сенников Н.В., Петрунина З.Е., Гладких Л.А.] (2001a). Litho- and biostratigraphical dissection of the Ashgillian deposits in the central part of Gorny Altai // Actual problems of geology and mineragenesis Southern of Siberia. Novosibirsk: "Geo" branch of SB RAS Publ. House. P. 135–144. (In Russian). [Лито- и биостратиграфическое расчленение ашгилла центральной части Горного Алтая. Актуальные вопросы геологии и минерагении юга Сибири. Новосибирск: Изд-во СО РАН, филиал "Гео".]
- Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., Khlebnikova T.V., Iwata K., and Ermikov V.D. [Сенников Н.В., Обут О.Т., Хлебникова Т.В., Ивата К., Ермиков В.Д.] (2001b). Structure and age of the volcanic-terrigenous Zasurya Formation from the central part of the Gorny Altai (Anui-Chuya zone, Marcheta River) // Actual problems of geology and mineragenesis Southern of Siberia. Materials of the scientific conference, 31 Oct.– 2 Nov., 2001, Elan Village, Novokuznetsk, Kemerovo region. Novosibirsk. P. 145–151. (In Russian). [Строение и возраст вулканогенно-кремнисто-терригенной засурьинской свиты в центральной части Горного Алтая (Ануйско-Чуйская зона, р. Марчета)// Актуальные вопросы геологии и минерагении юга Сибири: Материалы науч.-практ. конф., 31 окт.– 2 нояб. 2001 г., пос. Елань Новокузнецкого района, Кемеровской области. Новосибирск.]
- Sennikov N.V. and Obut O.T. [Сенников Н.В., Обут О.Т.] (2002). Testing the chitinozoan zonal succession according to the graptolite zonal scale (Ordovocian, Gorny Altai and Moscow syneclise) // News of Paleontology and Stratigraphy. Issue 5. P. 51–63. Supplement to Journal Geologiya i Geophyzika. Vol. 43. (in Russian). [Тестирование зональной последовательности по хитинозоям на базе граптолитовых зон (ордовик, Горный Алтай и Московская синеклиза) // Новости палеонтологии и стратиграфии. Выпуск 5. Приложение к журналу Геология и геофизика. Том 43].
- Sennikov N.V., Iwata K., Ermikov V.D., Obut O.T., and Khlebnikova T.V. [Сенников Н.В., Ивата К., Ермиков В.Д., Обут О.Т., Хлебникова Т.В.] (2003). Palaezoic oceanic sedimentation settings and fauna associations at the southern margin of the West Siberian Plate // Russian Geology and Geophysics. V. 44, N 1–2. P. 152–168.

- Sennikov N.V. and Obut O.T. (2003). Synthesis of the graptolite and chitinozoan scales for the Altai-Salair Ordovician Basin (Siberia, Russia) // Ortega G. and Acenolaza G.F. (Eds.). INSUGEO, Serie Correlacion Geologica, 18. Proceedings of the 7th International Graptolite Conference & Field Meeting of the International Subcommission on Silurian Stratigraphy. P. 93–97.
- Sennikov V.M. [Сенников В.М.] (1962). Ordovician of the Uimen'-Lebed' Synclinorium of the Gorny Altai // Materials on regional geology of Siberia. Moscow: Gostekhgeolizdat. P. 116–133. (In Russian). [Ордовик Уйменско-Лебедского синклинория Горного Алтая// Материалы по региональной геологии Сибири. М.: Госгеолтехиздат. (Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 24).]
- Sennikov V.M., Vinkman M.K., and Kononov A.N. [Сенников В.М., Винкман М.К., Кононов А.Н.] (1959). Cambrian-Ordovician and Ordovician of the Gorny Altai. Materials on regional geology. Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat. P. 51–66. (In Russian). [Кембро-ордовик и ордовик Горного Алтая. Материалы по региональной геологии. М: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина JI.Г.] (1965). Brachiopods and Ordovician biostratigraphy of the western part of the Sayan-Altai Mountainous Area: Abstract of PhD dissertation. Tomsk: Tom. University Press. 23 р. (In Russian). [Брахиоподы и биостратиграфия ордовика западной части Саяно-Алтайской Горной области: Автореф. дис. ... канд. геол.-мин. наук. Томск: Изд-во Том. гос. ун-та.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1968). Ordovician System. Altai-Sayan Area (western part). Geological structure of the USSR, V. I. Moscow: Nedra Press. P. 278–280. (In Russian). [Ордовикская система. Алтае-Саянская область (западная часть). Геологическое строение СССР. Т. І. М.: Недра.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1972). Stratigraphic chart for the Middle and Upper Ordovician of the western Part of Sayan-Altai Area. Kemerovo: Kemerovo Press. P. 62–66. (In Russian). [Схема стратиграфии среднеи верхнеордовикских отложений западной части Саяно-Алтайской области. Кемерово: Кемеровское кн. изд-во. (Изв. Кузнецкого отдела Географического об-ва СССР. Вып. 1).]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1973). Biostratigraphy of the Ordovician deposits of the Old Paleozoic framework of the Kuznetsk Basin // Nature of Kuznetsk Basin. Novokuznetsk: USSR Kuznetsk Geographic
- Society Press. P. 170–181. (In Russian). [Биостратиграфия ордовикских отложений древнепалеозойского обрамления Кузбасса//Природа Кузбасса. Новокузнецк: Изд-во Кузнецкого отдела Географ. о-ва СССР.]
- Stratigraphic dictionary of the USSR. (1956). Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat.1283 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфический словарь СССР. М.: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- *Stratigraphic* dictionary of the USSR. Cambrian, Ordovician, Silurian, Devonian. (1975). Leningrad: Nedra Press. 622 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфический словарь СССР. Кембрий, ордовик, силур, девон. JI.: Недра.]
- *Stratigraphic* dictionary of the USSR. New Paleozoic stratigraphic units for the USSR. (1991). Leningrad: Nedra Press. 555 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфический словарь СССР. Новые стратиграфические подразделения палеозоя СССР. Л.: Недра.]
- Tikhonov V.I. [Тихонов В.И.] (1956). About stratigraphy of the "Anui-Chuya" and "Green- violet" formations of the Charysh Altai // Trudy VAGT. Issue 2. Р. 34–45. (In Russian). [К стратиграфии "Ануйско-Чуйской" и "Зелено-фиолетовой" формаций Причарышского Алтая// Труды ВАІТ.]
- Usov M.A. [Усов М.А.] (1936). Stages and cycles of tectonogenesis in the West-Siberian region. Tomsk, 209 p. (In Russian). [Фазы и циклы тектоногенеза Западно-Сибирского края. Томск.]
- Viira V., Lofgren A., Magi S., and Wickstrom J. (2001). An Early to Middle Ordovician succession of conodont faunas at Maekalda, northern Estonia // Geol. Mag. V. 138, N 6. P. 699–718.
- Vinkman M.K. and Gintsinger A.B. [Винкман М.К., Гинцингер А.Б. (1967). Type section of the Ordovician deposits in the north-east of the Anui-Chuya Synclinorium, Gorny Altai. Materials on the Siberian regional geology. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. P. 161–167. (In Russian). [Типовой разрез ордовикских отложений на северо-востоке Ануйско-Чуйского синклинория в Горном Алтае. Материалы по региональной геологии Сибири. Новосибирск. Изд-во СНИИГГиМС. (Тр. СНИГГиМС. Вып. 57).]
- Vladimirskaya E.V. and Zheltonogova V.A. [Владимирская Е.В., Желтоногова В.А.] (1967). Silurian deposits of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area // Paleozoic stratigraphy of the Central Siberia. Novosibirsk: Nauka Press. P. 87–97. (In Russian). [Силурийские отложения Алтае-Саянской складчатой области // Стратиграфия палеозоя Средней Сибири. Новосибирск: Наука.]
- Vorozhbitov A. M. [Ворожбитов А.М.] (1996). Conodonts of Yarovka Horizon (Lower Silurian) of the Gorny Altai // Stratigraphy. Geological correlation. V. 4, N 1. P. 101–105. (In Russian). [Конодонты яровского горизонта (нижний силур) Горного Алтая] // Стратиграфия. Геологическая корреляция.]

- Webby B., Cooper R., Bergstrom S.M., and Paris F. (2004). Stratigraphic Framework and Time Scales. The Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event / (Eds: Webby B., Paris F., Droser M.L. and Percival I.G.). New York.: Columbia University Press. P. 41–47.
- *Yolkin E.A.* [Ёлкин Е.А.] (1983). Regularities in the evolution of Dechenellidae and biochronology of Silurian and Devonian. Moscow: Nauka, Trudy Inst. Geol. Geoph. SB USSSR AS. V. 571. 116 p. (In Russian). [Закономерности эволюции дехенеллид и биохронология силура и девона. М.: Наука. Труды Ин-та геологии, геофизики СОАН СССР. Вып. 571.]
- Yolkin E.A. and Zheltonogova V.A. [Ёлкин Е.А., Желтоногова В.А., Сенников Н.В., Базарова JI.С.] (1974). Ancient Dechenellidae (trilobites) and Silurian stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai. Novosibirsk: Nauka Press. 90 p. (In Russian). [Древнейшие дехенеллиды (трилобиты) и стратиграфия силура Горного Алтая. Новосибирск: Наука.]
- Yolkin E.A., Obut A.M., and Sennikov N.V. (1988). The Ordovician-Silurian boundary in the Altai Mountains, USSR. A global Analysis of the Ordovician-Silurian Boundary // Bull. Brit. Mus. Nat. Hist.(Geol.). V. 43. P. 139–143.
- Yolkin E.A., Sennikov N.V., Buslov M.M., Yazikov A.Yu., Gratsianova R.T., and Bakharev N.K. [Ёлкин Е.А., Сенников Н.В., Буслов М.М., Язиков А.Ю., Грацианова Р.Т., Бахарев Н.К.] (1994). Paleogeographic reconstruction of the Western Altai-Sayan area in the Ordovician, Silurian, and Devonian and their geodynamic interpretation // Russian Geology and Geophysics. V. 35, N 7–8. P. 100–124.
- Yolkin E.A., Sennikov N.V., Bakharev N.K., Izokh N.G., and Yazikov A.Yu. [Ёлкин Е.А., Сенников Н.В., Бахарев Н.К., Изох Н.Г., Язиков А.Ю.] (1997). Periodicity of deposition in the Silurian and relationships of global geological events in the Middle Paleozoic of the southwestern margin of the Siberian continent // Russian Geology and Geophysics. 1997. V. 38, N 3. P. 636–647.
- Yolkin E.A. and Sennikov N.V. [Ёлкин E.A., Сенников H.B.] (1998). Paleogeographic and paleoclimatic environments during Late Llandoverian in the Altai-Sayan Area and their geodynamic interpretation // Russian Geology and Geophysics. V. 39, N 8. P. 1154–1157.
- *Yolkin E.A. and Izokh N.G.* (1999). Rates of evolution in Emsian (Early Devonian) conodonts and trilobite lineages // Bullettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana. V. 37, N 2-3. P. 335-338.
- Yolkin E.A., Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., Bakharev N.K., Izokh N.G., Klets A.G., Alekseenko A.A., Anastasieva S.A., Ermikov V.D., Gladkikh L.A., Gutak Ya.M., Khlebnikova T.V., Mamlin A.N., Obut O.T., Rodina O.A., and Tokarev V.N. (2001). Ordovician-Lower Carboniferous succession, eustatic (sedimentary) cycles, event levels and palaeogeography of Southern West Siberia: Guidebook of excursion // Contributions to Siberian. IGGP 410/421 Joint Meeting. Novosibirsk: Printed Institute of Petroleum Geology, SB RAS. P. 8–92.

NOTES

Научное издание

Николай Валерианович Сенников, Евгений Александрович Ёлкин, Зоя Евдокимовна Петрунина, Луиза Алексеевна Гладких, Ольга Тимофеевна Обут, Надежда Георгиевна Изох, Татьяна Павловна Киприянова

БИОСТРАТИГРАФИЯ И ПАЛЕОГЕОГРАФИЯ ОРДОВИКА И СИЛУРА ГОРНОГО АЛТАЯ

На английском языке

Утверждено к печати Ученым советом Института нефтегазовой геологии и геофизики им. А.А. Трофимука СО РАН

Подписано в печать 18.06.08. Формат 60×84/8. Гарнитура "Таймс". Печать офсетная. Бумага офсетная. Усл. печ. л. 18,3. Тираж 200. Заказ № 215. Издательство СО РАН, 630090, 630090, Новосибирск, Морской просп., 2 E-mail: psd@ad-sbras.nsc.ru; тел. (383) 330-80-50 Интернет-магазин Издательства СО РАН http://www.sibran.ru



Sennikov Nikolay Valerianovich

Doctor of Sciences in geology.

Research interests – event and lithostratigraphy, high resolution chronostratigraphy, paleontology (graptolites, pterobranchia, chitinozoans, radiolarians), Lower and Middle Paleozoic paleogeography of Siberia and adjacent regions.



Yolkin Evgeny Alexandrovich

Doctor of Sciences in geology.

Research interests – event and lithostratigraphy, high resolution chronostratigraphy, paleontology (trilobites, conodonts), Middle and Upper Paleozoic paleobio-geography of the Central Asia.



Petrunina Zoya Evdokimovna

PhD in geology.

Research interests – paleontology (trilobites) and Lower Paleozoic biostratigraphy of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area and adjacent regions.